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Mr. Gao Zhi (resigned on 20 August 2024)
Mr. Ho Yuk Ming Hugo
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Mr. Ho Yuk Ming Hugo
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Tricor Investor Services Limited
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
AEER (&)

PRINCIPAL BANKS

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
SPD Bank Shenzhen Branch
China Construction Bank Guangdong Branch Heshan Sub-branch

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN
HONG KONG

Unit 3405, 34th Floor
118 Connaught Road West
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR

Suntera (Cayman) Limited
Suite 3204, Unit 2A,
Block 3, Building D.

P.O. Box 1586

Gardenia Court,

Camana Bay

Grand Cayman KY1-1100
Cayman Islands

COMPANY WEBSITE ADDRESS

Www.neo-neon.com

STOCK CODE

1868

* With effect from 1 April 2023
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors and the management, | am
pleased to present the report on the development status and
operating results of Neo-Neon Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (hereinafter the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2024.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2024, the global economy continued to face many uncertainties
and market competition became increasingly fierce. Nonetheless, the
Group maintained steady business development and made positive
progress in a number of areas through various strategic adjustments
and optimizations.

Overall, the Group experienced a slight decline in revenue, but by
strengthening cost control and optimizing operational efficiency, the
Group successfully improved its overall profitability. Compared with
the previous year, the Group’s total profit saw significant growth.
This achievement was mainly attributable to our focus on core
businesses and effective control of expenses.

In the USA lighting segment, gross margins were improved and profit
levels were effectively enhanced despite a decline in operating
revenue. By strengthening inventory management and optimizing our
procurement strategy, we reduced inventory backlogs and lowered
procurement costs while clearing out excess inventory, laying the
foundation for our profit growth.

In the financial sector, the Group advanced its efforts to shut down
and withdraw from operations, ensuring a rational allocation of
resources and clear focus on strategic direction. This withdrawal from
the financial business has allowed us to focus more on promoting the
high-quality development of our lighting business.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, the global economic environment remains complex
and volatile, particularly with the new administration in the United
States, which introduces uncertainties through trade wars and tariffs
that affect the global market stability and the supply chain
operations. Nevertheless, the Group will continue to embrace an
innovation-driven and in-search-of excellence development
philosophy, and flexibly respond to external changes to ensure stable
development in a complex environment.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
FTREHEE (F)

We will capitalize on the strengths of our existing lighting business
while continuing to explore new business opportunities, particularly
in the high-end lighting market. In the future, the Group will increase
its investment in research and development to continuously enhance
the market competitiveness of its products, with a view to providing
customers with more innovative and high value-added solutions in
terms of technology, quality and service. In addition, the Group will
further optimize internal resource allocation, streamline its
organizational structure, and focus on its core businesses to improve
its overall operational efficiency and profitability. As we exit the
financial segment, we will ensure a smooth transition and redirect
the resources to the lighting business and other strategic growth
areas to achieve long-term sustainable development.

At the same time, we will actively look for outstanding projects that
align with the Group’s development philosophy and vision, and
explore new business opportunities and avenues to further promote
the Group’s sustainable development.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

On behalf of the Group, | would like to express my sincere gratitude
to all shareholders, customers, partners and suppliers! | extend my
heartfelt appreciation to the members of the Board of Directors and
all staff for their contribution to the Company! We recognize that in
today’s ever-changing global economy and market environment, your
support and efforts are crucial to our progress.

Thanks to your trust and support, the Group will continue to create
greater value for our shareholders and customers, driving the
Company toward a brighter and more successful future.

Zhang Yuanyuan
Chairman
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
WA

Year ended 31 December

BEt-A=t-B#E

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
Expressed in RMB million NBEBAREZS —E-%F —E-—fF ZE--f —E-=-f ZB-NE
|
Turnover =L 877 875 928 786 746
Gross profit E7 282 246 348 346 322
Profit/(loss) attributable to AREVEB ARG
owners of the Company BA(E18) (28) (272) 49 27 37
Total assets BEE 2,239 1,653 1,729 1,817 1,888
Total equity el 1,661 1,376 1,482 1,563 1,616
Gross profit margin ER= 32.2% 28.1% 37.5% 44.0% 43.2%
Net profit/(loss) margin wH () = (3.2%) (31.1%) 5.4% 3.5% 5.1%
Earnings/(loss) per share-basic SRAEF/(EE)
(RMB cents) 2N (1.3) (13.0) 2.3 13 1.8
Total assets/Total equity Turnover
RMB M RMB M
BBEARE BEBARE
2,500
2,239 : 222 877 875 i
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1,661 1,653 1729 1568 1,616 700 I I
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES

ESkOREEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Zhang Yuanyuan (iR E &)

Ms. Zhang Yuanyuan (5R[E &), aged 47, was appointed as an
executive Director, the chairman of the Board, the president of the
Company and the chief executive officer of the Company on 20
August 2024. She is currently the vice president, the secretary to the
board and the chief capital operating officer of Tongfang Co., Ltd.*
(FE B AIRAE], a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 600100), “Tongfang”). She is experienced in
the areas of capital operation, legal affairs, finance management and
investment management, and has been successively served as several
senior management positions in Tongfang and its subsidiaries since
May 2016. Ms. Zhang graduated in 1999 with a bachelor degree and
in 2002 with a master degree both majoring in law from Dongbei
University of Finance and Economics (BB4bBf4EKE8). She obtained
lawyers’ qualification in People’s Republic of China in 2001.

Mr. Lian Chenwei (EZRE)

Mr. Lian Chenwei GEERIE), aged 47, was appointed as the vice
president and an executive Director of our Company on 1 August
2022 and 16 October 2023 respectively and has been successively
holding various senior positions in a number of its subsidiaries.
Mr. Lian graduated from Taiyuan University of Technology (KJ/R¥2T
AE) with a bachelor’'s degree in environmental engineering in July
1999. He was certified as an Environmental Engineering Engineer in
October 2009 by Shanghai China National Nuclear Puyuan Corp. (#
B E/ERiZBEREAZAA]). He obtained a bachelor’s degree in
Economics from Renmin University of China in July 2003, a master
degree in Management from East China University of Science and
Technology in July 2011 and a master degree in Accounting from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong in July 2018. He obtained a
qualified certificate as a Chartered Financial Analyst in February
2012. He obtained a Registered Qualification Certificate Enterprise
Legal Adviser of the PRC (AR KMBE R EEZBHARXRERILE)
in October 2013. Mr. Lian has extensive experience in investment
management, business planning, legal affairs and scientific research.
Mr. Lian is a member of CPA Australia.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES (CONTINUED)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Kong Lingqi (L. < %)

Mr. Kong Lingqi (fL< %), aged 39, was appointed as an
non-executive Director of our Company on 16 October 2024.
Mr. Kong has over 15 years of experience in finance and information
management. Prior to joining Tongfang Co., Ltd.* (RIA B AR A
A]), Mr. Kong served as the project manager of Inspur General
Software Co., Ltd.* CRBEERABHEAFR A F]) from July 2008 to
April 2011 and he has worked as the finance manager of Aerospace
Shenzhou Investment Management Co., Ltd.* (AR EEEH
R 2 7]) from May 2011 to December 2017. Mr. Kong then joined
Tongfang Co., Ltd. (BIFR&D B A F]) and has been successively
holding various senior positions in a number of its departments since
March 2018. Mr. Kong graduated from Soochow University (& /X
&) majoring in Information Management and Information System in
June 2008. He obtained the Certificated Intermediate Accounting
Professional Qualification* (AR @ EEHMTEH) by Ministry of
Human Resources and Social Security of the PRC and Ministry of
Finance of the PRC in September 2017.

Ms. Liu Wenjing (B &

Ms. Liu Wenjing (BIX &), aged 39, was appointed as an
non-executive Director of our Company on 16 October 2024. Ms. Liu
has over 17 years of experience in investments and business
development. Prior to joining Tongfang Co., Ltd.* (AIARMH AR A
Al), Ms. Liu successively served as a business executive and project
manager of Beijing Jingcheng Heavy Industry Machinery Co., Ltd.*
AL ERFEHETEWARETAR) from August 2006 to April 2013.
Ms. Liu then joined Tongfang Co., Ltd. (RIJ7R{H ER A7) and has
been successively holding various senior positions in a number of its
departments since April 2013. Ms. Liu graduated from Hebei
University of Science & Technology (A db%H% A E) with a bachelor’s
degree in English in June 2006. She obtained a master degree from
Beijing Institute of Technology (It T X2 majoring in Industrial
Engineering Field Engineering* (L2 T2%E1{ T42) in June 2013. She
was certified as an Intermediate Economist (Business Administration)*
(P A4S RD( T E32)) by Beijing Municipal Human Resources and
Social Security Bureau* (dt R A N ERFASIRER) in April 2014,
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES (CONTINUED)
ESNEREEERE (&)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Fan, Ren Da Anthony (S81Z3%)

Dr. Fan Ren Da, Anthony (GB/Z#Z), aged 64, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company on 25 August
2014. Dr. Fan is the chairman and managing director of AsiaLink
Capital Limited and also an independent non- executive director of
Technovator International Limited (stock code: 1206), Raymond
Industrial Limited (stock code: 229), Shanghai Industrial Urban
Development Group Limited (stock code: 563), China Dili Group
(stock code: 1387), Citic Resources Holdings Limited (stock code:
1205), China Development Bank International Investment Limited
(stock code: 1062), Hong Kong Resources Holdings Company Limited
(stock code: 2882) and Semiconductor Manufacturing International
Corporation (stock code: 981). Dr. Fan has been re-designated from
an independent non-executive director to an executive director and
resigned as the chairman of the remuneration committee and a
member of each of the audit committee and the nomination
committee of Tenfu (Cayman) Holdings Company Limited (stock
code: 6868), a company listed on the Stock Exchange, with effect
from 18 May 2021. Dr. Fan also serves as a non-executive director of
Hilong Holding Limited (stock code: 1623). Dr. Fan was an
independent non-executive director of Lerthai Group Limited
(formerly known as LT Commercial Real Estate Limited, stock code:
112) from March 2013 to June 2017, Guodian Technology &
Environment Group Corporation Limited (stock code: 1296) from
September 2011 to August 2017 and of CGN New Energy Holdings
Co., Ltd. (stock code: 1811) from September 2014 to June 2018. All
of the said companies are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Dr. Fan holds a master’s degree in business administration
from the U.S.A. and a PhD degree in Economics.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES (CONTINUED)

Ms. Li Ming Qi (Z %)

Ms. Li Ming Qi (Z2FE%4), aged 57, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 25 August 2014. She graduated from
Fudan University in Shanghai. She received a Bachelor of Economics
and later obtained a Master of Economics from the Southern
Methodist University and a Master of Science in Management and
Administrative Sciences from the University of Texas in Dallas.

From March 2011 to November 2014, she served as the independent
board director of Sino Gas International Holdings, Inc., which is listed
on the Over-The-Counter Bulletin Board in the United States of
America ("USA") (stock code: SGAS). After graduation, Ms. Li served
as a senior associate of PricewaterhouseCoopers and JP Morgan
Chase, and as portfolio manager of BHF Capital and Transamerica
Business Capital. More recently, she serviced as a Vice President in
Morgan Stanley New York and as a hedge fund controller of Mercury
Capital Management in Greenwich Connecticut.

Ms. Yang Juan ($18)

Ms. Yang Juan (#5%8), aged 59, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of our Company on 16 January 2024.
Ms. Yang has been a senior partner and a managing partner of
Grandall Law Firm (Beijing) since September 2007 and an executive
partner of Grandall Law Firm since June 2022. Since January 2024,
she has been a member of Strategic Advisory Committee of
Shandong Tianyue Advanced Technology Co., Ltd.* (LLERK#FCER
HA&HBMRAF]), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
of the People’s Republic of China (SH688234). Since March 2024,
she has been an external expert of Beijing E-Town International
Investment & Development Co., Ltd. Ms. Yang was engaged as an
external expert for China Re-Asset Management Company Ltd.* (4
BEETERMDARLAR) in September 2018 and for China First
Heavy Machinery Co., Ltd.* (FEIE —EEREMKRHERAF]), a
company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange of The People’s
Republic of China (SH601106), in June 2021. She obtained a bachelor
degree from Dalian School of Engineering (A& T 2%, currently
known as Dalian University of Technology (K& T KE)) in July
1987 and obtained a degree of Master of Laws majoring in
International and European Law from The University of Liverpool in
December 1999. Ms. Yang obtained lawyers’ qualification in People’s
Republic of China in October 1993 and was accredited the Lawyers’
License in People’s Republic of China in September 1995. She was
honored as one of the National Thousand Foreign Affairs Lawyers (&
Bl % % 9NMEETA ) in March 2019 and as one of the National Law
Society Foreign Affairs Leading Lawyers (2 B2 # 5 IMEAIEE AT)
in July 2019.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES (CONTINUED)
ESNEREEERE (&)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Zhang Yuanyuan (5REE) and Mr. Lian Chenwei GGEZRIE). Please
refer to the details set out above under the paragraph headed
“Executive Directors” in this section.

Mr. Ai Min (X K)

Mr. Ai Min (X R), aged 52, was appointed as the chief financial
officer of our Company on 20 November 2023. Mr. Ai has over 31
years of experience in financing management. Mr. Ai joined
Tongfang Co., Ltd. and has been successively holding various senior
positions in a number of its departments since March 1998. Mr. Ai
graduated from Beihang University majoring in economics (long
distance learning) in January 2007. He obtained the Certificated
National Management Accountant in November 2022.

Mr. Ho Yuk Ming Hugo (fi] & Bf)

Mr. Ho Yuk Ming Hugo (A B 8), aged 53, was appointed as the
company secretary of our Company on 11 November 2021. He has
over 20 years of experience in auditing, accounting and financial
management and has been a certified public accountant in Hong
Kong for over 20 years. Mr. Ho held senior positions in a number of
listed companies in Hong Kong prior to joining the Group. Mr. Ho is
an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He graduated from the Hong Kong Shue Yan College
(currently known as Hong Kong Shue Yan University) with a honours
diploma in accounting in July 1996. Currently, Mr. Ho is also both
the company secretary of Asia Television Holdings Limited (Stock
code: 707) and FEG Holdings Corporation Limited (Stock code: 1413)
respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The total revenue for the year ended 31 December 2024 was
approximately RMB746.1million, which represented a decrease of
approximately RMB40.0 million as compared to approximately
RMB786.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. Such
decrease was mainly attributable to the decrease in order resulting
from reduced consumer purchasing power and demand under
continued inflation and global economic slowdown.

Cost of sales

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the cost of goods sold was
approximately RMB424.1 million, representing a decrease of
approximately RMB16.1 million over cost of goods sold of
approximately RMB440.2 million for the year ended
31 December 2023, primarily due to the reduction in overall costs by
further changing product structure.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded a gross
profit of approximately RMB322.1 million, representing a decrease of
approximately RMB23.8 million over the gross profit of approximately
RMB345.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, which was
mainly due to the decline in orders.

Other income, gains and losses, net

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded other
income, gains and losses, net of approximately RMB56.3 million,
representing an increase of approximately RMB5.1 million over
approximately RMB51.2 million for the year ended 31 December
2023, mainly due to the increase in interest income of approximately
RMB6.7 million.

Provision for impairment, net

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the net reversal of
impairment was approximately RMB2.3 million, representing a
decrease of approximately RMB3.5 million over impairment provision
of approximately RMB1.3 million for the year ended 31 December
2023, which was mainly due to the decrease in impairment allowance
of approximately RMB5.0 million for revolving loan to the ultimate
holding company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EEEBS®WR DM (&)

Operating expenses

The selling and distribution expenses mainly comprised of staff costs,
promotion and advertising, freight and transportation, agency and
custom costs, and rent and rates.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the selling and distribution
expenses of the Group were approximately RMB234.0 million,
representing an increase of approximately RMB12.8 million over
approximately RMB221.2 million for the year ended 31 December
2023, which was mainly due to increased promotion of new products
and high-margin products to mitigate the impact of inflation.

The administrative expenses mainly comprised of staff costs, directors
remuneration, depreciation charge and professional and legal fees.
The administrative expenses for the year ended 31 December 2024
were approximately RMB97.2 million, representing a decrease of
approximately RMB34.5 million over approximately RMB131.7 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023, which was mainly attributable
to the decrease in management service fees and provision for
litigation.

Finance costs

The finance costs for the year ended 31 December 2024 were
approximately RMB1.3 million, representing a decrease of
approximately RMBO0.2 million over approximately RMB1.5 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023, which was basically the same as
the last year.

Taxation

For the year ended 31 December 2024, tax charge of approximately
RMB10.2 million (2023: RMB13.7 million) mainly included current tax
charge for the year of approximately RMB13.2 million and deferred tax
charge of approximately RMBO0.4 million.

Profit attributable to owners of the parent

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded profit
attributable to owners of the parent of approximately RMB37.2
million, representing an increase of approximately RMB10.4 million
over profit of approximately RMB26.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2023. Such increase in profit was primarily attributable to
enhanced cost control and optimised operational efficiency.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Net Results

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded a net
profit of approximately RMB37.9 million, as compared to a net profit
of approximately RMB27.7 million for the year ended 31 December
2023. The reasons for such increase are same as the reasons for
profit attributable to owners of the parent.

Financial Resources, Liquidity and Gearing Ratio

The Group maintained a stable financial position. As at 31 December
2024, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of approximately
RMB607.2 million. The gearing ratio representing the ratio of total
loans and total lease liabilities to total equity of the Group was 2.0%
as at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: 2.8%). Such decrease
was mainly attributable to the increase in total equity due to the
increase in cash and cash equivalents of approximately RMB109.1
million during 2024.

Assets and Liabilities

As at 31 December 2024, the Group recorded the total assets of
approximately RMB1,887.8 million (31 December 2023:
approximately RMB1,816.9 million) and total liabilities of
approximately RMB271.4 million (31 December 2023: approximately
RMB254.2 million).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's current assets and non-current
assets were approximately RMB1,406.0 million (31 December 2023:
approximately RMB1,332.9 million) and approximately RMB481.8
million (31 December 2023: approximately RMB484.0 million),
respectively. The increase in current assets is due to the increase in
cash and cash equivalents of approximately RMB109.1 million, the
decrease in inventories of approximately RMB10.8 million and the
decrease in loan receivable of approximately RMB15.8 million.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's current liabilities and
non-current liabilities were approximately RMB223.3 million (31
December 2023: RMB197.1 million) and approximately RMB48.1
million (31 December 2023: RMB57.2 million), respectively. The
increase in current liabilities was mainly attributable to the increase
in trade payables of approximately RMB14.2 million. The decrease in
non-current liabilities were mainly attributable to the decrease in
lease liabilities of approximately RMB10.7 million.

EEENRE DN (&)

RETH

RE-F-ME+-A=+—BILEF A
REHEFURNAREI7IBET MR
E-R-=F+-A=t+—BILERBEF
%4 A R 27,78 B 7T < 3% 0049 R R 2
FA AR AR5 B R E AR -

MBER RBESTRERLER

REBNTBRARERE RZZEZMEF
+ZA=+—HB TEEHEAReERREE
BEMHARECOI2EE L - MR _T _NF
+ZA=1+—H FXEBEERLELEX(FELE
EEFAERTHEEERTEESEATNL
R)B20%(ZE-_=%Ft+=-_A=+—H":
28%) cEFLFEHR_Z_MFRE
FReEEYEMHARKI09.18BE T
B ERATEIERMEY -

EEREE

R-E-_WNE+—_A=+—H KxEBHES
BEENARK1878EET (T _=F
+ZA=+—HB: HAR®1,81698F L)
NMBEABHARE2INAGETL (ZE-=4F
+ZA=+—H: HAR¥254265&T) °

RZEBE-_NWE+-FA=+—8 K&£EBZH&
BEERERDEEDBIK AARY,406.0
BEL(ZEZ=F+ZHA=1+—H: HA
R¥13329887L) RO ARK481.88 8
T(ZTE-_=F+-_A=+—H HARHK
484 0B &) c mBEEEMEEZANRS
KESEEDMEMOARBI0901EE T

FERLOARE10.88 & KEKE TR
PIARBISEEETTHAE

R-ZT-mWE+-—A=+—HB XEBZHK
BAEBERERDEBES O A AREK2233
BELT(ZEZ=F+=-A=+—H: AR
197 1B 8 m) RAOARM4S1HEE L (=
E_=ZF+_A=+—H: ARK57288
) B EEENEEHRENE SRR
BINOARBI4A2EE TR - ERB AR
BLOETEZEAREEEERIODARKEI0.78
EILFTER ©

BARKEZERBIRAAE o ZZE-NFFH G



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EEEBS®WR DM (&)

Foreign Currency Risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have sales and purchases
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of
respective entities, which expose the Group to foreign currency risk.
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy
to eliminate the currency exposures. However, the management of
the Group monitors the related foreign currency exposure closely and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposures should
the needs arise.

Charges on Assets

As at 31 December 2024, the Group pledged certain of its trade
receivables and inventories with an aggregate carrying value of
approximately RMB160.1 million (31 December 2023: RMB174.4
million) to secure bank credit facilities granted to the Group.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no capital expenditure
contracted for but not provided in the financial statements in respect
of the acquisition of property, plant and equipment (31 December
2023: Nil).

Contingent Liabilities

During the year ended 31 December 2024, certain subsidiaries are
parties to various legal claims in their ordinary course of business. In
the opinion of the Directors, these claims would not have a
significant impact on the Group’s results and financial position.

Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2024, the issued share capital of the Company
was approximately RMB185,672,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$209,447,000) (31 December 2023: approximately
RMB185,672,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$209,447,000),
divided into 2,094,465,417 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each.

Deposit Service provided by Finance Company

On 25 November 2021, the Company and China Nuclear Finance
Company Limited (“Finance Company”) entered into a deposit
service agreement (the “Deposit Service Agreement 1”), pursuant
to which Finance Company shall provide deposit services to the
Group during the term of the Deposit Service Agreement 1
commencing from 17 January 2022 to 31 December 2024 with the
maximum daily deposit balance of RMB500,000,000 of the deposits
placed with the Finance Company by the Group. The Deposit Service
Agreement 1 was approved by the independent shareholders at the
extraordinary general meeting held on 17 January 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has placed a total of
RMB36,999,022.97 with the Finance Company at interest rates
ranged from 1.12% to 1.49% per annum pursuant to the terms of
the Deposit Service Agreement 1.

On 9 December 2024, the Company and the Finance Company
entered into the deposit service agreement (the “Deposit Service
Agreement 2"), pursuant to which the Finance Company shall
provide the deposit service to the qualified group members during
the term of the Deposit Service Agreement 2 commencing from the 1
January 2025 to 31 December 2027 with the maximum daily deposit
balance of RMB37,000,000 of the deposits placed with the Finance
Company by the Group. The provision of deposit service by the
Finance Company to the qualified members of the Group pursuant to
the Deposit Service Agreement 2 constitutes continuing connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of Listing Rules. As
the applicable percentage ratios (other than the profits ratio) of the
annual cap are all less than 5%, the deposit service is subject to the
reporting, announcement and annual review but exempted from
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

Provision of Revolving Loans to Tongfang

On 3 January 2023, the Company and Guangdong Tongfang Science
Park Company Limited* (ERE A EHEBGR AR (as lenders) and
Tongfang Co., Ltd.* (R DBRAF]) (“Tongfang”) entered into
a loan agreement (the “Loan Agreement”), pursuant to which the
lender(s) will provide revolving loans of not exceeding
RMB400,000,000 to Tongfang during the term of the Loan
Agreement commencing from 13 March 2023 to 12 March 2026.
The Loan Agreement was approved by the independent shareholders
at the extraordinary general meeting held on 10 March 2023.

Pursuant to the terms of the Loan Agreement, the lender(s) keeps the
sole discretion to make its decision on whether or not to provide
loans to Tongfang per its borrowing requests, as such the Group has
flexibility to maintain sufficient cash resources for its operation and
development while the provision of loans has provided the Group the
opportunities to earn additional interest income from idle cash
resources from time to time.

During 2023, the lender has granted a loan to Tongfang with a total
principal amount of RMB400 million at an interest rate of 3.65% per
annum pursuant to the terms of the Loan Agreement. Such loan
remained outstanding through the year ended 31 December 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EEEBS®WR DM (&)

Loan to an Individual

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated 6
April 2018, 9 July 2020 and 27 October 2023 in relation to the loan
between Mr. Wang Lifeng as the Borrower and his spouse and
Tongfang Finance Limited as the lender. As Mr. Wang Lifeng failed to
make the repayments when they were due, Tongfang Finance has
taken legal actions against Mr. Wang Lifeng and his spouse. As at 31
December 2024, the total outstanding amount of principal and
accrued interest due from Mr. Wang Lifeng amounts to HK$211.4
million and the net carrying amount is HK$120.7 million. The
Company will continue to make its best effort in obtaining repayment
from Mr. Wang Lifeng for the outstanding amount.

Material Acquisition and Disposal and Significant
Investment

There were no significant investments held, nor were there any
material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures during the year under review. As of 31 December 2024, the
Company did not have detailed future plans for material investments
or capital assets.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board resolved not to declare any dividend for the year ended 31
December 2024 (31 December 2023: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

In the challenging year of 2024, the global geopolitical situation was
complicated with frequent election campaigns around the world.
International political and economic landscape continued to undergo
adjustments and the global economic growth slowed down. The
tense energy supply situation in Europe has further squeezed
consumers’ purchasing power, resulting in weak market demand for
discretionary products such as lighting and decorative lights. In the
face of this difficult situation, the Company exhibited excellent
market sensitivity and adaptability by closely focusing on the
established strategic development goals and achieved an increase in
overall profitability by improving cost management and optimizing
operational processes.

During the repoting period, despite a slight decline in the revenue
compared to the same period last year, the lighting segment of the
Company achieved a year-on-year increase in profitability, which was
mainly attributable to the optimisation of procurement strategies and
effective reduction of overstock of the USA lighting segment, which
helped reduce procurement costs and further mitigate operating and
management costs.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

In the future, uncertainty in the global trade environment is expected
to continue to escalate, and trade frictions and tariff barriers may
become the new norm in international trade. In view of this, the
Company has made preparations in advance by actively implementing
the supply chain diversification strategy to expand procurement
channels. At the same time, we strengthened the integration and
coordination of domestic and international industrial chains to ensure
flexible and efficient operation of the supply chain in order to
effectively reduce trade risks and reduce tariff costs.

Lastly, the Company will continue to focus on the lighting industry,
concentrating our advantageous resources and conducting in-depth
market research to clarify and reinforce our brand positioning. We
will actively explore new technological fields, continuously improve
product quality and added value, open up new application scenarios
and expand market space. In addition, we attach great importance to
enhancing the skills and versatility of employees to unleash their
potentials and continuously optimizing customer service experience
to achieve high consumer satisfaction and loyalty, so as to lay a solid
foundation for the long-term sustainable development of the
Company.

Sales and Distribution
Lighting Segment

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group took efforts in
distribution and marketing, cultivating the new sales channels and
promoting the new brand of lighting products. The Group proactively
made deployment in branding establishment and sales channel in the
world’s fastest growing markets and brought to its customers better
sales services in energy-saving technologies and solutions.

Research and Development (“R&D")

The Group's R&D efforts were driven towards product design, new
product development and production efficiency improvement in
order to reduce the overall production cost.

Employees and Remuneration

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s total number of employees
was 453 (31 December 2023: 472). The basic remunerations of the
employees are determined with reference to the industry
remuneration benchmark, the employees’ experience and their
performance. Salaries of employees are maintained at a competitive
level and are reviewed annually, with close reference to the relevant
labour market and economic situation. Directors’ remuneration is
determined based on a variety of factors such as market conditions
and responsibilities assumed by each Director. Apart from the basic
remuneration and statutory benefits required by laws, the Group
provides discretionary bonus based upon the Group’s results and the
individual performance of the staff.

EEENRE DN (&)

RERR - 2HEFRENNEE LA H
FEMR BHEREENESRNKKKSE
BREZHNHEE - ZERL - A2FEARA
2 HEoERHERSIT(CERE  MRRXRE
RE - A RAMABBEAIEXBOES
HEipE - AEREERNBEESIEE - §
MR R E 5 b I R E BT o

Ri& ARARBEBEZERAEE  £TE
ZER FARAANTSAT  ARELRL
m bR E AL o WA TREBR R RMESE - T
BRIt Emm G EHnE - REFNERS
RCMREREROMISZER - I - B
BEERETHRERTEZENERE
MEBTERE BEBLLEPRBER N
REHEENRSEREEDH  RERAR
ANRHAFERRETREER

HER S
FE BF 77 25

BE-_Z_NME+_-_A=+—HIEEE &
EEEHETHHEETHEHERE  EE5HHH
ERE VHETRENRHER A5H

BB EEE 2 RIERZROT S LT mkE
RIHERE - WHERERM LR R E
AR PRHE EHE RS

it 5T B2 BA 3% ([ wF 3% 1)

AEENMBETIEEHR/ERR  EM
3 MBI A ENE - AR R EEKA -

& & & % i

R-ZT-mWE+-A=+—H XEENE
B AISE3E (ZE-_=F+=-R=+—
H:472%) - BEMERFTHIIREITHE
TMED  EEMKBREEREMEE - &
EMFMRAERE —EERF HIHKE I
2EHBAITEREERBR  BEETR
Ao EBEEMMEIRE—RIBEMHERR
NEMNESNHRESHEMET - BRIAGIR
TR E AR ROETERAI - AEBIREA
EEMEE R EENEARBIREERIBIEAL -

BARKEZERBIRAAE o ZZE-NFFH



DIRECTORS' REPORT
EZEHREE

The Directors are pleased to present their annual report and the
audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1
to the financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 has been set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

An indication of the future development in the Group's business is
shown on has been set out in the sections headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” and “Chairman’s Statement” of this annual
report.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Group as of 31 December
2024 are set out in note 1 to the financial statements.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The declaration, form, frequency and amount of any dividend payout
of the Company must be in accordance with relevant laws, rules and
regulations and subject to the articles of association of the Company
(the "Articles of Association”). Subject to compliance with applicable
laws, rules, regulations and the Articles of Association, in deciding
whether to propose any dividend payout, the Board will take into
account, among other things, the financial results, the amount of
distributable profits, the liquidity and capital requirements, the cash
flow, taxation, and the future business plans of the Company.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 and
the Group’s financial position at that date are set out on pages 108
to 235 of this annual report. The Board resolved not to declare any
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

There is no arrangement under which a shareholder has waived or
agreed to waive any dividend.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted
from the published audited financial statements, is set out on page
237 of this annual report. Such summary does not form part of the
audited financial statements.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM") will be
held in Hong Kong on Friday, 20 June 2025. Notice of the AGM will
be issued and disseminated to shareholders of the Company in due
course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM of
the Company to be held on Friday, 20 June 2025, the register of
members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 17 June 2025
to Friday, 20 June 2025, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of shares will be effected. In order to be eligible to attend
and vote at the AGM, all transfers of shares accompanied by the
relevant share certificates and transfer forms must be lodged with
the Company’s branch share registrars in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited at 17/F., Far East Financial Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday,
16 June 2025. The record date for the entitlement to attend the
AGM will be on Friday, 20 June 2025.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements during the year in the Group’s property, plant and
equipment are set out in note 13 to the financial statements.
Movements during the year in the Group’s investment properties are
set out in note 14 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the share capital of the
Company are set out in note 29 to the financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group are set out in
consolidated statement of changes in equity of the financial
statement. At 31 December 2024, the aggregate amount of reserves
available for distribution to equity shareholders of the Company was
RMB 1,500 million.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
ESEHEE(A)

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company up to the date of this report are:

Executive Director

Ms. Zhang Yuanyuan (appointed on 20 August 2024)

Mr. Gao Zhi (resigned on 20 August 2024)
Mr. Lian Chenwei

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Kong Lingqi
Ms. Liu Wenjing

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Fan Ren Da, Anthony

Mr. Liu Tian Min (resigned on 16 January 2024)
Ms. Li Ming Qi

Ms. Yang Juan (appointed on 16 January 2024)

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
BIOGRAPHIES

The updated information of the Directors and senior management is
set out on page 8 to page 12 of this report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

There was no contract of significance in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Company or any of subsidiaries and fellow
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the Company had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the period or at any time during the year under review.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year under review was the Company or any of
its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement whose objectives are to
enable a Director of the Company to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any
other body corporate, other than under the 2016 Share Option
Scheme, the Subsidiary Share Incentive Plan and the Share Award
Scheme, as disclosed below.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors is or was interested in any business, apart from
the Group's business, that competes or competed or is or was likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business at
any time for the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date
hereof.

DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors nor the chief
executive of the Company and their respective associates had or was
deemed to have any interests or short positions in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which have
been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, including interests and short
positions which the Directors and the chief executive of the Company
are taken and deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO, or
which are required to be and are recorded in the register required to
be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

At no time was the Company, its holding company of the Company,
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company (including their
spouse and children under 18 years of age) to hold any interest or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO).
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
ESEHEE(A)

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTSAND TERERRBRHOREBER B AR
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND BmRAE
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, so far as the Directors are aware, the R-ZE_WNE+_A=+—H HRESFH
following persons (other than the Directors and the executive #1°' TIHAT(BEFEREZITHAERINR
officers) have interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying A7 AR B AR 17 7 BE B R 15 B 5 K HIE & DI
Shares which are required to be disclosed to the provisions of SEXVEFE2K3D KX E T HE N E &K
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in K& @ SIRIEFE H R BB & HI F33614E T
the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO were TFEMBELLMALHENERIOXE -

as follows:
Number of Percentage of total
Ordinary Shares as at issued share capital as at
Name Capacity 31 December 2024 31 December 2024®
HR=ZZE-MmEF
R-ZBZ-WF +=A=+—8
+=A=+—H BBTRA
=g g4 VEBRHAE BENE DS
- ———— /7
ResuccessM? Beneficial owner 1,357,442,690 64.8%
EnEAA
Tongfang"® Interest of controlled
corporation 1,357,442,690 64.8%
@50 RIEHEE R
Vast Stone Limited® Beneficial owner 177,227,723 8.5%
EREBA
Daniel P.W. Li® Interest of controlled
corporation 177,227,723 8.5%
RIEHDEE R
Notes: B 5E -
(1) Resuccess directly holds 1,357,442,690 Shares in the Company. Tongfang (1)  ResuccessH % 5 B & 2 7 #& 191,357,442,690
holds the entire issued share capital of Resuccess, therefore, Tongfang is A% o A5 B ResuccessE EPE FHITRA - At
deemed to be interested in all Shares held by Resuccess. Eﬁ%&*ﬁ%%ﬁResuccessFﬁ%ﬁE’\]ﬁﬁ*ﬁ_ﬁﬁ@ﬁé

(2)  Daniel P.W. Li holds the entire issued share capital of Vast Stone Limited and ~ (2)  Daniel P.W. Li& /A Vast Stone Limited® &F & %

is therefore deemed to be interested in all 177,227,723 Shares held by Vast TTHEAS - A I 4R A A Vast Stone LimitedFr#F
Stone Limited. BE2E177,227, 723 B D P EA S

(3)  As at 31 December 2024, the number of issued ordinary shares of the (3) RIZZEZ_WNF+_A=+—H ARARDHEN
Company was 2,094,465,417. LML EE A2,094,465,4170% °
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Save as mentioned above, as at 31 December 2024, the Company
had not been notified of any interests and short positions in the
Shares and underlying Shares of the Company which had been
entered in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the
SFO.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of connected transactions are set out in the section headed
“Contracts with Controlling Shareholders” on page 33 to 35 of the
annual report. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Company has complied with the requirements in the Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken by the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 34 to the
financial statements. Save as disclosed in this report, none of these
related party transactions constitutes a connected transaction or
continuing connected transaction as defined under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules that is required to be disclosed.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Share Option Scheme”, as
at the end of and during the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Company did not enter into (i) any agreement that will or may result
in the Company issuing Shares; or (i) any agreement requiring the
Company to enter into any agreement specified in (i).
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
EEEREE (R)

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

2016 Share Option Scheme

The Company has adopted the 2016 Share Option Scheme since on
13 May 2016 to optimize eligible persons’ future contributions to the
Group and/or to reward them for their past contributions, to attract
and retain or otherwise maintain ongoing relationships with such
eligible persons who are significant to and/or whose contributions
are or will be beneficial to the performance, growth or success of the
Group, and additionally in the case of Executive (as defined in the
2016 Share Option Scheme), to enable the Group to attract and
retain individuals with experience and ability and/or to reward them
for their past contributions.

Eligible persons include any of the following persons: (a) an
Executive, any full-time or part-time employee, or a person for the
time being seconded to work full-time or part-time for any member
of the Group or of an Eligible Entity (as defined in the 2016 Share
Option Scheme); (b) a director or proposed director (including an
independent non-executive director) of any member of the Group or
of an Eligible Entity; (c) a direct or indirect shareholder of any
member of the Group; (d) a supplier of goods or services to any
member of the Group or of an Eligible Entity; (e) a customer,
consultant, business or joint venture partner, franchisee, contractor,
agent or representative of any member of the Group or of an Eligible
Entity; (f) a person or entity that provides design, research,
development or other support or any advisory, consultancy,
professional or other services to any member of the Group or of an
Eligible Entity; and (g) an associate of any of the foregoing persons.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon the
exercise of all the options to be granted under the 2016 Share
Option Scheme was 193,931,969, representing approximately 10%
of the total number of Shares in issue as at the date of the adoption
and representing 9.26% of the issued share capital of the Company
(excluding any treasury shares) as at the date of this annual report.
The number of options available for grant under the 2016 Share
Option Scheme was 193,931,969 as at 1 January 2024 and 31
December 2024.

No option may be granted to any participant of the 2016 Share
Option Scheme such that the total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be granted to
that person in any 12-month period up to the date of the latest grant
exceeds 1% of the Company’s issued share capital (excluding any
treasury shares) from time to time.
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An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
2016 Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as
determined by the Board and not exceeding 10 years from the date
of the grant. There is no minimum period for which an option must
be held before it can be exercised. Participants of the 2016 Share
Option Scheme are required to pay the Company HK$1.0 upon
acceptance of the grant on or before the 28 days after the offer
date. The exercise price of the options is determined by the Board in
its absolute discretion and shall not be less than whichever is the
highest of:

(a) the nominal value of a share;

(b) the closing price of a share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets on the offer date; and

(c) the average closing price of a share as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the offer date.

The 2016 Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of 10 years from the adoption date, after which no further
options will be granted or offered. The remaining life of the 2016
Share Option Scheme is approximately 1 years.

Since the adoption of the 2016 Share Option Scheme, no share
options have been granted.

Subsidiary Share Incentive Plan

On 2 April 2015, the Company adopted the Subsidiary Share Incentive
Plan by Shareholders’ approval in order to advance the interests of
current and future stockholders of American Lighting, by enhancing
American Lighting’s ability to attract, retain and motivate persons
who make (or are expected to make) important contributions to
American Lighting by providing such persons with equity ownership
opportunities and thereby better aligning the interests of such persons
with those of the Company’s stockholders. The Subsidiary Share
Incentive Plan is valid for ten years after its adoption. The remaining
life of the Subsidiary Share Incentive Plan is approximately 3 months.
The eligible persons include the employees, consultants, and directors
of American Lighting or any parent or subsidiary of American Lighting.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
EEEREE (R)

Subject to adjustment under the Subsidiary Share Incentive Plan,
awards may be made under the Subsidiary Share Incentive Plan
covering up to 3,632 shares of common stock (all of which may, but
need not, be granted as incentive stock options, subject to any
limitations under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986), which is equal
to 10% of the issued and outstanding shares of common stock on
the date when the Subsidiary Share Incentive Plan is adopted and
approved by the Shareholders and as at the date of this annual
report. If any award expires or lapses or is terminated, surrendered or
cancelled without having been fully exercised or is forfeited in whole
or in part (including as the result of shares of common stock subject
to such award being repurchased by the Company at or below the
original issuance price), in any case in a manner that results in any
shares of common stock covered by such award not being issued or
being so reacquired by the Company, the unused Common Stock
covered by such award shall again be available for the grant of
awards under the Subsidiary Share Incentive Plan.

The total number of shares of common stock issued and to be issued
upon the exercise of options granted and to be granted to each
Service Provider (as defined in the Subsidiary Share Incentive Plan)
(including both exercised and outstanding options) in any period of
twelve (12) consecutive months up to and including the date of grant
shall not exceed 1% of shares of common stock in issue as at the
date of grant. The Company may grant further options in excess of
such limit set out in subject to approval by the Shareholders in
general meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules, at which the
Service Provider involved and its close associates (or the Service
Provider’s associates if the Service Provider is a connected person)
shall be required to abstain from voting.
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The Administrator (as defined in the Subsidiary Share Incentive Plan)
shall establish the exercise price of each Option and specify the
exercise price in the applicable award agreement. The exercise price
shall be not less than 100% of the Option Exercise Price, which
means, as of any date, the price per share of common stock payable
on the exercise of the option and determined as follows: (i) if the
common stock is listed on any established stock exchange (including
but not limited to) a National Securities Exchange (within the
meaning of the Exchange Act); the Option Exercise Price shall be the
greater of (A) the closing sales price for such common stock as
quoted on such exchange on the date of grant of the option, or if no
sale occurred on such date, the first market trading day immediately
prior to such date during which a sale occurred; and (B) the average
closing sales price for such common stock as quoted on such
exchange for the five business days preceding the date of grant of
option, or if no sale occurred on such date, the first market trading
day immediately prior to such date during which a sale occurred, as
the prices contemplated by the preceding clauses (A) and (B) are
reported in The Wall Street Journal or such other source as the board
of American Lighting deems reliable; (ii) if the common stock is not
listed on a stock exchange but is quoted on a national market system
or other quotation system, the Option Exercise Price shall be the last
sales price for such common stock on the date of grant of the option,
or if no sales occurred on such date, then on the date immediately
prior to such date on which sales prices are reported, as reported in
The Wall Street Journal or such other source as the board of
American Lighting deems reliable; or (iii) in the absence of an
established market for the common stock, the Option Exercise Price
shall be determined by the board of American Lighting in its sole
discretion.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, in the event that an
award of options is made (a) on or after the date that American
Lighting has resolved to seek the listing, or (b) during the six month
period immediately preceding the date on which American Lighting
files an application for Listing, and the Listing occurs concurrent with
the offer and sale of the common stock, then the Option Exercise
Price shall be the higher of (a) the offering price for the shares of
common stock to be issued in connection with the listing, and (b) the
exercise price in the applicable award agreement.
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Details of the share options under the Subsidiary Share Incentive Plan

REBE-_Z_NEF+_A=1+T—HLFER

during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set forth as below: b RN B v kg e Rl ol =
LU
Exercise Forfeited/ Outstanding
price Outstanding Granted Exercise Lapsed as at
Category of per share at 1 January during during during 31 December
participants Date of grant!" (uss$) 2024 the Period the Period the Period 2024
R-B-mE R-B-QRF
SEAER  -A-E t2p=t-8
SEERH EHaHo (#7) HATE HBRRi BAGE  BARK/ XX WK
——/—— 1
Employees 30 June 2016 330 354 - - - 354
E& ZE-~E~A=TH
Employees 30 June 2017 330 355 = = = 355
&g ZE3—t%5A=TH
Employees 30 June 2018 330 4N - - - 4n
&8 “B-\F5A=1H
Employees 27 April 2018 405 376 - - - 376
] “B-\§mA=T+A
Employees 27 April 2019 405 376 - - - 376
L] “E-NERAZTLH
Employees 27 April 2020 405 503 - - - 503
&8 “BCREMACTHA
2,435 - - - 2,435
(1) The stock options granted have an exercisable term of 10 years and vest as (1)  FTEHMERETERA10F - WIRUATHR

follows: (i) thirty percent (30%) of the total number of shares subject to the
Stock Options vest and become exercisable on the first (1st) anniversary of
30 June 2015 (the “Vesting Commencement Date”); (i) an additional thirty
percent (30%) of the total number of shares subject to the Stock Options
vest and become exercisable on the second (2nd) anniversary of the Vesting
Commencement Date; and (iii) the remaining unvested forty percent (40%)
of the total number of shares subject to the Stock Options vest (and, as a
result, the Stock Options become fully vested) on the third (3rd) anniversary
of the Vesting Commencement Date; provided in each case that the Grantee
continues to provide services to the Company, American Lighting or Tivoli,
LLC (“Tivoli”), as the case may be, as of each such vesting date and that the
board of directors of American Lighting has determined in its sole discretion
that performance criteria, if any, that has been specified by the board of
directors and agreed to by the Grantee, has been satisfied.

Save as disclosed above, no share option under the Subsidiary Share
Incentive Plan was granted, exercised, lapsed, or cancelled during the

year.

Further details of the Subsidiary Share Incentive Plan are set out in
note 30 to the financial statements.
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Share Award Scheme

On 13 April 2018, the Company approved the adoption of Share
Award Scheme which is a long-term incentive plan of the Company
to align the interests of selected participants directly to the
Shareholders through ownership of Shares. The purpose of the
Scheme is to provide the Selected Participants with an opportunity to
acquire a share interest in the Company and to encourage and retain
such individuals to work with the Company, and to provide additional
incentive for them to achieve performance goals. (i) A director or a
proposed director of any member of the Group or of a holding
company or a subsidiary of the Company, or a subsidiary of the
holding company of the Company (the “Eligible Entity”); (ii) a
manager of, or other employee holding an executive, managerial,
supervisory or similar position in any member of the Group; and (iii)
full-time or part-time employee, or a person for the time being
seconded to work full-time or part-time for any member of the
Group or of an Eligible Entity selected by the person authorized to
administer the Scheme will be entitled to participate as a selected
participant.

The Share Award Scheme shall terminate on the earlier of (i) upon
expiry of the period of 10 years from the adoption date (i.e. 13 April
2018); (i) on the date of any change in control of the Company; or
(iii) on the date determined/resolved by the Board to terminate the
Share Award Scheme pursuant to the scheme rules. Any termination
if the Share Award Scheme shall not affect the subsisting rights of
any selected participant. The remaining life of the Share Award
Scheme is approximately 3 years.

The Board or the authorized person may, subject always to the Share
Award Scheme, from time to time determine the number of restricted
shares to be granted and at its absolute discretion select any
participant to be a selected participant under the Share Award
Scheme.

After the authorized person has determined the number of grant
shares and the selected participants, it shall notify the trustee and
the selected participants in writing on the proposed grant date. Upon
receipt of the notification of the grant, the selected participants are
required to confirm their acceptance of the grant by returning to the
authorized person a notice of acceptance duly executed by them
within 28 days after the grant date.

The vesting of the restricted shares is subject to the selected
participant remaining at all times after the grant date and on the
vesting date a participant.
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Any share held by the trustee on behalf of a selected participant
pursuant to the provisions shall vest in such selected participant in
accordance with the vesting schedule determined at the discretion of
the authorized person or the Board.

The maximum number of restricted shares which may be granted to
a selected participant at any one time or in aggregate may not
exceed 1 per cent of the issued share capital of the Company as at
the adoption date on 13 April 2018, i.e. 20,985,254 shares.

The number of restricted shares available for grant under the Share
Award Scheme as at 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 was
209,852,541 shares.

Details of the Share Award Scheme were set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 13 April 2018. No Share was
granted under the Share Award Scheme since its adoption.

Since no options and awards were granted under both the 2016
Share Option Scheme and the Share Award Scheme, the number of
shares that may be issued in respect of options and awards granted
under all share schemes of the Company during the year ended 31
December 2024 divided by the weighted average number of shares
in issue (excluding any treasury shares) for the year was nil.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities (including sale of
treasury shares) during the year ended 31 December 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, the number of treasury shares held by the
Company is nil.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Deposit Service provided by Finance Company

On 25 November 2021, the Company and Finance Company entered
into the deposit service agreement, pursuant to which the Finance
Company shall provide deposit services to the Group during the term
of the deposit service agreement commencing from 17 January 2022
to 31 December 2024 with the maximum daily deposit balance of
RMB500,000,000 of the deposits placed with the Finance Company
by the Group.

As Tongfang is a controlling shareholder of the Company by virtue of
its direct 100% interest in Resuccess Investments Limited, which in
turn holds approximately 64.81% of the total issued share capital of
the Company, and is therefore a connected person of the Company.
CNNC s, directly and indirectly, interested in approximately 31.66%
of the shares of Tongfang, whereas the Finance Company is a
non-wholly owned subsidiary of CNNC, which is directly and
indirectly interested in 83.83% of the equity interest in the Finance
Company. Therefore, the Finance Company is a connected person of
the Company. The provision of deposit service by the Finance
Company to the qualified group members pursuant to the deposit
service agreement constitutes continuing connected transactions of
the Company under Chapter 14A of Listing Rules.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has placed a total of
RMB36,999,022.97 with the Finance Company at interest rates
ranged from 1.12% to 1.49% per annum pursuant to the terms of
the deposit service agreement.

On 9 December 2024, the Company and the Finance Company
entered into the Deposit Service Agreement 2, pursuant to which the
Finance Company shall provide the deposit service to the qualified
group members during the term of the Deposit Service Agreement 2
commencing from the 1 January 2025 to 31 December 2027 with the
maximum daily deposit balance of RMB37,000,000 of the deposits
placed with the Finance Company by the Group. The provision of
deposit service by the Finance Company to the qualified members of
the Group pursuant to the Deposit Service Agreement 2 constitutes
continuing connected transactions of the Company under Chapter
14A of Listing Rules. As the applicable percentage ratios (other than
the profits ratio) of the annual cap are all less than 5%, the deposit
service is subject to the reporting, announcement and annual review
but exempted from independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Provision of Revolving Loans to Tongfang

On 3 January 2023, the Company, Tongfang Science Park and
Tongfang entered into the loan agreement, pursuant to which the
Company and Tongfang Science Park will provide revolving loans of
not exceeding RMB400,000,000 to Tongfang during the term of the
loan agreement commencing from 13 March 2023 to 12 March 2026
for a term of 3 years.

As Tongfang is a controlling shareholder of the Company by virtue of
its direct 100% interest in Resuccess Investments Limited, which in
turn holds approximately 64.81% of the total issued share capital of
the Company, and is therefore a connected person of the Company.
Accordingly, the provision of loans by the Company and Tongfang
Science Park to Tongfang pursuant to the loan agreement constitutes
continuing connected transactions of the Company under Chapter
14A of Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company and
Tongfang Science Park have granted a loan to Tongfang with a total
principal amount of RMB400 million at an interest rate of 3.65% per
annum pursuant to the terms of the loan agreement. Details of the
continuing connected transactions are set out in notes 22 and 34 to
the financial statements.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have
reviewed the continuing connected transactions set out above and
have confirmed that these continuing connected transactions were
entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
favourable to the Group than terms available to or from independent
third parties; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditors, were engaged to report on
the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information and with reference to Practice Note 740
(Revised) Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Ernst & Young have issued their
unmodified letter containing the findings and conclusions in respect
of the continuing connected transactions disclosed above by the
Group in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.
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Save as disclosed above, no contract of significance has been entered
into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the
controlling shareholders during the year ended 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS, CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in relation to
the Group’s business to which the Company, the holding company of
the Company, or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a
Director of the Company or an entity connected with a Director had
a material interest in, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the financial year under review or at any time during the
financial year under review save as disclosed under the “Related Party
Transactions” in note 34 to the financial statements.

USE OF PROCEEDS

The Company did not undertake any equity fund raising in the past
12 months immediately prior to the date of this report.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the largest supplier
accounted for 7% of the Group’s purchases and the five largest
suppliers accounted for 25.4% of the Group’s total purchases. The
largest customer accounted for 7.5% of the Group’s total revenue
and the five largest customers accounted for 20.2% of the Group’s
total revenue.

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders (which to
the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) has an interest in the Group’s five largest
suppliers and customers.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of corporate governance are set out in the section headed
“Corporate Governance Report” on pages 40 to 58 of the annual
report.
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COMPENSATION POLICY

The compensation package for each employee is structured in a way
to attract and retain the best talents available, and will contain a
combination or modification of some or all of the following four
main components:

I. Basic salary

Basic salary and wage rate ranges are established for each
position by evaluating the responsibilities and the duties
required to be performed. The actual salary or wage rate for
the person filling the position is determined based on the
experience and ability of the individual selected for the position.

The basic salary and wage rate ranges are reviewed periodically
with reference to the prevailing market level and similar
positions of competitors in the relevant industry. The actual
salaries and wage rates of employees are reviewed annually and
may be adjusted from time to time based on the cost of living
and financial performance of the Company.

Salaries and wages are basic compensation and not intended to
reward performance, either individually or corporately.
Performance is rewarded through the other components of the
compensation plan.

Il. Incentive bonus

Incentive bonus is linked to individual and corporate
performance. Every year, profitability and other corporate
performance targets are set and incentive bonuses will only be
paid for that year if the targets are achieved.

The incentive bonus for each employee is determined with
reference to his/her position and his/her individual performance
during the year.

Illl. 2016 Share Option Scheme, Subsidiary Share
Option Scheme and Share Award Scheme

The Company adopted the 2016 Share Option Scheme, the
Subsidiary Share Incentive Plan and the Share Award Scheme
on 13 May 2016, 2 April 2016 and 13 April 2018, respectively.
For further details, please refer to the paragraphs headed “2016
Share Option Scheme”, “Subsidiary Share Incentive Plan” and
“Share Award Scheme” hereof.
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IV. Other benefits

In addition to the above three main components, the Group
offers other customary and/or mandatory benefits to employees,
such as retirement fund scheme, medical benefits, insurance
and paid holiday, with reference to prevailing industry practices
in the relevant jurisdictions.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
reappointment. A resolution for their re-appointment as auditors of
the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Listing Rules requires that at least 25% of the
total issued capital of an issuer must be held by the public at any
time. Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date
of this report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public
float of not less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as
required under the Listing Rules for the year ended 31 December
2024 and the subsequent period ended the date of this report.

BANK LOANS

The Group does not have any bank loans as at 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

A number of factors may affect the results and business operations
of the Group, some of which are inherent to LED lighting industry
and some are from external sources. For further details, please refer
to the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
EEEREE (R)

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS
AND CUSTOMERS

For details of relationship with the employees, customers and
suppliers, please refer to the paragraphs headed “compensation
policy” and “major suppliers and customers” in this section.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is specialized in providing energy saving and
environmentally-friendly products. The Group strives to operate in
compliance with the relevant environmental regulations and rules.
During the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this
report, the Group does not have any violation of relevant
environmental regulations and rules which gives rise of significant
impact to the Group’s development, performance and businesses.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries in the mainland China, while the Company itself is listed
on the Stock Exchange. The Group’s establishment and operations
accordingly shall comply with relevant laws and regulations in the
mainland China, including environment protection laws,
standardization laws, product quality laws, product safety laws,
regulations on administration of compulsive product certification and
the laws in Hong Kong. During the year ended 31 December 2024
and up to the date of this report, the Group has complied with all
the relevant laws and regulations in the mainland China and Hong
Kong in all material aspects.

In addition, the Group retains outside counsels and would seek legal
advice from them in case of any issues.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Article 167(1) of the Articles of Association provides that the
directors, secretary and other officers and every Auditor for the time
being of the Company and the liquidator or trustees (if any) for the
time being acting in relation to any of the affairs of the Company
and everyone of them, and everyone of their heirs, executors and
administrators, shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the
assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them,
their or any of their heirs, executors or administrators, shall or may
incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or
omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in
their respective offices or trusts; and none of them shall be
answerable for the acts, receipts, neglects or defaults of the other or
others of them or for joining in any receipts for the sake of
conformity, or for any bankers or other persons with whom any
moneys or effects belonging to the Company shall or may be lodged
or deposited for safe custody, or for insufficiency or deficiency of any
security upon which any moneys of or belonging to the Company
shall be placed out on or invested, or for any other loss, misfortune
or damage which may happen in the execution of their respective
offices or trusts, or in relation thereto; PROVIDED THAT this
indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or
dishonesty which may attach to any of said persons.

On behalf of the Board

Zhang Yuanyuan
Chairperson
26 March 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TEERESE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to the establishment of good corporate
governance practices and procedures with a view to being a
transparent and responsible organisation which is open and
accountable to the Shareholders.

Corporate governance is the process by which the Board instructs
management of the Group to conduct its affairs with a view to
ensuring that its objectives are met. The Board is committed to
maintaining and developing robust corporate governance practices
that are intended to ensure (i) satisfactory and sustainable returns to
Shareholders; (ii) that the interests of those who deal with the
Company are safeguarded; (iii) that overall business risk is understood
and managed appropriately; (iv) the delivery of high-quality products
and services to the satisfaction of customers; and (v) that high
standards of ethics are maintained.

Recognizing the importance of a publicly listed company's
responsibilities to enhance its transparency and accountability, the
Group is committed to achieving high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of shareholders and to
enhance corporate value and accountability.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles and code provisions as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code.

The Company will continue to enhance its corporate governance
practices appropriate to the conduct and growth of its business and
to review such practices from time to time to ensure that they comply
with the Corporate Governance Code and align with the latest
developments.

Except the deviation disclosed in the paragraph headed “Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer” below in this report, throughout the
year ended 31 December 2024, the Company complied with the
code provisions and, where appropriate, adopted the recommended
best practices as set out in the Corporate Governance Code.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The overall management of the Company’s operation is vested in the
Board.

The Board takes overall responsibility to oversee all major matters of
the Group, including the formulation and approval of all policy
matters, overall strategic development of the Group, monitoring and
controlling the Group’s operation and financial performance, internal
control and risk management systems, and monitoring of the
performance of the senior management. The Directors have to make
decisions objectively in the interests of the Company.

The Board exercises a number of authorities which include:

- Formulating the Group’s long-term strategy;

- Approving major acquisitions, disposals and capital investment;
- Reviewing operational and financial performance;

- Approving financial results and public announcements;

- Reviewing the effectiveness of internal control;

- Authorizing material borrowings;

- Deciding dividend policy;

- Any issue or repurchase of the Company’s securities under
general mandate;

- Approving appointment to the Board and senior management;
and

- Deciding the Group’s remuneration policy.

To assist in fulfilling its duties and responsibilities, the Board
established four committees, namely the audit committee, the
remuneration committee, the nomination committee and the risk
management and regulatory compliance committee (previously
known as “regulatory compliance committee”).

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the chief executive officer and the senior
management of the Company. The delegated functions and work
tasks are periodically reviewed.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EXRERRE (B)

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises seven Directors, consisting of two
executive Directors, Ms. Zhang Yuanyuan (chairperson of the Board)
and Mr. Lian Chenwei, two non-executive Directors, Mr. Kong Lingqi
and Ms. Liu Wenjing and three independent non-executive Directors,
Dr. Fan Ren Da Anthony, Ms. Yang Juan and Ms. Li Ming Qi. All
Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the
Group. Each of the executive Directors is suitably qualified for his
position, and has sufficient experience to hold the position so as to
carry out his duties effectively and efficiently. Biographical
information of the Directors is set out in the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

To the best knowledge of the Company, there is no other financial,
business or family relationship among the members of the Board.

The Company has complied with Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules to
appoint at least three independent non-executive Directors. The
Company has appointed three independent non-executive Directors
representing more than one-third of the Board and is in compliance
with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules.

For the Directors newly appointed during the year ended 31
December 2024, each of Ms. Zhang Yuanyuan and Ms. Yang Juan
obtained on 19 August 2024 and 6 January 2024, respectively,
before their appointment became effective, the legal advice referred
to under Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules as regards the requirements
under the Listing Rules that are applicable to them as Directors and
the possible consequences of making a false declaration or giving
false information to the Stock Exchange and, each of them has
confirmed that she understood her obligations as a Director.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under the code provision A2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code,
the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual. The Company
does not have a separate chairman and a chief executive officer
Mr. Gao Zhi held both positions from 1 January 2024 to 20 August
2024, while Ms. Zhang Yuanyuan has held both positions since 20
August 2024. The Board considers that this structure will not impair
the balance of power and authority between the Board and the
management of the Company as non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors form the majority of the Board,
with five out of seven of the Directors being non- executive directors
and independent non-executive Directors. The Board believes that
vesting the roles of both chairman and chief executive officer in the
same person can facilitate execution of the Company’s business
strategies and boost effectiveness of its operation. The Board will
review the current structure from time to time and shall make
necessary arrangements when the Board considers appropriate.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Independent non-executive Directors have played a significant role in
the Board by bringing their independent judgment at the Board
meeting and scrutinising the Group's performance. Their views carry
significant weight in the Board’s decision, in particular, they bring an
impartial view to bear on issues of the Group's strategy, performance
and control. All independent non-executive Directors possess
extensive academic, professional and industry expertise and
management experience and have provided their professional advices
to the Board. The independent non-executive Directors provide
independent advice on the Group’s business strategy, results and
management so that all interests of Shareholders can be taken into
account, and the interests of the Company and its Shareholders can
be protected.

The Board has three independent non-executive Directors with one
of them, Ms. Li Ming Qi, one of the independent non- executive
Directors, possesses appropriate professional accounting
qualifications or financial management expertise in accordance with
Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from each of the existing independent non-executive Directors. Based
on the contents of such confirmations, the Company considers that
all the independent non-executive Directors are independent and that
they have met the specific independence guidelines as set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Mechanism for ensuring independent views and
input

The Board has in place a mechanism for ensuring independent views
and input are available to the Board. The Board currently comprises a
majority of non-executive Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors). They have full and timely access to the
Group's information, and are entitled to seek advice from the
company secretary as well as independent professional advisers at
the Company’s expenses in appropriate circumstances. These
non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) provide a balance in the Board, bring in view and opinion
independent of the executive Directors and the management, and
oversee the Group’s operation and corporate action.

Periodic review and evaluation are also being conducted to assess the
Board and management’s performance, monitoring and enhancing
the effectiveness of the Company’s governance structure and
mechanism.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EXRERRE (B)

Board Diversity Policy

The Company adopted a board diversity policy on 1 April 2013 which
may be amended from time to time. The Company recognises and
embraces the benefits of diversity of Board members. While all Board
appointments will continue to be made on a merit basis, the
Company will ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the needs of
the Company’s business. Selection of candidates will be based on a
range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, experience (professional
or otherwise), skills and knowledge.

Gender diversity in the workforce

As at 31 December 2024, among our workforce (including senior
management), 38.9% are male and 61.1% are female. We advocate
in creating a diverse and respectful working environment, oppose
any form of discrimination, and strive to provide an inclusive, safe,
diverse and anti-discriminatory work environment for employees of
all backgrounds. We treat candidates and employees with equal
respect regardless of race, gender, age and marital status, and
consider only their ability and suitability for the position, and are
committed to ensuring that the recruitment and promotion process is
free from discrimination. Notwithstanding the fact that we have not
set a measurable objective for achieving gender diversity at the
workforce level, the Company is committed to the approach based
on merits and diversity, aiming to provide equal consideration and
opportunities to all qualified candidates regardless of gender in terms
of hiring and promotion process.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has also adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix
C3 of the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. Having made specific enquiry with all
Directors of the Company, all Directors confirmed that they have
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
regarding directors’ securities transactions for the year ended 31
December 2024.

Training and Support for Directors

All Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities. Any
newly appointed Director would receive an induction package
covering the Group’s operations, businesses, governance policies and
the statutory regulatory obligations and responsibilities of a director
of a listed company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
TEREBRHRE (&)

The Directors have been informed of the requirement under code E =P L M EEATR|FAIEXEAG.5
provision A.6.5 of the Corporate Governance Code regarding {($EBEHEHEELENRTE - BRELRQ AR
continuous professional development. According to the records W4 ARNACEES AT EBEEESR
maintained by the Company, the current Directors received the EZBENHET REBEE_Z_NFE+_A4
following training with an emphasis on the roles, functions and =+—BIFEE REEEHEZUH S A
duties of a director of a listed company in compliance with the new EFHAREEZENAE® BEMBEAELRN
requirement of the Corporate Governance Code on continuous AREIIWOT :

professional development for the year ended 31 December 2024:

Corporate Governance/Updates Accounting/Financial/Management
on Laws, Rules and Regulations or Other Professional Skills
PEER/ AR RURERNER Bt /B EEREME R
Attend Seminars/ Attend Seminars/
Name of Director Read materials Briefings Read materials Briefings
tERHE/ LERNE/
Expf BEER e HEEH e
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Gao Zhi BEEE
(resigned on 20 August 2024) (RZZZmENR
ZTHEA) v/ v/ / /
Ms. Zhang Yuanyuan REEXT
(appointed on 20 August 2024)  (RZZEZHENA
Z+REZE) v/ / / /
Mr. Lian Chenwei ERBLE / v/ / /
Non-executive Directors FUTES
Mr. Kong Linggi S as ik v/ / / /
Ms. Liu Wenjing ANELL / / / /
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
Directors
Dr. Fan Ren Da Anthony BLERT / / / /
Mr. Liu Tian Min ARREE
(resigned on 16 January 2024) (R=E-mF-A
TRBEHE) NA TER N/A TER N/A FER NA FER
Ms. Li Ming Qi FHHETT v/ v/ v/ v/
Ms. Yang Juan BiERt
(appointed on 16 January 2024)  (R-ZF-WME—A
TABEZE) v/ / / /
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EXRERRE (B)

Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of
potential legal actions against its Directors and officers.

Meetings

All Directors are regularly updated on governance and regulatory
matters. There is an established procedure for Directors to obtain
independent professional advice at the expense of the Company in
furtherance of their duties.

The Board meets regularly throughout the year ended 31 December
2024 to review the overall strategy and to monitor the operation as
well as the financial performance of the Group. The chairman focuses
on the Group's strategy and is responsible for chairing and managing
the efficient operation of the Board and ensuring that all key issues
are considered by the Board in a timely manner. Notice of at least 14
days has been given to all Directors for all regular Board meetings
and the Directors can include matters for discussion in the agenda
whenever they consider appropriate and necessary. Agenda and
accompanying Board papers in respect of regular Board meetings are
dispatched in full to all Directors within a reasonable time before the
meeting. Directors have to declare their direct or indirect interests, if
any, in any proposals or transactions to be considered by the Board
at board meetings and abstain from voting as appropriate. Draft
minutes of all board meetings are circulated to Directors for comment
within a reasonable time prior to confirmation. Minutes of board
meetings and meetings of board committees are kept by the
company secretary. All Directors have free access to board papers
and related materials, and are provided with adequate information in
a timely manner, enabling the Board to make informed decision on
matters placed before it.
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The individual attendance record of each Director at the meetings of
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the Board and the general meetings during the year ended 31 HEEZEWNEFEFeezMREASHNEAALERD
December 2024 is set out below: BT ¢
Attendance/ Attendance/
Number of Number of
Name of Director Board Meeting(s) General Meeting(s)
HERE HERY,/
EEnE EZ883RY BRRAERY
Executive Directors BTES
Mr. Gao Zhi (resigned on 20 August 2024) BELE(R_T_mE
NAZ+HEE) 4/4 11
Ms. Zhahg Yuanyuan FRERT(R-_ZE_-mE
(appointed on 20 August 2024) NE-—+RESHE) 5/5 N/A 73 F
Mr. Lian Chenwei ERFBEAE 10/10 11
Non-executive Directors ¥HTES
Mr. Kong Linggi HemEE 10/10 1/1
Ms. Liu Wenjing ANErt 10/10 11
Independent non-executive Directors BIEHTES
Dr. Fan Ren Da Anthony BEELT 10/10 0/1
Mr. Liu Tian Min (resigned on 16 January 2024) ZRXREE(R-_BE-_mME
—A+RBEME) 1/1 N/A 7~ i P
Ms. Li Ming Qi ZTHHLLT 10/10 11
Ms. Yang Juan (appointed on 16 January 2024) BREZT (RZE-MF
—ATABEZE) 8/8 1/1

Appointments, Re-election and Removal of

Directors

Each of the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors of the Company has entered into a service contract with
the Company for a specific term of three years commencing from the
appointment date and will thereafter until terminated by not less
than one or two months’ notice in writing served by either party on
the other, which notice shall not expire until after the fixed term.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, none of the Directors
have waived their emoluments in relation to their services

respectively.
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The above service contracts are subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at an annual general meeting at least once every three
years in accordance with the Articles of Association.

Except as disclosed above, none of our Directors has a service
contract or a letter of appointment with our Company or any of its
subsidiaries which is not determinable within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Article 86(3) of the Articles of Association provides that any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy in the Board shall hold
office until the first general meeting of the Company after his/her
appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting, and any
Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board
shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting
of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

According to Article 87(1) of the Articles of Association, one-third of
the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation at
every annual general meeting of the Company. According to Article
87(2), the retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, Ms. Zhang Yuanyuan,
Dr. Fan Ren Da Anthony and Ms. Li Ming Qi shall retire at the AGM.
Dr. Fan Ren Da Anthony has informed the Company that in order to
devote more time to his other business commitments, he will not
offer himself for re-election as Director after his retirement by
rotation. Ms. Zhang Yuanyuan and Ms. Li Ming Qi, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election.

Board Committees

The Board has established (i) audit committee; (ii) remuneration
committee; (iii) nomination committee and (iv) risk management and
regulatory compliance committee (previously known as “regulatory
compliance committee”), with defined terms of reference. The terms
of reference of the board committees which explain their respective
role and the authority delegated to them by the Board are available
on the website of the Company at http://www.neo-neon.com and
the website of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk. The board
committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their
duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent
professional advice and other assistance in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.
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Audit Committee

The Company established an audit committee with written terms of
reference. The audit committee currently comprises of three
members, being all independent non-executive Directors, Dr. Fan Ren
Da Anthony, Ms. Yang Juan and Ms. Li Ming Qi. Ms. Li Ming Qi is the
chairman of the audit committee. The primary duties of the audit
committee are to make recommendation to the Board on the
appointment and removal of external auditors, review the financial
statements and material advice in respect of financial reporting, and
oversee the internal control and risk management systems of the
Company. Their composition and written terms of reference are in
line with the Corporate Governance Code.

The Group's audited annual results for the year ended 31 December
2024, respectively have been reviewed by the audit committee, which
was of the opinion that the preparation of the relevant financial
statements complied with the applicable accounting standards and
requirements and that adequate disclosure has been made. The audit
committee has also reviewed the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group, and selection and appointment of the external
auditors. In addition, the audit committee reviewed the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2024.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, three meetings were held
by the audit committee. The individual record of each member of the
audit committee at the meetings of the audit committee is set out
below:

Name of Director
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Attendance/Number of
Committee Meeting(s)

HERE

EEgE ZEEERERY

Ms. Li Ming Qi AT 3/3

Dr. Fan Ren Da Anthony SBEELT 3/3
Mr. Liu Tian Min ARREE

(resigned on 16 January 2024) (R-—Z_mW&— B+ ~BHET) N/A i A

Ms. Yang Juan (appointed on B8+
16 January 2024) (RZZE-_MF-A+BEZE) 3/3
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established a remuneration committee on with written
terms of reference. The remuneration committee currently comprises
of four members, namely, Ms. Zhang Yuanyuan, an executive
Director, and three independent non-executive Directors, Dr. Fan Ren
Da Anthony, Ms. Yang Juan and Ms. Li Ming Qi. Ms. Yang Juan was
the chairman of the remuneration committee. The primary duties of
the remuneration committee are to advise the Board on the Group’s
overall policy and structure for the remuneration of Directors and
senior management, and ensures that no Director or any of his
associate is involved in deciding his/her own remuneration. In
addition, the remuneration committee is also responsible for
determining, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration
packages of individual executive directors and senior management,
including benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments
which include any compensation payable for loss or termination of
their office or appointment. Their composition and written terms of
reference are in line with the Corporate Governance Code.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the remuneration
committee reviewed the Group’s remuneration policy and the
remuneration package of the Directors and senior management for
the year of 2024.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, three meetings were held
by the remuneration committee. The individual record of each
member of the remuneration committee at the meeting of the
remuneration committee is set out below:

Name of Director
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Attendance/Number of
Committee Meeting(s)

HERE
EEnA ZEEERRE
Ms. Yang Juan Hig 2+
(appointed on 16 January 2024) (RZZEZmF— A+ ~HEZE) 2/2
Mr. Liu Tian Min BRREAE
(resigned on 16 January 2024) (RZZEZMF— A+ /NHEHE) N/A i A
Mr. Gao Zhi (resigned on 20 August 2024) mESE(RZZEZWFNAZ+HET) 2/2
Ms. Zhang Yuanyuan KEEZ+T(RZZZMWENAZ+AH
(appointed on 20 August 2024) BEE) N/A T8 A
Dr. Fan Ren Da Anthony B ERLT 3/3
Ms. Li Ming Qi THRALT 3/3
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Details of the remuneration of Directors are disclosed on an individual
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basis and are set out in Note 8 to the consolidated financial BB |MEMIAS - BE_ZET _ME+ = A
statements of the Group. The remuneration payable to the senior =-+4— Eiiﬁ?ﬁi%ﬁliﬂ A2 ENARE S
management of the Company by band for the year ended 31 M EEEFHINEFI AT ¢

December 2024 is set out below:

Remuneration band (RMB’000) Number of persons

FHEE (AR T ) A

500-1,500 2

Nomination Committee BEZEES

The Company established a nomination committee on with written
terms of reference. The nomination committee currently comprises of
four members, namely, Ms. Zhang Yuanyuan, an executive Director
and three independent non-executive Directors, Dr. Fan Ren Da
Anthony, Ms. Yang Juan and Ms. Li Ming Qi. Ms. Zhang Yuanyuan is
the chairperson of the nomination committee. The primary duties of
the nomination committee are to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board on a regular basis and to recommend to
the Board the suitable candidates for directors after consideration of
the nominees’ independence and quality in order to ensure the
fairness and transparency of all nominations. In identifying suitable
director candidates and making such recommendations to the Board,
the nomination committee would also take into account various
aspects of a candidate, including but not limited to his/her education
background, professional experience, experience with the relevant
industry and past directorships. Their composition and written terms
of reference are in line with the Corporate Governance Code.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the nomination
committee mainly performed the following duties:

. recommended the nomination of the executive Director
Ms. Zhang Yuanyuan and independent non-executive Director
Ms. Yang Juan to the Board;

o reviewed the annual confirmation of independence submitted
by the independent non-executive Directors and assessed their
independence; and

° reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board,
during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, three meetings were held HZE—-ZT-_WFE+_-_FA=+—HILFE &
by the nomination committee. The individual record of each member ZZEEBE@ERIT=ZXEHE - RIELZE @K
of the nomination committee at the meeting of the nomination EBRIERXRZESeZMEREFELEEE] N
committee is set out below: i

Name of Director

Attendance/Number of
Committee Meeting(s)

HERE
R ZEEERRE
Ms. Zhang Yuanyuan SR E B &+
(appointed on 20 August 2024) (RZZEZmFENAZTHEZE) N/A T~iE A
Mr. Gao Zhi (resigned on 20 August 2024) @ELE (R =_MNF )\ =+ HET) 2/2
Mr. Liu Tian Min ARREE
(resigned on 16 January 2024) (RZZEZWmF— A +NHEE) N/A i A
Dr. Fan Ren Da Anthony BLEE L 3/3
Ms. Li Ming Qi ENE e 3/3
Ms. Yang Juan B8+
(appointed on 16 January 2024) (R=ZZEZmF—A+BEEZME) 2/2

Risk Management and Regulatory Compliance
Committee

The Company established a risk management and regulatory
compliance committee (previously known as “regulatory compliance
committee”) on with written terms of reference. The regulatory
compliance committee currently comprises of seven members, being
all Directors of the Company with Dr. Fan Ren Da Anthony acting as
the chairman of the risk management and regulatory compliance
committee. The primary duties of the risk management and
regulatory compliance committee are to monitor the risk
management system of the Company and compliance of the
Company’s existing or future business, and review and make
recommendations on the compliance of applicable laws and
regulations, including matters relating to the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the risk management and
regulatory compliance committee regularly reported to the Board on
any alleged frauds and non-compliances, internal control deficiencies
or alleged violation of laws, regulations and rules. The risk
management and regulatory compliance committee is authorised by
the Board to seek relevant information from the management of the
Company to achieve its objectives, duties and responsibilities, and all
employees must cooperate to meet its needs.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, one meeting was held by
the risk management and regulatory compliance committee.

Name of Director
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Attendance/Number of
Committee Meeting(s)

HERE,/

BB ZEEEENRY
Ms. Zhang Yuanyuan (appointed on 20 August 2024) RERZT(RZS-WENAZ+EZE) N/A &
Mr. Gao Zhi (resigned on 20 August 2024) SELE(R-E-NENA -+ HET) 1
Mr. Lian Chenwei ERBRE 1
Mr. Kong Linggi LemELE 1/1
Ms. Liu Wenjing ANELT 1/1
Dr. Fan Ren Da Anthony BLEEL 11
Mr. Liu Tian Min (resigned on 16 January 2024) RREE (R -ME-F+AHET) N/A 7
Ms. Li Ming Qi FHATT 171

Corporate Governance function

The Company’s corporate governance functions are carried out by
the Board which include: (a) to develop and review the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance; (b) to review and
monitor the training and continuous professional development of the
Directors and senior management of the Group; (c) to review and
monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements; (d) to develop, review and monitor
the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees of the Group and the Directors; and (e) to review the
Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board reviewed the
compliance with the code provisions and the recommended best
practices under the Corporate Governance Code and give considered
reasons for any deviation.
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Company Secretary

The secretary of the Company is Mr. Ho Yuk Ming Hugo, who was
appointed on 11 November 2021. Mr. Ho has been informed of the
requirement of the Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. Mr. Ho has
informed the Company that he took more than 15 hours of training
covering corporate governance and accounting matters. The
Company considers that the training of the company secretary is in
compliance with the requirements under Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board, supported by the chief financial officer and the finance
department, is responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements of the Company and the Group for each financial year
which shall give a true and fair view of the financial position,
performance and cash flow of the Company and its subsidiaries for
that year. The Board is not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The responsibilities of Ernst & Young, the Company’s external
auditors, on the financial statements are set out in the section
headed “Independent Auditors’ Report” in this annual report.

Auditor’'s Remuneration

The audit committee of the Board is responsible for making
recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment
and removal of the authorised external auditors and to approve the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors, and
any questions of resignation or dismissal of the external auditors. The
Company engages Ernst & Young as its external auditors. Details of
the fees paid/payable to Ernst & Young for the year ended 31
December 2024 are as follows.
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RMB’000

ARBT T

Audit services EBIZRT 2,336
Non-audit services (note) IEERE (Mat) 412
Total et 2,748
Note: The non-audit services cover the review of unaudited interim financial — f7i# : JEBRZRREBEBH AL EZ T ETHEER -

information.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board recognises its overall responsibility for maintaining
adequate systems of internal control and risk management of the
Company and reviewing their effectiveness on an ongoing basis. The
Board is committed to implementing an effective and sound internal
control and risk management to safeguard the interest of
Shareholders and the Company’s assets. In addition, the audit
committee also has the responsibility for reviewing and assessing the
Group's risk management and internal control systems.

The Group’s internal control and risk management systems are
featured with a defined management structure with limits of
authority and well-rounded policies and procedures, and are
designed, in consideration of the nature of business as well as the
organisation structure, to facilitate effective and efficient operations,
to ensure reliability of financial reporting and compliance with
applicable laws and regulations, to identify and manage potential
risks, and to safeguard assets of the Group. Such systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

During the year of 2024, the Company has adopted the following
policies and procedures and taken the following measures to improve
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group.

In a bid to further improve the establishment of the existing risk
management and internal control system of the Company in relation
to, among others, the business operation, finance and compliance,
during the year of 2024, the Company took certain measures to
identify, evaluate, and manage the significant risks associated with
the achievement of its operational objectives. For example, the senior
management of the Group reviewed and evaluated the internal
control and risk management process, monitored any risk factors on
a regular basis, and reported to the Board on any findings and
measures taken to address such variances and identified risks. The
Board, with the assistance of the senior management of the
Company, also conducted regular surveys and on-site interviews with
the senior management of the Group and business representatives of
the suppliers and customers to check and monitor the potential risks
associated with the business operation and financial management of
the Group.

Meanwhile, with the assistance of the professional auditor, the audit
committee supervised the Company’s revenue and expenditure for
the financial and economic activities, to further strengthen the
functions of risk management, to ensure the effective
implementation of risk management and internal control system and
the Company’s standardised operation and healthy development.
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With the integration of the real situation of the Company and various
applicable laws and regulations, the management of the Company
can act in concert with such to develop solutions towards the risks,
to organise the business operation systematically, and to monitor and
mitigate possible risks. The Company also formulated and distributed
certain internal policies to require all staff of the Group to comply
with these internal risk management and internal control standards,
and together build a regulatory environment of risk control and
standardised operation. In addition, the Company has also
established policies and procedures with clear segregation of duties
applicable to certain operating units to ensure the effectiveness of
risk management and internal controls. The day-to-day operation is
also entrusted to the individual department, which is accountable for
its own conduct and performance, and is required to strictly adhere
to the policies set by the Board or the audit committee. This process
was in place throughout 2020 and is subject to continuous
improvement.

The Board and management held its half-year and annual review of
internal control and risk management as required under C.2.1 of the
Corporate Governance Code. The audit committee meetings provided
an opportunity for direct communication between audit committee
members and the Company’s management and internal audit
manager. The Company regarded the annual audit committee
meeting as an important event in which the chairman and all
members of audit committee would make an effort to attend.
External auditors were also invited to attend the Company’s audit
committee meetings and were also available to assist the Directors in
addressing queries from external auditors relating to the conduct of
the audit and the preparation and content of their auditor report.
The Directors have also reviewed the need for an internal audit
function and are of the view that it would be more cost effective to
recruit professionals to perform internal audit functions for the
Group. Currently an in-house internal audit function was set up
within the Group to review its systems of internal controls and risk
management annually.

The Company has also provided inside information training courses
to the Directors and senior management of the Company to ensure
that all relevant facts and circumstances that may have material
effect on the share price of the Company is assessed in a timely
manner and that any material information which comes to the
knowledge of any one or more officers of the Group be promptly
identified, assessed and, if appropriate, escalated for the attention of
the Board to determine whether a disclosure is required.

During the year of 2024, the Board, with the assistance of the audit
committee, has conducted reviews of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Company for twice and considered
the risk management and internal control systems of the Company
are adequate and being implemented effectively. Such review covered
all material controls, financial, compliance and operational controls
as well as risk management mechanisms.
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The Board, with the assistance of the audit committee, has also
reviewed and was satisfied with the adequacy of the Company’s
resources, the staff’s qualifications and experience, the training
courses and the related budgets in accounting, internal review and
financial reporting functions.

INVESTOR AND SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS

The Company endeavors to continue maintaining a high level of
transparency in communicating with Shareholders and the investment
community at large. Briefings and meetings with institutional
investors and analysts are conducted regularly. The Company is
committed to maintain an open and effective investor communication
policy and to update investors on relevant information on its business
on a timely manner, subject to relevant regulatory requirements.

In order to ensure effective, clear and accurate communications with
the investors and analysts, all corporate communications are arranged
and handled by the chief financial officer of the Company.

The Board reviews the shareholders’ communication policy on a
regular basis to ensure its effectiveness, particularly with regards to
the requirements of Part 2 in the Corporate Governance Code. The
Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
shareholders’ communication policy during its meetings, and are of
the view that the shareholders’ communication policy has been
effectively implemented and that the dissemination of information to
the Shareholders’ were effective based on the measures adopted
above.

Financial information and all shareholder corporate communications
of the Company are made available on the Company’s website at
http://www.neo-neon.com and updated regularly on a timely basis.

The Board and management shall ensure Shareholders’ right and all
Shareholders are treated equitably and fairly.

The Company has announced its half-year and annual results in a
timely manner, which is well before the time limits set out in the
Listing Rules. Separate resolutions will be proposed at the general
meetings on each substantially separate issue, including the
re-election of individual Directors.

The annual general meeting will provide an opportunity for direct
communication between the Board and the Company’s Shareholders.
The Company regards the annual general meeting as an important
event in which the chairman and all Directors will make an effort to
attend. External auditors shall also be invited to attend the
Company’s annual general meeting and are also available to assist
the Directors in addressing queries from Shareholders relating to the
conduct of the audit and the preparation and content of their auditor
report. All Shareholders are given prior notice on timely basis
together with a detailed agenda. The Board, according to the Listing
Rules, will conduct voting at the forthcoming AGM by poll. The
results of the Company will be declared at the meeting, and
announced timely on the Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company’s website.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
TEREBRHRE (F)

SHAREHOLDERS'’ RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting and putting forward
proposals at shareholders’ meeting

Shareholder(s) holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition (the “Requisition”) to the
Board or the company secretary to require an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in the Requisition. The Requisition shall be deposited at the
principal place of business in Hong Kong (Unit 3405, 34/F., 118
Connaught Road West, Hong Kong). The extraordinary general
meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of the
Requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of deposit of the
Requisition, the Board fails to proceed to convene the extraordinary
general meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so
in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures by which enquiries may be put to the
Board

Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board through Mr. Ho
Yuk Ming Hugo or Ms. Zhang Yuanyuan who will direct the enquiries
to the Board for handling. The contact details are as follows:

Address: Unit 3405, 34/F., 118 Connaught Road West,
Hong Kong

Email: investors@neo-neon.com

Tel No.: (852) 2786 2133

Fax No.: (852) 2786 2479

FAMILY MEMBERS AND CLOSE PERSONAL
RELATIONSHIPS

The Board recognises that talents, relevant experience and skills are
the most important considerations in executive officers and staff
selection. It is the Group’s policy that job positions are filled by
suitably qualified candidates selected through internal promotions or
from the open market on the merits of qualification, experience,
skills and achievements. No employee is hired on account of family or
close personal connection to any Board member.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There has been no change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Basis of Preparation of This Report

Neo-Neon Holdings Limited (hereinafter referred to as “Neo-Neon”,
the “Company”, “"We", “Us” or “Our”) is always committed to
operating in a responsible and sustainable manner. To demonstrate
our efforts in fulfilling our environmental, social and governance
("ESG") responsibilities, we will articulate the environmental and
social impacts associated with our business and our response to the
impacts through this ESG Report.

This Report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Code (the “ESG Code”) (formerly known
as the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide) in
Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The disclosures comply with
the “comply or explain” requirements and the mandatory disclosure
requirements under the ESG Code.

In preparing the report, the Company has followed the reporting
principles of materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency as the
basis of preparation.

Materiality The Company has identified the materiality issues of
the Company through a materiality assessment and
has adopted the materiality issues identified by the
Board as the focus for the preparation of the Report.

The standards, methods, assumptions and conversion
factors used in the calculation of environmental data
have been disclosed in this Report.

Quantitative

Balance The Company provides an unbiased picture of both
positive and negative performance to ensure that the
content and data presented are balanced.

Consistency  The presentation of the Report remains largely
consistent with that of the previous year, with an
explanation of the changes in the reporting scope

and the statistical approach.

The contents and data disclosed in this Report are based on the
internal records and documents of the Company.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
R -HERERARE (&)

Reporting Period and Scope

This Report presents the policies, performance and relevant key
performance indicators (“KPI”) of Neo-Neon in respect of
environmental, social and sustainable development from 1 January
2024 to 31 December 2024 (“Year 2024" or the “Year”). The scope
of this Report covers the principal businesses of the Company,
namely the lighting business. We will constantly review our reporting
scope based on business changes.

ESG MANAGEMENT

ESG Governance Structure

Neo-Neon fully understands that effective ESG governance is an
essential foundation for achieving sustainable development of the
Company. Therefore, we continue to improve our ESG governance
structure, integrate social responsibility management into our daily
operation management, and clarify the rights and responsibilities at
all levels to ensure the thorough execution and realisation of ESG
work and actively fulfill our corporate social responsibility while
developing our business.

As the highest decision-making body, in addition to being responsible
for the overall business decision-making and leading the robust
development of the business, the Board also has full responsibility for
the Company’s ESG strategy and reporting. In order to integrate
sustainable development into corporate governance and daily
operations more effectively, we have the Environmental, Social and
Governance Working Committee (the “ESG Working Committee”) in
place to assist the Board in managing ESG matters, including climate
change, occupational health and safety, among others. Through the
Terms of Reference of the Environmental, Social and Governance
Working Committee, the Board authorises the ESG Working
Committee to convey ESG-related instructions, and the ESG Working
Committee reports directly to the Board.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

The ESG Working Committee consists of six members, including one
executive Director, vice president, chief financial officer, and several
management members from ESG-related functional departments,
including Operation Department, General Management Department
and Finance Department. As a management-level taskforce, the ESG
Working Committee is responsible for promoting the Company’s ESG
initiatives, collecting and calculating ESG key performance indicators,
and monitoring and reporting on ESG-related matters of the
Company’s principal businesses and operations. At the same time,
the ESG Working Committee also organises regular meetings to
identify, evaluate and monitor the Company’s ESG risks, review the
implementation and effectiveness of the Company’s internal control
system, as well as evaluate the ESG performance and the progress
towards relevant targets of the Company.

ESG Working
Committee
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
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Each subsidiary submits progress updates on different issues,
including ESG, to the chief executive officer where necessary to
ensure effective monitoring of ESG-related issues, ESG performance
and target progress. At the same time, the ESG Working Committee
of the Company reviews the ESG report every year to ensure the
comprehensive disclosure of the Company’s ESG work and
performance.

To ensure that our ESG and social responsibility principles are fully
exercised at all levels, we have established a comprehensive social
responsibility management system in accordance with national labour
regulations and SA8000 international standards. The social
responsibility management system is led by the social responsibility
manager, a senior management appointed by the Company, who will
lead and carry out social responsibility work in collaboration with
various functional departments. The SA8000 Social Accountability
Management Manual (the “Management Manual”) specifies the
framework and code of conduct of our social responsibility
management system. We will update the Management Manual in a
timely manner in line with our development direction and strategy in
order to further improve our environmental and social management.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Stakeholder Engagement

Neo-Neon regards the expectations and opinions of our stakeholders
on environmental, social and corporate governance as the key to
long-term corporate development. We attach great importance to
the communication with our stakeholders and establish various
channels to maintain close contact, ensuring that their opinions and
needs are understood and responded to in a timely and
comprehensive manner. Through an effective communication
platform, we build a win-win relationship of mutual trust with our
stakeholders and actively inform and receive feedbacks on our ESG
efforts from various stakeholders, thereby continuously enhancing
our ability to meet our environmental and social responsibilities.
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RIE-HEREAR

Materiality Assessment

wmE (&)

In order to effectively prioritise material ESG issues, we review the
results of our current materiality assessments as necessary to ensure
that our material ESG issues are in line with stakeholder expectations,
the Company’s operating conditions, market trends and the latest
laws and regulations, and to accurately reflect the environmental and
social issues of concern to our stakeholders. Based on the results of
the materiality analysis in previous years, we reviewed the priority of
ESG issues by benchmarking the international sustainability reporting
guidelines and based on the Company’s business development

through the following process:

Inviting senior executives to conduct
interviews to understand the current
development focus of the Company and

the management’s views on the materiality of
ESG issues

BHERRRELTHA
ATEEMARMBERE
DIAREREHESGHE
EZUNEE

Benchmarking the material ESG issues
identified by industry peers and referring
to the international industry guidelines
for sustainable development to propose
amendments to the original list of

ESG issues
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Revising the priority of the material
ESG issues based on the views of
senior executives and the proposed
amendments to the list of issues, and
presenting to the Board for final
confirmation

FAREBRAREESE

Review Process of Material ESG Issues of Neo-Neon
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Since there was no major change in the principal lighting business
during the Year, the materiality matrix of ESG issues for the previous
year continued to be applicable.
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Importance to Stakeholders
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Occupational Health and Safety e Code of Conduct and Business Ethics
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e Use of Natural Resources e Anti-Corruption
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* Greenhouse Gas Reduction * Procurement Practice
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e Avoidance of Child and Forced Labour e Waste Discharge Management
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e Contribution to Society e Green and Innovative Products
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Issues of High Importance
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Protection of Consumer Rights
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Protection of Intellectual Property
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e Product Quality and Safety
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e Energy Efficiency Enhancement
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e Product Recall Mechanism
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PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY
Green and Innovative Products

Management and control of hazardous substances

We are a manufacturer of lighting products. Our export markets,
such as the European Union, have extremely strict environmental and
safety requirements for electronic equipment such as lighting
products. Therefore, we have formulated hazardous substance
management procedures based on the European Union’s RoHS
(Restriction of Hazardous Substances) Directive and customer
requirements. We conduct risk assessment on the chemicals and
other hazardous substances used in the production process according
to relevant procedures to ensure that our products comply with
regulatory and customer requirements for the management of
hazardous substances.

Energy conservation of products

In addition to promoting energy saving and emission reduction in our
business operations, we are also actively developing more advanced,
energy-efficient and environmentally friendly products. We aim to
minimise the environmental impact of our business and products to
meet the needs of society and our customers for energy saving and
emission reduction by regarding energy saving as a key objective in
product design.

Product Quality and Safety and Recall Mechanism

Product safety is one of our focus concerns. To effectively monitor
product safety, quality and compliance, the Company has established
a dedicated team and has obtained ISO9001 quality management
system certification.

The Production Planning Procedures, Production and Service Provision
Process Control Procedures and Product Prevention and Control
Procedures establish baseline requirements for production quality to
strictly control the quality of the products delivered from both
professional and customer perspectives. Our quality assurance
procedures are stringent, with strict quality control, monitoring and
inspection and reliability testing covering raw and auxiliary materials,
production processes and outgoing products, so as to ensure that
our products comply with all applicable safety and quality
requirements.
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We have established a sound product recall system through a series
of management and control documents such as Product Hazard and
Risk Management Procedures, Unqualified Product Control Program
and Procedures for Non-compliance, Correction and Prevention
Measures. In the event that any product fails to meet the
requirements for function and hazardous substance content,
customers can return the defective products to the factories for
repair during the warranty period.

During the Year, there was no case where products sold by the
Company were subject to recall for safety and health reasons, and no
fines or prosecutions were imposed on the Company for
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations.

OPERATING PRACTICES

As one of the world’s leading lighting manufacturers, Neo-Neon
always regards quality as the core of sustainable business
development. Our professional team, comprising the Marketing
Department, R&D Engineering Department, Procurement Department,
Production Department and Quality Control Department, strictly
monitors the entire production chain from raw material procurement
to after-sales service and strives to uphold the quality and safety of
our products.

To further optimise product quality management and enhance the
sustainability of the supply chain, we have also established a close
working relationship with our suppliers to ensure that their
performance is up to standard. We adhere to the principles of
“honesty, integrity and lawfulness” and strictly prohibit any corrupt
practices to ensure the efficient operation of the entire value chain.

Anti-corruption

Integrity is one of the integral elements for the stable development
of enterprises. Neo-Neon operates its business based on the principles
of honesty, ethics and adherence to integrity, and strictly complies
with the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Interim Provisions on Banning Commercial Bribery and
other regulations relating to anti-corruption. We have strictly
complied with and implemented the Anti-fraud Management System
and the Anti-Corruption and Integrity Policy to eradicate illegal acts
of bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering through
standardised systems and measures.

@ Neo-Neon Holdings Limited e Annual Report 2024
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

We have clearly stated our anti-corruption principles in our
Anti-Corruption and Integrity Policy and adopted a zero-tolerance
approach to any form of corruption. In order to prevent corruption at
source, we encourage stakeholders, including employees at all levels,
suppliers and customers, to report suspicious cases, once found, to
the Company in a timely manner through established reporting
procedures. At the same time, we have provided clear guidelines to
our employees in the Anti-Fraud Management System, including the
definition of the concept and forms of fraud, the responsible unit for
anti-fraud, as well as the corresponding preventive and control
measures. Moreover, we provide anti-corruption training to our
Board members and employees every year, distribute anti-corruption
learning materials to employees and require them to study the
materials carefully in order to enhance the anti-corruption awareness
of our employees at different levels as well as their ability to identify
suspicious behaviours.

Number of personnel
received anti-corruption
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During the Year, there were no legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against Neo-Neon or its employees, nor was there
any violation of relevant laws and regulations.
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Procurement Practices and Standardised Supplier
Management

As a company mainly engaging in lighting business, suppliers play an
inextricable part in our business operation. Therefore, under the
framework of the SA8000 social accountability management system,
we have complied with and implemented a series of systems,
including the Neo-Neon Holdings Limited Administrative Measures for
Procurement (“Administrative Measures for Procurement”), Neo-Neon
Holdings Limited Administrative Measures for Supervision of
Procurement (“Administrative Measures for Supervision of
Procurement”), Neo-Neon Holdings Limited Administrative Measures
for Non-tendering Procurement, Neo-Neon Holdings Limited
Administrative Measures for Suppliers and Neo-Neon Holdings Limited
Administrative Measures for Tendering. We review and update such
systems from time to time, to regulate the procurement process and
ensure the quality of raw materials and products from our suppliers,
thereby managing environmental and social risks in our supply chain.

We conduct procurement in accordance with the control measures
over the procurement process stated in the Administrative Measures
for Procurement to ensure that all products we purchase meet the
required standards. The entire operating system for procurement is
managed by the head procurement office, which includes personnel
management and supervision, maintenance of the procurement
system and the aggregation of relevant data. In addition, the head
procurement office is also responsible for coordinating departments
and factories in the development of novel materials or new suppliers,
and guides them in the supplier evaluation and selection process.

We have specified the supplier selection and review mechanism in
the Administrative Measures for Supervision of Procurement, whereby
new suppliers are subject to the approval by the Procurement
Department in conjunction with the Quality Department, Engineering
Department and other relevant departments. In selecting suppliers,
we will take into account their past performance in fulfilling social
responsibilities and select products and services that minimise
potential environmental impact. To reduce the potential
environmental and social risks in the supply chain, we require all
potential suppliers to complete a series of qualification questionnaires
during the assessment process, including the Supplier Quality System
Questionnaire, Hazardous Substance Control System Questionnaire,
Environmental and Occupational Health and Safety Questionnaire,
Mandatory Product Certification and Factory Quality Assurance
Requirements Questionnaire and Quality Requirements Questionnaire
of Social Responsibility Questionnaire. In addition, suppliers shall
provide the Annual Quality Guarantee, Hazardous Substance Free
(“HSF") Product Commitment and HSF Product Testing Report to
ensure their product quality management, as well as environmental
and health and safety management capabilities meet the
requirements of relevant regulations and standards.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

We encourage our suppliers to continuously improve their
performance of environmental and social responsibilities, and have
specified the environmental protection and occupational health and
safety requirements on each raw material and service supplier
through the Management Procedures for the Impact Imposed on the
Environmental and OHS (Occupational Health and Safety) Behaviors
of Related Parties. To ensure that the concept of sustainability is
embedded throughout Neo-Neon’s supply chain, we actively support
our suppliers to enhance their ability to fulfill their environmental and
social responsibilities. Our Equipment Department and Procurement
Department are responsible for organising supplier assessments, and
environmental and safety related training and assessments, as well as
arranging for different departments to educate relevant suppliers
according to the types of services they provide. For those suppliers
that need particular work, the Equipment Department and
Procurement Department organise relevant departments to track and
inspect the environmental and OHS behaviours of such suppliers from
time to time, and require those who do not meet our requirements
to make rectifications.

During the Year, we had a total of 436 suppliers, of which 56.2%
were located in the PRC, and 43.8% were overseas suppliers.
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Protection of Intellectual Property

Neo-Neon considers intellectual property rights as one of its most
valuable assets and attaches great importance to the protection and
management of intellectual property rights. While actively promoting
innovative research and development, the Company also attaches
great importance to the protection of its own technological
innovation achievements and brand-related intangible assets such as
trademarks, patents and copyrights. We strictly comply with laws and
regulations relating to intellectual property rights and has regulated
the management of intellectual property through the Administrative
Measures for Intellectual Property, and encourage employees to
actively propose innovative ideas.

The Standard Patent Group is responsible for the centralised
application and registration for intellectual property rights of the
Company, validity extension, data update and combating
infringement of the Company’s intellectual properties as required.
We have continuously refined and standardised intellectual property
management system, and have established specific procedures for
the ownership, registration, management and maintenance of
intellectual properties and the rewarding procedures for intellectual
property inventions. In order to continuously raise our level of
management for the protection of intellectual property rights, the
Quality Department and the Standard Patent Group, together with
other relevant departments, make assessment on the compliance
with laws and regulations that contain the provisions regarding
intellectual property semiannually, in accordance with the Collection
and Evaluation Procedures for Laws and Regulations, to identify
potential areas for improvement.

Customer Service and Protection of Consumer Rights

Neo-Neon understands that customer satisfaction is the key to
long-term business success and is committed to providing a quality
service experience to our customers. To this end, we have constantly
improved the service quality to ensure the timely replies to and
proper handling of customer feedbacks as required by the Customer
Satisfaction Measurement Procedures and the Procedures for
Customer-Related Process Control.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

We handle customer complaints according to the procedures in the
Customer Satisfaction Measurement Procedures set out below and
require the unit(s) concerned to provide feedback on customers’
comments within 24 hours and to respond in writing within 5
working days with effective improvement actions.

1. after receiving a customer complaint, the Marketing Department
communicates with the customer and keeps a record of the
complaint according to the Procedures for Customer-Related
Process Control;

2. the complaint is then passed to the Quality Department for
follow-up to verify the quality of the customer’s product and the
return application;

3. the Production Department is responsible for assisting in the
analysis and review of customer complaints, and for
collaborating in the formulation of improvement and preventive
measures.

During the Year, the number of complaint cases received by
Neo-Neon about our products and services was 26. We take each
and every complaint seriously and have handled them properly in
accordance with established procedures.

Neo-Neon also attaches high importance to the protection of
customer information and privacy, and strictly complies with laws
and regulations relating to privacy matters of products and services.
As our business involves customer information, we have complied
with and implemented the Administrative Measures for Information
System of the Company relating to the standards on use of
computers, networks, mailboxes and etc. with reference to the
Cybersecurity Law of the People’s Republic of China to regulate the
operation and use of electronic systems by our employees when
accessing to customer information. At the same time, we verify, store
and maintain personal information provided by customers in
accordance with the Customer Property Control Procedures to ensure
that the security of their personal information and privacy are fully
safeguarded. In addition, we have installed anti-virus and
anti-malware programs on all systems to prevent data leakage due to
cyber attacks.

During the Year, there were no instances in the Company which
caused a leakage of customer privacy or personal information.
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PEOPLE MANAGEMENT

Neo-Neon regards employees as our partners and the most important
asset. Therefore, we insist on a people-oriented talent management
model, and are committed to providing a safe and harmonious
working environment for our employees. By continuously improving
the remuneration and benefit protection of employees, providing
diversified career development opportunities for employees, and
protecting the rights and interests of employees, we actively attract
and retain talents and seek mutual development with employees.

Employees’ Benefits and Rights

Neo-Neon strictly complies with laws and regulations relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination,
and other benefits and welfare and adheres to the principles of
fairness, equitableness and transparency in recruiting and retaining
talents. We are committed to protecting the rights and interests of
our employees in accordance with the Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Social Security Law of the People’s Republic of
China and other related regulations as well as the SA8000 social
accountability system. We have strictly implemented a series of
personnel management system in house including Attendance
Management System, Compensation and Benefits Management
System, Performance Appraisal Management System, Labour
Contract Management System, Personnel Change Management
System and Reward and Punishment Management System, and
updated and published the Administrative Measures for Performance
Appraisal during the Year, to further regulate salary, remuneration
and benefit polices.

Adhering to the salary distribution principle of “complying with the
laws, distributing according to work, providing equal pay for equal
work, gradually improving and purchasing social insurance according
to the laws”, and with reference to the guidelines of the Management
Manual and Compensation and Benefits Management System, we
attract and retain talents with favourable compensations and benefits,
people-oriented management philosophy, fair and comprehensive
evaluation and promotion system. To ensure that our remuneration
and benefits comply with local regulations and SA8000 standards, we
continuously review the competitiveness of our employees’
remuneration levels and include in the Staff Manual a provision for
annual pay adjustments based on employees’ performance and merits.
At the same time, we ensure the legal compliance of Neo-Neon in all
aspects of salary distribution and payment through the Salary
Management System. In addition, we also set out the rules and
regulations on promotion, appraisal, reward and punishment
management in the Staff Manual, Attendance Management System,
Reward and Punishment Management System and other documents
to provide clear promotion and development paths for our employees.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

We conduct monthly, quarterly and annual assessments on our
employees’ capabilities and qualities, and based on the results of such
assessments, we promote or downgrade employees to appropriate
positions and adjust their salaries in accordance with the criteria such
as their corresponding ranks.

In addition to offering reasonable and competitive salaries, we have
established a comprehensive welfare system to provide diversified
benefits and incentives to our employees, including full-attendance
bonus, post allowance, etc. In addition to statutory holidays,
employees are also entitled to marriage leave, maternity leave, work
injury leave, bereavement leave and paid annual leave to meet their
needs in life. Employees are entitled to overtime pay in accordance
with the Compensation and Benefits Management System and we
provide living allowances for staff working in the factory and
travelling on business trips. Furthermore, we offer employee
dormitories and staff canteens. In addition, we actively improve the
conditions of canteens and rest and recreation facilities. We also
have dedicated places for employees to eat and rest, provide fitness
place and equipment, and regularly organise various activities for
employees, including team building activities and themed events
organised by the labour union, so as to enhance employees’ cohesion
and sense of belonging.

We spare no effort to protect the rights and interests of our
employees. To ensure that employees are well familiar with their
rights and obligations, the Staff Manual has set out guidelines on
recruitment and employment, code of conduct of employees and
termination of labour contracts, as well as the requirements for
working hours. We provide compensatory time off or overtime pay
for employees who work overtime in accordance with relevant
requirements to ensure that they are reasonably rewarded for their
efforts.

We advocate in creating a diverse and respectful working
environment, firmly oppose any form of discrimination, and strive to
provide an inclusive, safe, diverse and anti-discriminatory work
environment for employees of all backgrounds. We treat and respect
candidates and employees equally regardless of race, gender, age
and marital status, and consider only their ability and suitability for
the position, striving to ensure that the recruitment and promotion
process is free from discrimination. Meanwhile, to eliminate all
potential discrimination, we have established a grievance and
complaint mechanism for whistleblowers to make complaints about
discrimination to worker representatives, supervisors and general
managers. Upon receipt of such complaints, we will appoint
personnel other than the employees involved to investigate and take
corrective action.
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As of 31 December 2024, the Company had a total of 453
employees, representing a decrease of 4% as compared to last year,
which remained stable generally. We will continue to flexibly
optimize our organizational structure and staffing in accordance with
business development needs. The employee composition and
turnover rate are shown in the following table:

HE2024F128318 » KRA A H A8 IT453
A BEFAKRMBLR V4%  BEKRFE
T BRPBHEREEBEREREZEL
HEBEBFMABEE - BIRBKRRRERE

IR KRR

Category Number in 2024 Turnover Rate
20245 A8 ARE
By gender Male employees 176 17%
bcq il FtEE
Female employees 277 1%
ZHREE
By age 30 or below 25 51%
RFHe 30BRA TR
31-50 353 12%
31-505%
51 or above 75 5%
515%A
By employee type Full-time employees 453 14%
REMBERAS THRES
Contracted/non-official employees 0 0%
BH,/FEREE
By region Mainland China
i@ R B K e
Southern China 38 7%
Eastern China 6 0%
=55
Northern China 6 20%
ik
Central China 35 3%
e
Overseas
2N
Vietnam 226 18%
i
USA 132 12%
XEE
Other Overseas Regions 10 9%
HAh/GINE
Overall turnover rate 14%

ERRKX

During the Year, the Company was not aware of any employee
complaint regarding harassment (including sexual harassment),
corporal punishment, abuse and inappropriate punitive measures,
and there were no disputes in respect of compensation payment.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Occupational Health and Safety

Employees are the cornerstone of the steady development of
Neo-Neon. Therefore, we are committed to protecting the health and
safety of our employees and creating a safe and comfortable working
environment for them. In addition to strictly complying with the
Production Safety Law of the People’'s Republic of China and other
occupational health and safety-related laws and regulations, we
make reference to the OHSAS18001 Occupational Health and Safety
Management System and SA8000 Social Accountability System
standards to formulate and implement our safety and health policies
and procedures, so as to ensure that production are carried out on
the premise that the safety as well as the physical and mental health
of our employees are protected.

Workplace safety

The Company places a high priority on safety in the production
process and has adopted a number of measures to minimise potential
safety and health risks, and has set out the following annual safety
targets in the Management Manual:

e  zero major workplace accidents each year; and
e All staff sign a letter of production safety responsibility.

The OHS Operation Control Procedures clearly specifies the division
of responsibilities for production safety of each unit in order to
ensure the effective implementation of various safety measures. The
management of occupational health and safety risk factors is carried
out by the Industrial Safety Committee in collaboration with the
Engineering Department, Equipment Department, Testing Centre and
other relevant departments. At the same time, the Industrial Safety
Committee is also required to work with the Production Centre and
Quality Centre to organise hazard identification, risk evaluation and
risk control planning in accordance with the Procedures for Hazard
Identification, Risk Evaluation and Risk Control Planning. We will tag
the high-risk sources identified in the production process as the
Company’s major hazards, and develop and adopt mitigation and
improvement measures accordingly. If it is difficult to mitigate the
hazard in the short term, we will take appropriate safety measures,
equip employees with protective gears and provide training and
operational guidance to relevant operating personnel in order to
minimise safety risks.
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In addition to eliminating and mitigating the risk factors in the
production process, we also actively provide workplace safety courses
for employees to raise their awareness of workplace safety and
prevent accidents from happening. We arrange additional
professional trainings on safety technologies for all personnel
engaged in special types of work such as boilers, pressure vessels,
elevators, electric, lifting, welding, vehicle driving, flammables and
explosives, and require such personnel to pass the strict examinations
conducted by the competent national authority. Such personnel may
independently operate related devices only after obtaining a qualified
operating certificate or related licence. In addition, our Emergency
Preparedness and Response Procedures covers emergency response
plans for potential hazards such as fires and natural disasters, so as
to ensure that personnel are able to respond promptly in the event of
an emergency.

During the Year, the lost days due to work injury of the Company
was zero. During the Year, the Company was not aware of any
significant occupational health and safety violations relating to the
Company. Moreover, the Company had no work-related fatalities
over the past three years, including the current financial year.

Occupational health

In addition to ensuring the safety of our employees, Neo-Neon is also
concerned about the occupational health of our employees. We
continuously monitor and improve occupational health and safety
performance by setting out the guiding principle of “providing
employees with a safe and comfortable working and living
environment” in the Management Manual, and strictly complying
with the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention
and Control of Occupational Diseases and other relevant laws and
regulations. To further regulate occupational health management,
we have established a comprehensive occupational health
management system aiming at zero occupational disease incidence
rate based on the OHS Operation Control Procedures and with
reference to the OHSAS18001 Occupational Health and Safety
Management System and SA8000 Social Accountability System
standards, so as to protect the physical and mental health of our
employees.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

We adhere to occupational health and safety policy and have set up
the Industrial Safety Committee to organise the establishment of
occupational health and safety control points in all departments. In
addition to inspecting the operation of their respective production
environment, the Industrial Safety Committee also provides labour
protection equipment to the employees in relevant positions. To
minimise the risk of accidents, we continuously monitor the
occupational health risks at each control point and arrange for
relevant departments to put up visible signs at workplaces with
significant potential accident risks.

Meanwhile, the Industrial Safety Committee conducts regular
inspections on the safety, health and hygiene operational controls of
all departments in accordance with the requirements of the OHS
Performance Measurement and Monitoring Control Procedures. We
require the relevant departments to be subject to a full inspection by
the Quality Department on a three-monthly basis in relation to its
safety, health and hygiene operational controls to further ensure the
effective implementation of occupational health management. We
will record the results of these inspections in the Operational Control
Monitoring Chart. If the control of any department does not meet
the required standards, we will require it to make improvements in
accordance with the Control of Non-compliance, Remedial, Corrective
and Preventive Actions Procedure.

By establishing a comprehensive health examination mechanism and
providing occupational health examinations for our employees, we
aim to minimise the health risks they are exposed to. We will arrange
regular health examinations for all personnel participating in
specialised operations and workers exposed to toxic and hazardous
substances, and transfer the relevant personnel if adverse health
conditions are found. If an employee is diagnosed with an
occupational disease, we will follow the requirements of the
Occupational Disease Management Ordinance and promptly report
the case to the competent government administrative department
and arrange specialised treatment for the patient until he/she
recovers or is stabilised.

Employee Training and Development

The continuous development and growth of our employees is an
important factor in maintaining the sustainable development of the
Company. To this end, we continue to invest in the learning and
development of our employees to nurture the best talents for the
Company.
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In order to meet the development needs of the Company and our
employees, we specify the requirements and types of training for our
employees in the training section of Staff Manual, including a full
range of vocational training such as pre-employment training, skills
training and outplacement training. In addition, we have
implemented the Human Resource and Training Program
Documentation and Training Management System, and established
sound training management regulations, systems and mechanisms in
line with the strategic planning and business operation needs of the
Company.

The Education and Training Centre draws up an Annual Training Plan
with reference to the Job Descriptions compiled by the Human
Resources Department in order to provide more targeted training to
staff in various functional departments, such as relevant theoretical
and practical training on production, quality, administration,
engineering and technology, as well as special work types for
in-service staff. The departmental heads track and evaluate staff
training results through theoretical examination, operation
examination, performance appraisal and observation at the end of
training to ensure the effectiveness of training. To further enhance
the quality of training content, we also seek training feedback and
suggestions from all departments at the end of the year to review the
training program for the current year and also serve as the basis for
the preparation of the training program for the following year.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

During the Year, a total of 391 Neo-Neon employees attended
training, with a total of 1,173 hours. The training covered areas such
as professional financial skills, auditing, practical guidelines on
corruption prevention systems for listed companies, anti-corruption
and whistleblowing policy training. The following is a breakdown of
the percentage of employees trained and the average number of
training hours by gender and employee category:
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Average
Total training hours
Number of Percentage of training completed per
employees employees hours employee
Category trained trained’ (hour) (hour)?
EYET
BRI FHIIER
P ZHAZ 3 5l b &1 () ()2
By gender Male 182 47 % 546 3
=R St
Female 209 53% 627 3
gegid
By employee category = Managerial 23 6% 276 12
ZES BRI EEE
Non-managerial 368 94% 897 2
FERE
Avoidance of Child and Forced Labour BREFEHEIRRBESSH

As a responsible employer, Neo-Neon attaches great importance to
labour rights and interests in employment management, strictly
abides by relevant laws and regulations, such as the Labour Law of
the People’s Republic of China, the Labour Contract Law of the
People’s Republic of China and the Social Security Law of the
People’s Republic of China, as well as international labour standards,
and strictly prohibits the employment of child labour or labour
exploitation. In order to promote the sustainable development of our
supply chain, we also require our suppliers to adopt and comply with
the same requirements.

1 The percentage of employees trained is calculated based on “the number of
employees trained by employee category or gender divided by the total number
of employees trained”.

2 The average training hours completed per employee is calculated based on “the
total training hours completed by employee category or by gender divided by
the number of employees trained by employee category or by gender”.
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We have complied with and implemented management systems such
as the Child Labour Rescue Procedures, Labour and Business Ethics
Risk Management Procedures and Non-obligatory Work Procedures
with reference to the SA8000 social accountability management
system to ensure that all employees are age-appropriate for work and
that working hours are managed in accordance with legal
requirements. We also clearly set out targets for zero child labour
and punctual payment of wages to all employees in the Management
Manual.

We have strict policies and measures in place, such as the Policies
and Procedures of Human Resources Department, which require job
applicants to submit identification documents for identity verification
and age confirmation when filling out the Form of Job Application to
ensure that they are of legal working age and eligible for
employment, in order to eliminate all child labour, juvenile labour
and forced labour. We never employ anyone under the age of 16 in
our facilities in China. Employees must possess the required legal
permission to work in our facilities.

We are well aware of the seriousness of use of child labour and have
a Child Labour Rescue Procedures in place to deal with potential child
labour violations. Once a child labourer is found to have been
wrongly employed, the Employee Relationship Team of the Human
Resources Department will immediately terminate the employee’s
employment, settle the wages and arrange for the child labourer to
be escorted back to his or her original home. The procedures also
require the relevant departments to conduct a thorough investigation
into any irregularities in order to prevent the recurrence of similar
incidents in the future.

In order to avoid forced labour, the Company has the Labour and
Business Ethics Risk Evaluation Procedures in place based on the
guidelines of SA8000 standards. The Human Resources Department
and the Production Department evaluate the risk of illegal use of
child labour and forced labour with reference to the procedures to
ensure that no forced labour occurs in all employment sections.
Moreover, the Non-obligatory Work Procedures clearly stipulates that
“any form of forced labour is prohibited and the personal freedom of
workers is protected”. In the event of any non-compliance, the
Company will immediately investigate the cause thereof thoroughly
and provide compensation to the affected employees.

During the Year, the Company was not aware of any major violation
concerning the employment of child labour or forced labour, and
achieved the annual management targets of zero child labour and
timely salary payment.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITIES

Neo-Neon understands that it is the unshirkable responsibility of an
enterprise to combat climate change. We have been actively
incorporating sustainable development principle into our daily
operations to help mitigate the effects of climate change. As one of
the world’s largest lighting manufacturers, we aim to minimise the
potential impact of our business on the environment through
responsible procurement, innovative application of materials,
long-term product planning, manufacturing, research and
development.

By actively managing the consumption of fuel and water resources
and monitoring our greenhouse gas emissions and waste generation
throughout our operations, the Company ensures that all business
operations strictly comply with the Environmental Protection Law of
the People’s Republic of China, the Law of the People’s Republic of
China on Prevention and Control of Water Pollution, the Law of the
People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of
Atmospheric Pollution and other relevant laws and regulations
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water
and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous wastes.

We have established a comprehensive and solid environmental
management system to effectively manage our environmental
performance with reference to the requirements of the 1ISO14001
environmental management system. Meanwhile, we have actively
implemented a number of environmental policies and corresponding
procedures, such as the Waste Water and Waste Gas Emission and
Noise Control Management Procedures and the Resource and Energy
Saving Control Procedures, to regulate environmental management.
Moreover, we have set a series of environmental targets to facilitate
the continuous improvement of our environmental management,
ensuring that our operations comply with local laws and regulations
while meeting our customers’ needs for green consumption.

During the Year, the Company’s business operations did not cause
any significant pollution and damage to the air, land, water sources
and ecological environment in the vicinity, and the Group was not
aware of any major violation regarding environmental protection.

Unless otherwise stated, the information in this section is the
consolidated data for the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") lighting
segment (which consists of research and development, manufacture
of lighting products in the PRC and Vietnam and distribution of
lighting products in the PRC and overseas) and the United States of
America ("USA") lighting segment (which consists of the
manufacture and trading of lighting products in the USA). The
numbers stated in this chapter may not add up to totals or 100%
due to rounding.
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Waste Discharge Management

Waste management

A key objective of the Company’s environmental management system
is to minimise material consumption and waste generated in its
operations where possible, and we have adopted a number of waste
management measures to achieve this. We dispose of hazardous and
general waste in such way as specified by local laws and regulations
in each of our operating locations. The Company’s Environmental
Operation Control Procedure specifies various waste disposal
methods and enhances the management and control of waste
disposal. For wastes that cannot be avoided during our operations,
our employees will follow established procedures to recycle or
dispose of the wastes appropriately to minimise its impact on the
environment.

Hazardous waste

All departments are required to follow the guidelines as set forth in
the Hazardous Waste Management Procedures to properly classify,
collect and dispose of hazardous wastes, which include segregating
waste at prescribed locations. Then the head procurement office will
arrange for classification and disposal in a unified manner, and
commission qualified units with resources to handle and dispose of
the hazardous wastes in accordance with the regulations.

During the Year, we maintained the goal of “handling hazardous
waste in 100% compliance with laws and regulations” so as to
further improve our hazardous waste management system. To this
end, we provided training to relevant personnel, and the Company
has enhanced the awareness of waste separation, collection and
disposal, strictly complied with the Waste Control Procedures and the
Hazardous Chemicals Control Procedures to ensure that the
treatment of hazardous waste meets legal requirements, and had
storage areas for centralised storage of hazardous wastes.

In the Year 2024, we generated 3.1 kg of hazardous wastes,
representing an intensity of 4.2 kg/billion revenue. The hazardous
waste mainly includes waste engine oil, wipes for waste engine oil
and toner cartridges. During the Year, the total amount of hazardous
waste decreased by 96% as compared with the previous year, mainly
due to less toner cartridges being used as a result of the upgrading
of printing equipment and the use of ink printers.
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General waste

The main sources of our general waste are food waste from our
canteen and domestic waste generated by our departments. In the
office, we promote recycling and conservation awareness, encourage
our employees to replace disposable supplies with reusable products,
and have set up facilities and places for recycling recyclable wastes
such as waste paper to reduce general waste generated in the office.
In order to reduce food waste generation, we have strengthened our
procurement management to avoid wasteful purchase of excessive
food ingredients so as to reduce waste at source.

During the Year, the Company generated 175.5 tonnes of domestic
waste with an intensity of 235.2 tonnes/billion revenue. To ensure
proper disposal of waste, the domestic waste generated by various
departments is collected daily by full-time cleaners into domestic
garbage bins, which will then be transported by local sanitation
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Domestic waste Unit 2024 2023
AR IR By 20245 2023%F
Total tonnes 175.5 199.3
HEt N

Intensity tonnes/billion revenue 235.2 253.5
=E AWE/ HETTA

Greenhouse Gas Emissions Reduction RO BERBEHEK

In response to the global commitment and efforts to actively tackle EIRIERE H R AR FE AR OFE T -
climate change, China announced its carbon emission peak goal by EP.E%‘E"HEFH@% BIRE 3K 72030

2030 and carbon neutrality goal by 2060 at the 75™ session of the
United Nations General Assembly, guiding the green and low carbon
development in the country. The Company is in full support of the
carbon emission peak and carbon neutrality goals and incorporates
the risks and opportunities associated with climate change in its
internal risk management process, thereby enhancing corporate
competitiveness.
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Neo-Neon has an extensive distribution network around the world.
Climate risk is one of the emerging and important risks faced by the
Group's supply chain. In the event of disruptions to our
transportation and logistics networks due to extreme weather
conditions such as floods, severe typhoons and unusual heat waves,
our daily business operations would be significantly affected. We
plan to actively introduce internal policies and procedures in the
future and develop a comprehensive strategy to address the potential
impact of climate change in order to enhance climate resilience and
adaptability of the Company. On the other hand, in order to mitigate
the environmental impact of our business operations, we are already
working to reduce the intensity of greenhouse gas emissions in our
daily operations through a variety of energy saving and emission
reduction measures, striving to gradually enhance our ability to cope
with climate change and achieve sustainable development.

The greenhouse gas emissions in the Company’s business operations
are mainly generated from energy consumption in office,
transportation and production processes. For business units of which
the data is available, the greenhouse gas emissions of Scope 1 and
Scope 2 are reported as follows: Scope 1 emissions are from the
consumption of natural gas and fuels, and Scope 2 indirect emissions
are generated from purchased electricity. We continue to exert
efforts to extend the disclosure of information on greenhouse gas
emissions.

In 2024, the total greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1 and Scope 2)
produced by Neo-Neon were 1,713.0 metric tonnes of carbon dioxide
equivalent, a decrease of approximately 13% over last year, mainly
due to a decrease in natural gas, purchased electricity and less use of
diesel-driven vehicles. In the future, the Company will continue to
actively implement its carbon footprint reduction policy and explore
potential opportunities for emission reduction, contributing to the
global fight against climate change.
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fRE{LEEE N  BRAFEER -

ARREBELTHROEERBEIRRA
MAEREREMRE EWREETF - BAR
HBENXKENL  BREEE— 08
ERBHRENT  BE-—WNHFRKERA
RAPREFE - SE BB RUR B NE
BN - BMBEBESHBEREEAEREHN
BRI -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BR -HERERHRSE (&)

Greenhouse gas Unit 2024 2023
BERE B 20245 2023%F
Total amount Scope 13 tonnes CO2e 102.9 122.5
we FE—3 A _S(LIREE
Scope 24 1,610.1 1,844.4
#HE—
Total 1,713.0 1,966.9
At
Intensity Scope 1 tonnes CO2e/billion revenue 137.9 155.8
BE #HE— A S tIREE TEITIA
Scope 2 2, 1578 2,346.3
SE—
Total 2,295.8 2,502.1
e

Greenhouse gas emissions in Scope 1 are calculated in accordance with the
Guidelines to Account for and Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and
Removals for Buildings in Hong Kong (2010 Edition) issued by the Electrical
and Mechanical Services Department and the Environmental Protection
Department as well as the emission factors recently issued by the U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA).

The purchased electricity emissions in Scope 2 in 2024 are calculated with
reference to the Announcement Regarding the Release of the 2022 Electricity
Carbon Dioxide Emission Factors issued by the Ministry of Ecology and
Environment of the People’s Republic of China, and the emission factors
recently issued by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and the
Department of Climate Change (DCC) of Vietnam. The scope of data disclosure
of the Year has been expanded to include Scope 2 emissions from purchased
electricity of our subsidiary in Hong Kong, together with the restated
comparative data for 2023.

HE-MEEREFNRELETREERRER
EERMOCERZEMN R E R PR
Bz E M E 51D (20105F i) FEBE B K IB S
R B (EPA)R ¥ B M MV HE B F PrET &

204FHE SN BENHF RS2 EHREARLM
B A RE 3R 5% B &% 3 3 4 A0 (R TR 82420226 F )
“SEHmFREFHORE) BEERRERE
R (EPA)M . A 5 1 28 (L BB(DC C) & 7 3 1 10 B 1K
A8 -AFEETZHEREQT B8
NRIREIMNBEENNHEE —FRAARTEE
I #2023 R Bix—HE7 -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
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Air emissions

The Company’s major air emissions are a small amount of inorganic
dust and exhaust generated during the production processes such as
molding and welding, and the exhaust emitted by business vehicles.
During the Year, we maintained the target of “air emission
compliance” to strengthen the management of air emissions from
our production processes. We regularly maintain exhaust treatment
facilities and monitor air emissions to ensure that dust and exhaust
meet the emission standards.

Although the total amount of exhaust emitted by the Company’s
vehicles is not significant, we fully understand that vehicle emissions
are one of the major causes of air pollution. In order to help improve
air quality and to minimise vehicle emissions, the Company’s vehicles
with high exhaust emissions and low fuel efficiency have been
phased out in recent years. Moreover, all vehicles of the Company
are subject to annual tests such as exhaust emission tests, and only
those with satisfactory test results are put into operation.

The air emissions® of Neo-Neon are as follows:

s A
ARANEREREBRRRELEETLFAME
EMIETE  REFEEDERER AR
BREHNERIER RER - RPEES
FIBERESFRINER  AMREERRE
TRERFEMER - BMEHREREERE
ETRBEARERERIENE - WHEERNE
JE REAZHEIR ©

HARRBHTERRIEBELESIK - B
PR AEEREEHER SARENTEA
Z— RTIPHBEZREE  URBE
BERERERERE  OF ARFAAER
HRERS RMEKH BN TERESE
K- MEMABARBAEDBERLZFETER
BEMEFERA - mAERERTIRAET

R RKHERFEREMT

Total amount Total amount

Emissions Unit in 2024 in 2023
BB By 2024FHE 2023FHE
Nitrogen oxides g 10,969.8 9,529.6
A& )
Sulfur oxides g 176.0 151.0
maltm 7
Particulate matter g 807.7 701.6
TR T *

Water management

In terms of water management, the Company’s operations do not
involve significant water consumption and, as the Company’s main
businesses are not located in water-stressed areas, the Company has
not experienced issues in sourcing water that is fit for purpose.
Notwithstanding this, the Company has made every effort to reduce
water consumption, seeking to maximise efficiency and minimise
waste, and to improve the utilisation efficiency of water.

5 Including the business vehicles of the PRC lighting segment and USA lighting
segment. They were calculated based on the emission factors adopted from
“How to Prepare An ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs” published by the Stock Exchange.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

The Company uses water mainly for sanitary purpose and the rest in
the production process. We have complied with and implemented
the Resources and Energy Conservation Control Procedures which
includes provisions for water conservation and sets a regular annual
water conservation target of “reducing annual water consumption by
2%". We encourage staff to conserve water by promoting awareness
of water conservation among managers and operators, including
encouraging the use of reusable water bottles instead of disposable
ones, and constantly seek to improve water management in existing
facilities by adopting water-saving switches, flush water savers, etc.

In the Year 2024, our water consumption was 37,473 cubic metres,
an increase of 20% as compared to the previous year, with the
intensity of 50,222.5 cubic metres/billion revenue, representing an
increase of 26% as compared to last year. Such increases were
mainly due to the municipal road construction to optimise logistics
within the factories, resulting in an increase in water consumption in
the factories.

BR -HERERHRSE (&)

ARBMAKNIZRERELERN  H
BRAREERRE RMETLEB(EIRE
REBZEHIRF)  EFESABEALRANK
MRE XK IFEBRDBK2% I RESE
RAMFEMHKEE - BHASBETHOR
K BBEGRAEEEEEEAB MK
BEE - BREBERAEEFERANKERE
—REERRKE X TS KAERBR
HeHKEIREE - SRAEKFERE - RIEK

om A~
[=Eayn

H2024FE MW A XKE B37,4733L 77
K B EFEHIN20% 0 HE B A50,222.5
SNITKTREITBA B EFEEIN26%
ARKEMAKZEEENMNEZEREAAFEE
FEMRERER  BHEBEME B
BEEAKELEE -

Water Usage by Water Facilities (cubic metres)
BRKRENSHAKE(IIER)

3,650.00, 10%

826.00, 2%
32,997.00, 88%
m Factory mOffice Living area
= NS AEE

In terms of wastewater discharge, the wastewater discharged by the
Company’s facilities is mainly sanitary wastewater from our
employees. During the Year, we maintained the target of
“wastewater discharge compliance”. To ensure up-to-standard
discharge of sewage and reduction of environmental pollution, we
have installed wastewater treatment systems at our factories and the
wastewater will only be discharged into the municipal pipe network
after three-stage pretreatment by our facilities to meet the standards.
In addition, we also use wastewater for irrigation and greening
purposes to reduce wastewater discharge. In 2024, the total amount
of general sewage discharged was 29,228.2 metric tonnes, an
increase of 25% as compared with the previous year, mainly due to
the increase in sewage discharge as a result of the increase in water
consumption for municipal construction.

FEREKEET ™ - AR B A AR 6 P EE A D S
KEBREEINEERE - AN F AN
B BERKEZHERIMBEZE - BRERS
IREREER RO EIRENSE  RPRK
BREBEEKEERS  FALRGEEEKET
SHRERIBE  BEEFAZE . SHED
BREA - sboh - FAM IS A A RE KB B 4%
A% DU BEKEERR - 20244 - —f&)5
K488 HE K 529,228 2 A NE - B k& 1
25% EEZREAMREZAKGINBEES
IKPERUAR FELE AN o
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
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To ensure the normal operation of the wastewater treatment system,
we also arrange regular maintenance and repair of our wastewater
treatment facilities. The Company complies with the effluent
standards of our operation locations, and the effluent indicators of
our domestic factories are monitored by the Heshan Environmental
Protection Monitoring Station on a quarterly basis. If the indicators
are not up to standard, they will be monitored again after
rectification to prove our performance.

Use of Resources

Enerqgy efficiency enhancement

As the global climate crisis becomes more severe, the urgency of
reducing greenhouse gas emissions increases accordingly. Neo-Neon
keeps reducing carbon emissions in our business operations and has
adopted various measures to further promote energy conservation in
our business. The Environmental Operation Control Procedures and
Resource and Energy Conservation Control Procedures clearly specify
the goals and management plans for energy conservation.
Meanwhile, we encourage green travel as required by the
Management System for Business Trips. To further facilitate the
effective implementation of energy savings in our business, we also
continue to look for areas for improvement and set a regular annual
energy saving target of “2% reduction in annual electricity
consumption”. In 2024, the total amount of our electricity
consumption was 2,801.3MWh, representing a decrease of 7%
compared to the previous year. The decrease was mainly due to the
reduced facilities and workplaces and the improvement of employees’
awareness of electricity conservation. We have adopted the following
series of energy management measures to improve the energy
efficiency of our plant production and reduce greenhouse gas
emissions.

Neo-Neon’s measures for energy management:

BARENERERERE :

BRTEEHMLTHREREEREKEER
e KEMRBEKEERGNETEE - K
DA B ST &R P B K BE R
AIROSKBERNSEREFTEIBLUTR
EREZNUEFE —RNER - IHE R
ZRRER KRENERBEETER  UR
BAE RN -

BEiREAR

12 B BEIR (E AL F
BEERIKRIREHBBERE  BIBEERE
PERR BB Yt BE 2 3E 0 - B 5 R R B
WAL ERRBEN - LIRS ARG
E—TDHHEBMERRE RMOCGRESE
TEBREF)MCERERESFNESREF) -
BRYNPEEEERERTER - R - M
ER(EHEZERBHE)ZEREBEHZE LT
BTE—THDNERETIENEREE
BMMEES KNS EE W IFERD
AE2% X TERAERICNFTEHEREZ - &
2024%F BB FEE=E 52,801 3KER -
BEFETHRI% AFEREERIHNE
DRERASAASREMGHRD  WRETE
PWAEEHERS - MR T —RER
BEERE RSBREEEMRERRE B
BERBEYER -

e carrying out publicity and education on energy conservation to raise the awareness of managers and

employees on electricity saving
e ARETHRLEBRHE RACEENEINHNAEER

e continuously monitoring power consumption of facilities such as offices, factories and living areas

=S
===k

s HEBEEEPLE BREMEEREREN

e recommending monitoring and implementing electricity saving measures and improving process operation

methods

s EEEANERSAREHEMMBIZRIZERETA

e summarising power consumption and analysing the effectiveness of the measures on a monthly basis

s BRRHEREERMOMNERAR
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Our energy consumption in the past two years are as follows:

BR -HERERHRSE (&)

BPEBEMFNERIRBERENT

Facilities Unit 2024 2023
R e B 2024%F 2023F
Direct energy consumption — Total MWh
non-renewable energy® st JKFLEF 507.3 620.8
BHERREAEE —JEAl BARRC
Indirect energy consumption — Office
purchased electricity WARE 768.4 773.9
M REFEEE —INEE S Living area
AR 75.7 85.1
Factory
R &2 1,957.1 2,146.3
Total
st 2,801.3 3,005.3
Total energy consumption Total MWh
BEIRBES st JK LB 3,308.5 3,626.1
Intensity Total MWh/billion revenue
B st KRR, HRETKA 4,434.2 4,612.7

5  Direct energy consumption — non-renewable energy includes the consumption
of diesel oil, petrol and natural gas from the PRC lighting segment and USA
lighting segment.

7 The consolidated data on purchased electricity for the PRC lighting segment
and USA lighting segment is disclosed during the Year. The scope of data
disclosure of the Year has been expanded to include purchased electricity of
our subsidiary in Hong Kong, together with the restated comparative data for
2023.

B &R }ﬁﬁﬁETﬁiﬁm BEPBERADF
MBI R 2 JPHOSEH ~ TR R ARIBFEE -

ZKi % & 7 B HR RA 9> 6 £ 3 B FR AR 5 SR A 1 B
BHEHEE FARZTEHEEELL  BES
RNEIRWAEINEE NRWAFTEE - 52023

FRILLEBIE—HET -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
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Use of packaging materials

In order to protect the quality and appearance of the lighting
products during transportation, our delivered products are usually
protected by various types of packaging materials such as cardboard
boxes, plastic bags and expandable polyethylene (EPE). In view of the
potential environmental impact of packaging materials, the Company
implements strict controls on the use of packaging materials. The
R&D Department takes the consumption of packaging materials into
account when designing products, and is endeavored to minimise
their consumption and avoid unnecessary waste without
compromising quality. We also recycle the waste generated by the
use of necessary packaging materials, such as waste cardboard
boxes, scrap metals and other directly recyclable wastes. The head
procurement office will regularly notify designated recycling units to
collect these directly recyclable wastes, while non-recyclable wastes
will be handed over to local sanitation authorities for environmentally
sound disposal.

In the Year 2024, the total amount of packaging materials consumed
by the Group was 301.9 tonnes.

BEYHEA

EEBEMNET RREEHEMNEE
KONE - B ERAS BN BRMN
ERBHNEBEMBRESY - HHBRMH
MBERRETZE  ARABRBEHSEMH
MERE  AEFSEERRARESEBEM
MR ERAAZEEER  ERELZEMAR
T BAERIEBER BETLERE -
BRTERKFAEEZERLNBREY
WREEARAR - B B ] B O N A RO R
Y RBAEEDS T B AT E /) @ Uk B A
TR AR @Y REY - R @ E R
BAEEELEE -

20245 AKMEIERNBREM/EESR
301.973M

Type of packaging Unit 2024 2023
materials
BEMBER By 20244 2023F
Amount of packaging Cardboard boxes tonnes 299.7 322.4
materials consumed?® i) NU
BEMEEEES Plastic bags 2.2 2.8
L2
Expandable polyethylene (EPE) 0 0
IR
Total 301.9 325.1
st
Intensity Total tonnes/billion revenue 404.7 413.6
BHE #at AW/ TR A

8 The consolidated data on packaging materials consumed for the PRC lighting
segment and USA lighting segment is disclosed during the Year. The data in
2023 is restated after reconciliation.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

CONTRIBUTION TO SOCIETY

Neo-Neon understands the importance of giving back to the
community during our business development. Therefore, since its
inception, Neo-Neon has been always regarding giving back to the
community as its responsibility and obligation beyond any doubt. It
earnestly fulfills its corporate social responsibilities, and strives to
serve the community and build a friendly and harmonious relationship
with the communities where it operates through community welfare
activities. We are committed to promoting local employment by
hiring local workers and actively carry out related activities in the
areas including poverty alleviation, education support, environmental
protection and public health at the community in accordance to the
needs of local communities, to help the community improve and
promote its education, infrastructure and public health to benefit the
local people. The Company has actively participated in community
activities, including engagement in voluntary activities and
community support.

BR -HERERHRSE (&)

SHEHEE AR

RAARERACEEREFNBETDELE
MEEME -HIt  BRTRERBINES
M—EXfRHEERARETTHNETNE
BoERTEEMEEME BBHR AR
AB BMAORBHE REEMEMLRE
SR MERBEER - RPBADRER B
X BFEEHST AEREEMHLERNE
K EBAELREKE  IFHRE  BRRA=
MARKRRERAFAREELEE  EPtR
HEMREHE  ERRiE - 2HFLEES
X OREEH ARABEEBRALRES
BR2ERTEY HBRALERSE-
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INDEX TO THE ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND EREBTARE - HENESR
GOVERNANCE REPORTING CODE OF HONG HESFREY>RBES
KONG STOCK EXCHANGE
AREA SECTION/REMARKS
gk B R
A ENVIRONMENTAL
ARE
ASPECT A1 General Disclosure ENVIRONMENTAL
EMISSIONS Information on: RESPONSIBILITIES
EBEA1 (a) the policies; and RESEM
23 L) (b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
—RIRE
AAERIRERBER MARLHAES AEREEREVNE
EEW
(@ HE: &
(b) BTHBETABERZENBBEZRAD
HEHE -
KPI'A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Waste Discharge Management

BR BT A1 R EE AR R -

BRMERER

KPI'A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in
BB NIEE A1.2 tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).
B (BE) RgREE (8E2) RERBHANE AN E) R (mER)
RE(MABESEN  BERXEHHE) -

Waste Discharge Management

BRYRER

KPI' A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, Waste Discharge Management
RS RUEE A1.3 intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). BEEYHNER
ﬁﬁ?iﬁiﬁﬁﬁwﬁ%%(L‘AWEEH@C)&(KZH@%)%‘E@W EEEN -8
BRiE) -
KPI' A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, ~ Waste Discharge Management
HREBIER A4 intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). BEERYFEHRER
MELEERZEYEE VAN E) R (ER) BE (MNEBEEENL - &
IE:RXE)T_E/;“»#)
KPI' A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. Waste Discharge Management

BREBER A15 WA LR ER RN RENELERRRRNSR -

BENFHER
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RIE-HEREAR

W& (&)

AREA SECTION/REMARKS
i) 1 Fid
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and  Waste Discharge Management

BRERIEE AL

a description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
HAEBEEREEEENMNE  REMAET L ORRERRRAES
ELB RS -

BENFHER

ASPECT A2 General Disclosure Use of Resources
USE OF RESOURCES Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other & R {& F
EEA2 raw materials.
ERER —REE

ARERER(BIFLR  KREMERME) SR
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or  Use of Resources

BRERIER A2

oil) in total (kWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

H“z*ﬁ?*”iﬂ/\mﬁ?%&/ﬁfﬂi%ﬁ%? (W& - meloh) B 7%
HE)REE (MASEREN  SEBMIHE)

ENTETRE

BR A

KPI A2.2
FRENIEIZ A2.2

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).
BRKERTE (MIAE

BEEEN  BERWHHE) °

Use of Resources

BRER

KPI A2.3
RRERIER A23

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.

WAl LR RE ARG AR AR EL R EMRROSHR -

Use of Resources

BREM

KPI A2.4
BREBRIEIE A2.4

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for
purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
it SKEERAOR ERI B AR - AR AKNE R RRAE
AEE B BRI SR

Use of Resources

BR A

KPI A2.5
BREMIER A2S

Total packaging materials used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if

applicable, with reference to per unit produced.
SR mArAaEMHNEE (UBHE) R(NER) BEESUKE -

Use of Resources

BRER

ASPECT A3
THE ENVIRONMENT
AND NATURAL

General Disclosure
Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the environment
and natural resources.

Green and Innovative
Products

Re Rl ER

RESOURCES —RRE

EEA3 BEETAHBRERRREREXNEAZENOBE -

RERAARER

KPI' A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and ~ Green and Innovative

FRERUETR A3

natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.

WEEBEDURFRRAERNEATZ ERCRNEREATENT -

Products

e KA EmR

BARRERERAF o
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RIE-HEREAR

wmE (&)

AREA SECTION/REMARKS
g BB
ASPECT A4 General Disclosure Waste Discharge Management
CLIMATE CHANGE Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues & Z ¥4 5 12
EBHA4 which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.
RIE21( — R
ﬁ&%ﬂ&ﬁﬂﬂw AREHETAELEYENEARREREEN
BER
KPI' A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, ~ Waste Discharge Management

PR ENIEIE A1

and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage — BEZ ¥ BE % 2
them.

HREERARGEHETAEEYENEARBREREZE R

JE178) -

B SOCIAL
B#HE

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES

ERREIER
ASPECT B1 General Disclosure PEOPLE MANAGEMENT
EMPLOYMENT Information on: ABEHE
B EB1 (a) the policies; and
EfE (b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
—RIKE
BRAGMHLmE BERER TERE RY TEHE Sl R
SR A B B At 5 48 T AR A R
@ HE &k
(b) EFHBTABEATZENABERRR
M B K o
KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or part- Employees’ Benefits and

FRERUER B1.1

time), age group and geographical region. Rights
Rits - BREE (W2BSRE)  FRANKGREAINESERZ - BIRMNKER

KPI B1.2
FRENIEIE B1.2

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. Employees’ Benefits and
BRI FRARNREDHESRKALL X Rights
BIRH Es
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AREA SECTION/REMARKS

il 1 Fid
ASPECT B2 General Disclosure Occupational Health and
HEALTH AND SAFETY  Information on: Safety
E /B2 (a) the policies; and BERRELE
BEHEZZ (b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant

impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees
from occupational hazards.

—RRE
AARMZ2TERERREESHEBELEEMN
(@ BE: &
(b) BFHETABERZENHEBERRAD
BB R -
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past The Company had no work-
BB BB B2.1 three years, including the reporting year. related fatalities over the past
BE=F (OREERFE)BFAITHMABRILEE - three years, including the
current financial year.
ERE=FN(BREARRF
B) ARFERAEEEME
TEBEMETHER
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Occupational Health and
HREMIEE B2.2 EIGEATIIERE - Safety
BERREZZE
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how  Occupational Health and
BHRETIEE 823 they are implemented and monitored. Safety
MR AR ERRE T 2 URABRTREES A - BREREZS
ASPECT B3 General Disclosure Employee Training and
DEVELOPMENT Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging Development
AND TRAINING duties at work. Description of training activities. B THIHEER
[ETEB3 — R E
B R SR AARMEESRITIERANNEREAENEE - HIFIED -
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category Employee Training and
B 4E BUIBIE B3 (e.g. senior management, middle management). Development
BRURIREEEN(NERERE PRERES) D BIRIEER
RIEEBDL -
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and Employee Training and
BRETIEE B3.2 employee category. Development
RUBIREEENESD  BRERTAXINTHEEL - BT RER
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AREA SECTION/REMARKS
g BB
ASPECT B4 General Disclosure Avoidance of Child and
LABOUR STANDARDS  Information on: Forced Labour
E B4 (a) the policies; and HEOFREIRBRALD
BITER (b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.
—RIEE
AN ILETHBHSTH
(@ HE: &
(b) BFTHETABEARZENHEBERRAD
HEHE -
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and  Avoidance of Child and

BB ERUETR B4

forced labour.
W R BEEANEEAEEETREHET -

Forced Labour
HEFRETIREES

KPI B4.2
RS AMUIETR B4.2

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered.

HRERRERBRAKERAEBBERMRRN TR -

Avoidance of Child and
Forced Labour
BeEHEIRBES

OPERATING PRACTICES
BEREA

ASPECT B5 General Disclosure Operating Practices
SUPPLY CHAIN Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. EEED
MANAGEMENT —RIEE

[E EB5 ERMEENRERMERARNKE -

HEEER

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Procurement Practices and

BB A AUE 1R B5.1

BiE s DN HEREA o

Standardised Supplier
Management

REEPERBHAEHER

KPI B5.2
BS R AMUETR B5.2

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers

where the practices are being implemented, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

M EAEREEANEN  mERTAREMNNHRERZE - AKME
BRITRERTE -

Procurement Practices and
Standardised Supplier
Management

REBENEREHAEREE

KPI B5.3
BB ENIEIE B5.3

Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks
along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored.
WA BB RESERGBNRE R SRBROEN - ARBBRT
REENE-

Procurement Practices and
Standardised Supplier
Management

REEPERBHAEHER
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
R -dHERERARE (K)

AREA SECTION/REMARKS
i) 1 Fid
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable Procurement Practices and

B MIEIE B5.4

products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
HREREHEARRESARRER LRENEN  UARBEARTR
ERNE -

Standardised Supplier
Management

RBENERBHAEREE

ASPECT B6
PRODUCT
RESPONSIBILITY
[EEB6
EmRLE

General Disclosure

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters

relating to products and services provided and methods of redress.

—RIKE

BRMEMERNRENRRER

FRTER -

(@ HE: &

(b) BTHBETABERZENBBEZRAD

BB KL

CEE BREMABRFEEUR

Product Responsibility
Operating Practices
EmAE

ZEEfI

KPI B6.1
R ENIEIE B6.1

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety
and health reasons.

EEIEERERBBTRL2REFEAMANKNA DL

Product Quality and Safety
and Recall Mechanism
ERBERERAEES

KPI B6.2
R ENIEIE B6.2

Number of products and service related complaints received and how they
are dealt with.

REBNEmLRBORFHE REHTTE -

Customer Service and
Protection of Consumer Rights

RPRERIREHBEEH

KPI B6.3
RS RMIETR B6.3

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual
property rights.
Mt EgEERRENZEEGBNED -

Protection of Intellectual
Property
RERBERE

KPI B6.4
B WIEIE B6.4

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.

HlEERTREREREUIEF -

Product Quality and Safety
and Recall Mechanism

EnBER2RAEKH

KPI B6.5
BREMIER B6.5

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how
they are implemented and monitored.

B EERBERERALREE  URBBRTRERNE

Customer Service and
Protection of Consumer Rights

EPRBLREHREE ER

BARRERERAF o

—E_NFEFR



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
R -HERERARE (&)

AREA SECTION/REMARKS
#E B/ R
ASPECT B7 General Disclosure Anti-corruption
ANTI-CORRUPTION Information on: REG
[EEB7 (a) the policies; and
k&S (b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
—RIEE
RN LR B BRFRERER
(@ HE: &
(b) BFTHETABEARZENHEBERRAD
HEHE -
KPI'B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought Anti-corruption

BB A RUETR BT.1

against the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the
outcomes of the cases.
RESHFAHETAZHESRLIERENB SHARTNEE IF

RER -

REB

KPI B7.2
FREMIER BT .2

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and
how they are implemented and monitored.

HWihBEHLREREF  URABRIRERNE -

Anti-corruption
RER

KPIB7.3
BREMIER B3

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff.
HMEERETRENREFE

Anti-corruption
RER
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
R -dHERERARE (K)

AREA SECTION/REMARKS
i) 8- i
COMMUNITY
HE
ASPECT B8 General Disclosure CONTRIBUTION TO SOCIETY
COMMUNITY Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the LEM SN
INVESTMENT communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into
[E®BS consideration the communities’ interests.
HERE —REE
FRAAHERERTHRETASENELEREENRREXBEHEE
BB R e R BUR -
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, CONTRIBUTION TO SOCIETY

R4 A IE13 BB

labour needs, health, culture, sport).

2EHERE

Z
EQPN

EIERER(WHE RREE SIFX #F L BF)-

KPI B8.2
R E ISR B8.2

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.

EEIEBMBAER (MEBEHKR) -

During the Year, the Company
did not put resources in
community investment.
AEE  KRABRAHER
BEREMNERRA o
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
IR

e

Ernst & Young TXKEFEIE R Tel E3E: +852 2846 9888
27/F, One Taikoo Place ~ HEMIAFHREBI795% Fax B HE: +852 2868 4432
§* 979 King’s Road Rith— 271 ey.com

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

To the shareholders of Neo-Neon Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Neo-Neon
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 108 to 235, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") as issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code"”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

@ Neo-Neon Holdings Limited e Annual Report 2024
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit
addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)
BYZAMBRE (F)

FAREEFTER
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)
BYRAUMBRE (&)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

HREETER

FREFTEE @)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMNBTNMEAREFSRETEE

Impairment allowance of a loan receivable

JE W B 5% 49 6L 15 A 1

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has a loan receivable
amounted to RMB111.7 million, representing 5.9% of total
assets.

RZEBEZNFE+_A=+—H BEEEHNEREREA
RN TIAERL  HEERENS9% °

Significant management judgement and estimation are
required in assessing the expected credit losses (“ECL") for
the loan receivable. In developing the ECL methodology,
the Group is required to consider reasonable and
supportable information including legality of the collaterals,
timing of future cash flows and fair value of collaterals in
order to determine an unbiased estimate.
EERERNTEREEBR((RHEEFR) FE2ER
BELEXRAES KRG - SIEEHREEBEN AR - &

SEAZEERFRNS AN KRR SR E N RHE KK
MR ARBESEGEREGEEER  UEEQFMET -

The significant accounting judgements and estimates and
disclosure of the balance of the loan receivable are included
in notes 3 and 20 to the consolidated financial statements.
EREREFERNERNG A R A A RBEBREH NS
BB IR IR M FE20/A o
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In evaluating management’s estimation of impairment
allowance, our procedures included:

BAFHEE R ERER BT HEF B

e  Obtained an understanding of the Group’s policy
on determining the ECL of the loan receivable;
e TH BESEETRKEFREHEEEENECR

e Involved our internal valuation expert to review
management’s ECL calculation model and test the
underlying information including probability of
default and collateral recovery with reference to
the related publicly available information and
market-based valuations;

s HMHNAREEERLEFHNEEEMNENGE
EREAEER Y2ZHBLARAISERRER
M5 EEE - OBHUE OB X KRR K@ X EE
A

e Assessed the adequacy of disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.

s AR AMBBWEAMNBBEEEZIRDIMKE -



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter
HREEE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)
BYRAMBRSE (&)

BREFTEE @)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RANBETNMERARETSRETEE

Goodwill impairment assessment on cash-generating unit (“CGU")

RBEELEN ([RLELEN] ) HEEREFFE

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had goodwill at a
carrying amount of RMB91.4 million. Management of the
Group determines the recoverable amount of each of the
CGUs to which the goodwill is allocated.
RZZE_MNE+_A=+—H  BESENEERHEEAR
AR¥N4EETL EXEEREECHERIRED
EREELBUMA DR H -

The impairment assessment of goodwill is significant to our
audit due to (i) the significance of the carrying amount as
at 31 December 2024; and (ii) the determination of the
recoverable amount of CGUs to which the goodwill is
allocated requiring significant management’s judgements
and estimates.

BENRENFEERMNBIMSIEEEE - REWT : ()
RZEZNE+ZA=+T—HBNEEENE2M  k()E
ETEERIREReEFEMNTOKeHTEERER
B K A R kRt

The significant accounting judgements and estimates and
the disclosure of the balance of goodwill are included in
notes 3 and 16 to the consolidated financial statements.
EAREAEBRNERGHE REFARKES NGRS M
WK M E3RM 167

In evaluating management’s impairment assessment of
goodwill, our procedures included:

B EEEmERENENEF B2

e Involved our internal valuation expert to evaluate
the appropriateness of the methodologies adopted
by management and the discount rates applied;

s FREBEMHOABEEERFEEREBERAZTE
NITREHRE N

e Reviewed the key assumptions based on our
knowledge of the Group's business and industry
trend and by benchmarking against independent
data;

e WBEXRMY BESEEBRITEBENTHRE
38 BB T BUHR L EUA B B A 4R R R

e Tested a selection of data inputs underpinning the
cash flow forecasts against appropriate supporting
evidence, such as historical or market available
information, to assess their accuracy and reliability;
and

e LDWMEFREWELXMSAER) AHZER
BRETRBFMER 28 ASE - Ul hERE R
R R

e Assessed the adequacy of disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.

s HEHREMBHRRNOEBERBEZIZIIE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)
BYRAUMBRE (&)

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liguidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely
to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)
BYZAMBRE (F)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)
BYRAUMBRE (&)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit
work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ms. Leung Yin.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

26 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

Year ended 31 December 2024 BHE_—_Z _WF+_A=+—HIEFE

2024 2023
—E_NF —E-=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
/oka ARET T ARETIT
REVENUE WA 5 746,140 786,110
Cost of sales k=A% (424,072) (440,240)
Gross profit EF 322,068 345,870
Other income, gains and losses, net  E U A - Y25 &
E 18 %58 5 56,271 51,168
Reversal of provision/(provision) of  Ji & & B % f&5 (B f5)
impairment, net F R 6 2,275 (1,261)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHERX (234,048) (221,199)
Administrative expenses TBAX (97,162) (131,666)
Finance costs B S AR 2R 7 (1,332) (1,532)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX FR B4 A1 R 6 48,072 41,380
Income tax expense Frisfimx 70 (10,154) (13,705)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FREA 37,918 27,675
Attributable to: AR A LR -
Owners of the parent BRREA A 37,182 26,821
Non-controlling interests IR = 736 854
37,918 27,675
EARNINGS PER SHARE BAREBERER
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY BB AEG
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE SREF
PARENT 12
Basic and diluted HEAK#E
— For profit for the year — F Xk 7 RMB1.78 cents RMB1.28 cents

AR#1.78% ANERH1.285
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year ended 31 December 2024 EE - Z

el L O

= [utl=SN s 2 e (5] 1= S

2024 2023
—E-@E e
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
ot AR T AR T T
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FRREFA 37,918 27,675
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Ht2mEB A (BR) :
INCOME/(LOSS):
Other comprehensive loss that Ri& BB Al e E R
may be reclassified to profit or loss SEEERNHEMEE
in subsequent periods: 18 -
Exchange differences: ME N R
Exchange differences on translation ~ BEBRINERHBES 2
of foreign operations fE N =%E (16,121) (11,799)
Other comprehensive income that will 714 /& Hi FEJTA?&E%E
not be reclassified to profit or loss SEEERNHEMEE
in subsequent periods: A
Exchange differences: HEH ZER
Exchange differences on translation ARXRIBEEEZ
of the Company & X =% 31,950 20,431
Surplus on revaluation upon transfer AL EEHE S
of right-of-use assets to investment &YW ER R ERG
properties B 15(a) = 22,787
Income tax effect SRS IN-% - - (5,697)
- 17,090
Surplus on revaluation upon transfer ¥ % - BE M &% & 82 5
of property, plant and equipment to =R &M EB K
investment properties BEAHK 13 - 36,161
Income tax effect PGz & - (9,040)
- 27,121
Net other comprehensive income that 1% %&£ F'EH< =B
will not be reclassified to profit or HEEERD
loss in subsequent periods Hib 2 EUAFRE 31,950 64,642
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME S EHMEMEEA -
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX H1BR B 1R 15,829 52,843
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME S£EZHEWRALE
FOR THE YEAR 53,747 80,518
Attributable to: LATS AL FEfh ¢
Owners of the parent [SS/NE] %ﬁ)\ 52,874 79,552
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR 873 966
53,747 80,518

BARKEZERBIRAAE o ZZE-NFFH @



CONSOLlDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
n‘/T\ ZI- iﬁ Hj( /R '13»%

31 December 2024 — T —FE+ - A =+—H

2024 2023
—E-MEF —T-=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Jiokz3 AR T ARETT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - WEREE 13 15,952 19,634
Investment properties AW 14 157,165 146,588
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15(a) 32,639 42,751
Goodwill EES 16 91,413 90,069
Other intangible assets HEMmpEE 17 21,792 21,812
Financial assets at fair value through 1Z AR EBEFT ABZHNE
profit or loss MEE 23 134,900 136,598
Deferred tax assets FEERIBEE 28 27,919 26,552
Total non-current assets EREBEELE 481,780 484,004
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories Sy 18 143,231 154,053
Trade and bills receivables e E 5 FkIE I e W = % 19 106,915 109,146
Loan receivable e E 7 20 111,743 127,506
Prepayments, other receivables and B/ « H {th g U k8 &
other assets H A& E 21 20,790 24,997
Loan to the ultimate holding ERTHEREERAF
company 22 400,406 395,403
Financial assets at fair value BARBETABZNS
through profit or loss BMEE 23 12,263 16,391
Tax recoverable A Yz B I8 2,140 7,284
Restricted cash ZRHRE 24 1,319
Cash and cash equivalents ReMRESEEY 24 607,214 498,097
Total current assets mE & E A 1,406,021 1,332,877
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBAE
Trade payables B8 55 IE 25 77,239 62,990
Other payables and accruals H A &~ B FE 5T RRIA 26 99,423 90,189
Lease liabilities HEAR 15(b) 11,173 10,450
Tax payable JE 1~ 5 I8 1,399
Provision B 27 34,046 33,440
Total current liabilities mEBEESE 223,280 197,069
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEZEE 1,182,741 1,135,808
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EERERRBAR
LIABILITIES 1,664,521 1,619,812
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

=)
)

BEHMRR R (E)

31 December 2024 —Z— &+ _-A=+—H

2024 2023
—EFE-ME —E-=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
ok AR®T AR®FIT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 15(b) 21,897 32,578
Deferred tax liabilities R IBEE 28 26,227 24,584
Total non-current liabilities EmEBEaERRE 48,124 57,162
Net assets BEFE 1,616,397 1,562,650
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to owners BAREE ABGER
of the parent
Issued capital BEITRA 29 185,672 185,672
Reserves & 31 1,420,175 1,367,301
1,605,847 1,552,973
Non-controlling interests JEVER E = 10,550 9,677
Total equity gk 1,616,397 1,562,650

Zhang Yuan Yuan

REE

Director

EFE

Lian Chenwei

ERE

Director

EZE

BAEREZERBERAHE

« CE-REEH @



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

GERREEDXR

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —NF+_A=+—HItFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BAIREARL
Capital Share Share Exchange Asset Non-
Share Share  redemption Special - compensation options fluctuation  revaluation Other  Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
EXRE R Ei BEEf FER
K& R ERE L1 KGR BREE BRERE RDRE i Rfif 2 ER st [ 33 ERAR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARBTR ARETZ ARETr ARBTR ARETR ARMTz ARETR ARMTR  ARMTR ARETR ARBTR  ARETR
(note 29) (note 31) (note 31) (note 31) (note 31) (note 30) (note 31) (note 31) (note 31)
(W3t29) (H31) (W31) (K1) (K31) (H3t30) (H3t31) (W3t31) (331)
At 1 January 2024 R=F-RF-A-A 185,672 2415132 2,146 55238 50,024 2,250 (242,247) 75,446 (9,100) (981,588) 1,552,973 9,677 1,562,650
Profit for the year R - s - - - - - - - 37,182 37,182 736 37918
Other comprehensive FREMRERA/
income/(loss) for the year: (Bi):
Exchange differences on translation AEE S EKEE
of foreign operations ESZE - - - - - - (16,258) - - - (16,258) 137 (16,121)
Exchange differences on translation A2 FREEL 2
of the Company ESZE = = = = = = 31,950 - - - 31,950 - 31,950
Total comprehensive income ERREANAEE
for the year - - - - - - 15,692 - - 37,18 52,874 83 53,741
At31 December 2024 RZB-QmF
+ZA=+-A 185,672 2415,132¢ 2,146* 55,238* 50,024* 2,250% (226,555) 75,446* (9,100)*  (944,406)* 1,605,847 10,550 1,616,397
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)
REREEDH R (F)

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—_ZT -_WNF+_A=+—HIFE

Atiributable to owners of the parent

AAEEARE
Capital Share Share Exchange Asset Non-
Share Share  redemption Special  compensation options fluctuation revaluation Other  Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
BREM &t i3 4 AR

BE RGEE Ef  HIEE  RERR BREEE  R9ER B  EttBE 2R &t BE  EEER

RVB'000 RMB'000 RVB'000 RVIB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RVB'000 RVB'000 RNIB'000

ARETT  ARBTR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARBTR  ARMTr  ARMTr  ARETR  ARMTr  ARETR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR
(note 29) (note 31) (note 31) {note 31) (note 31) (note 30) (note 31) (note 31) (note 31)
(i) (K1) (Hi31) (K1) (Hi31) (Hi30) (Hi31) (31 (1)

At 1 January 2023 185,672 2415132 2,146 55238 50,024 2,250 (250,767) 31,235 (9,100)  (1,008,409) 1473421 8,711 1,482,132
Profit for the year - - - - - - - - - 26,821 26,821 854 27,675
Other comprehensive income/ EREERERA/ (FE):

(loss) for the year:
Exchange differences on translation  £E &5 $HEL 2Ef£E

of foreign operations - - - - - - (11,911) - - - (11,911) 12 (11,799)
Exchange differences on translation AR FHEEAZEHZE

of the Company - - - - - - 20431 - - - 20431 - 20431
Surplus on revaluation upon REEEERERENZR

transfer of right-of-use assetsto~ ZEHEH - kA

investment properties, net of tax - - - - - = = 17,09 = = 17,090 = 17,09
Surplus on revaluation upon transfer 1%+ FERABEAZHE

of property, plant and equipment 152 ER%

to investment properties, bl

net of tax - - - - - - - 7.1 - - 212 = 2121
Total comprehensive income ERRENAGE

for the year - - - - - - 8,520 4m - 26,821 79,552 966 80,518
At 31 December 2023 ATETTETATI-R 185672 241513 2,146* 55,238 50,024 250 (QUTe T ME ©100¢ (981,588 1,552973 9677 1562650

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * ZEREBEROEGAVBRARITNGREHE
RMB1,420,175,000 (2023: RMB1,367,301,000) in the consolidated statement AR ¥1,420,175,000C (ZE_=F : ARK
of financial position. 1,367,301,0007T) °

BARKEZEREBRAAE o ZE-NFFH



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
nVT\ IE % b E '13»%

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE —T—ME+ - A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-F —E=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
e AR T ARET T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING &E&EEHFEBSRERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax B ¢ A Al 48,072 41,380
Adjustments for: MUATIEBELFHE
Finance costs B 7S B AR 1,332 1,532
Bank interest income SRITH B WA 5 (19,935) (17,085)
Other interest income H A B U A 5 (14,003) (10,139)
Depreciation of property, ME - BEREETE
plant and equipment 6 7,849 9,627
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ {FAEEEITE 6 10,600 11,103
Amortisation of other intangible Hmp & ey
assets 6 2,068 1,913
Amortisation of deferred i JE B R X 2N 2 8
development costs 6 4,342 3,696
Changes in fair value of KEWMEARBEE
investment properties 5 (10,317) 1,493
Fair value losses/(gains) of financial 12 A # BEF ABZED
assets at fair value through TREEZANEE
profit or loss BB () 6,136 (2,721)
Dividend income from financial BARBEABZD
assets at fair value through TREEZRBEKA
profit or loss (3,515) (3,177)
(Gains)/loss on disposal of items of  HE¥E « BE M&E
property, plant and equipment BBz (W) BE (400) 121
Write-down/(reversal of GFEMBZETER
write-down) of inventories FE (OB B ED)
to net realisable value 6 2,607 (5,132)
(Reversal of provision of cRMBEZ CREESIE
impairment losses)/impairment BEED), REEE
losses on financial assets 6 (2,275) 1,261
Operating profit before working EEESEHANLE
capital changes a3 A 32,561 33,872
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
REeRERBR(E)

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE T -—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-F —E==
Note RMB*000 RMB’000
iz AR T ARET T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHMBRERE (B)
ACTIVITIES (Continued)
Decrease in inventories FERD 10,161 29,568
Decrease in trade and bills B E 5 R & ERER
receivables k> 935 19,787
Decrease in loan receivable fE W E Zom 18,352 16,705
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments,  FEIZ0 « E b & U 5108 K
other receivables and other assets ~ Hth& 2 (1 41), I8 (236) 31,703
Increase in restricted cash BRI 3R & 42 0 (1,319) =
Increase in trade payables R E S FRIEE N 13,460 3,133
Increase/(decrease) in other payables H fth & < Kz J& 5+ Z I8 hn,~
and accruals CR ) 7,686 (19,316)
Increase in provision BB N 117 27,575
Cash generated from operations KEMBRE 81,717 143,027
Interest paid 2AHE (1,185) (1,401)
Hong Kong profits tax paid ENEBFEH (109) (3,048)
Overseas taxes paid BN IE (2,819) (31,075)
Net cash flows from operating KEEEFERERE
activities HER 77,604 107,503
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETHFBHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Bank interest received B ER 1T F B 23,966 10,644
Other interest received B E b F) B 14,002 9,734
Purchase of items of property, BEME  KERZE
plant and equipment =)= (4,875) (6,047)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEWE% - WERRE
property, plant and equipment 15 B {5 5IR 1,124 2,021
Additions to other intangible assets RN E H M E B E (4,817) (4,131)
Loan advance to ultimate holding BRNERTHEERRAA
company - (400,000)
Dividend received from financial B AR BET AER
assets at fair value through MEREENRES
profit or loss 3,515 3,177
Placement of non-pledged time FHEESEI A BEA
deposits with maturity of more =B A &) 3B A E
than three months when acquired 73X (346,037) (240,372)
Withdrawal of non-pledged time REEGRI A EA
deposits with maturity of more =& A &Y 3EE A E 5
than there months when acquired T 489,131 55,817
Net cash flows from/(used in) BEZEME(FTA)H
investing activities RMEFE 176,009 (569,157)

BARKEZERBIRAAE o ZZE-NFFH @



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

GeRezRER (&)

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE=—Z%

—HFEt_A=+—HLFE

2024 2023
—E-F —E=F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt aF AR TR ARETT
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING FEZEBHFEBRELARE
ACTIVITIES
Principal portion of lease payments A& A& 35 32(b) (10,530) (10,695)
Interest paid EHE (147) (131)
Net cash flows used in financing BEFRSFMARSRE
activities R (10,677) (10,826)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN ReRASEEWE M
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (R 2) F58 242,936 (472,480)
Cash and cash equivalents at REVHNRE KRS
beginning of year ZEY 236,838 706,560
Effect of foreign exchange rate HNEE T R BB ) L B R R
changes, net 6,701 2,758
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RERNRERERES
AT END OF YEAR £EY 486,475 236,838
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF REeRESEEYEH
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  Z#F
Cash and bank balances Iﬁi&ﬁﬁ & gh 24 354,798 138,882
Non-pledged time deposits with ISR EA DR =1 A
original maturity of less than B FEE IR E B TE K
three months when acquired 131,677 97,956
Cash and cash equivalents as stated IR&REEXRFTIMIEE &
in the statement of cash flows BeEEY 486,475 236,838
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Neo-Neon Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability. The registered office address of the Company is Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands, and the Company’s head office and
principal place of business is located at Unit 3405, 34/F, 118
Connaught Road West, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) were engaged in the following
principal activities:

o manufacture and trading of lighting products
o provision of lighting solutions

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the holding
company and the ultimate holding company of the Company
are Resuccess Investments Limited and & 5 &5 AR 2 A
("Tongfang Co., Limited”), which are incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands and the People’s Republic of China (“the PRC"),
respectively.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows:

e R R M

31 December 2024 —Z - W&+ - =+—H
dy.

S¥REBAR

RARRERERAR ([RAAF] R
FERSFMALAERRERA
A] o AN A A 7 it 3% =5 R b ik A Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands + A" R RIABF0 & £ B & FE M B AL
RESTHET1185734483405F o

FR ARAIREKBAR (HKEIAX
EENNREUATEEETH :

e REBEEMEEKES

o IRMEEBAERAE
ARBEERE  ARaERAR K
B 4P i A 7 AResuccess Investments
Limited % A 5 &5 B BR A 7] 3% M [E

RADHRABRELBEERTEAR
HAE ([P ) REMAL

FHENEARNER
ARTEENBATEEDT :

Percentage of equity
attributable to the Company

EAREERERD L
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/
registration registered
Name and business share capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
R BRTER/
£ BEREBLE iR A B ME TEEH
Guangdong Tongfang Science Park ~ PRC/ US$300,000,000 - 100% Manufacture and sale of
Company Limited Mainland China lighting products
(“Tongfang Science Park”)*
EXRAREEBRAA B/ RE AL 300,000,000% 70 BAERHERHE
(TRAME])
Guangdong Tongfang lllumination ~ PRC/ US$30,000,000 - 100%  Manufacture and sale of
Company Limited* Mainland China lighting products
ERRABHER R /B 30,000,000 7 BRAEMRERHE
BAREKZERERAT o —ZF_MFFR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GERMBHRRME (&

)

31 December 2024 —ZE —UF+=-H=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows: (Continued)

1. tEREEER @m

KB ATNER @
AAFEEWMBATHBOT « (B)

Percentage of equity

attributable to the Company

FARELEEEAL
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/
registration registered
Name and business share capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
B3 BRTEE/
a8 BEREBLE R A B BiE TEZED
Hong Kong Star Bright Lighting Hong Kong HK$150,000,000 = 100% Trading of lighting products
Limited
EEEERBARNRA Bk 150,000,000 7T BRERES
American Lighting, Inc. United States of US$7,944,505 - 97.7%  Provision of lighting
America ("USA") solution
FHRERE 7,944,505% 7T HERARATER
(TE])
Tivoli, LLC USA US$4,500,000 - 97.7%  Provision of lighting
solution
e 4,500,000% 7 HERAEANTR
Novelty Lights, LLC USA Nil - 97.7% Trading of lighting products
EJe z BEAEMEH
Neo-Neon (Vietnam) Development Vietnam US$28,000,000 - 100% Manufacture and sale of
Company Limited lighting products
fiifes 28,000,000 7T RAERBERHE

* Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under the
law of the PRC.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results for the year or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, result in particulars of excessive length.
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2.1

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
(which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“"HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants ("HKICPA"”), and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They
have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except
for investment properties and financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss which have been measured at fair value.
The financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“"RMB")
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except
when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2024. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;
(b)

rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

FEMBEHERME (&)

31 December 2024 —Z - W&+ - H=+—H

2.

2.1

BARKEZERBIRAAE o ZZE-NFFH @

BETBE
AR

AP BHRRDIBRBEESSAMAG (&
BEFMAG)AHNEEMBERSE
HR([HEYBREEN]) (BEAE
BAEMBHRSESER FESHER([F
AERTER]) kBRE) REERBERA
MEBERERR AW HRRIEZESL

RABHRE  EREVEREBAA
BEFAEBZNEREERAAEER

B AMBHRERUAARB AR
ZEEGEREER MESENE
ERELNTIT

mEEREE

HAMBBRREEARRRENEA
Al(mEAIAEE)BE_FT_NOF
+ ﬂ*+ BLEFEZHMBRE -
SIENCIVE VNI =R A ke 2k
ER(EREABUHER) - EAKEY
SHELEBEHREBNFEH O HAER
BRAXEZEENAREEBHRELUR
MED (BIASEERE TRAEDAE
BEREHREREDNORTEN) P E
% F E R - BIER{S 1 42 -

—RBEATHEERZEHREETNX
ZHIE - HARBEBA IR EEHR
REZBREHBEUENOEF - AIAK
SERNFEEESD %ﬁﬂ&ﬁﬂ%m
ROABEER—UHBETEREBR
B

(a) HEREHZHEGBEZEZTEA
& B HE
(b) EHMAEOLTHREENER : &

(0 ARENERENEBELRRE-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —Z-WE+=-H=+—H

2.

2.1

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the
related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any
non-controlling interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve;
and recognises the fair value of any investment retained and
any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s
share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or
accumulated losses, as appropriate, on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meMEERME (&)

31 December 2024 —_E—_ &+ _-A=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. BFBEXR@wm

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 22 B BERBEZETH
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the REBDRAFE ZHBEHRR B XK
first time for the current year’s financial statements. MY ENEE]T BB I SRS 2R -
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback BRAMBREENE 6T, EAHOFHEEERE
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or (BFIK)
Non-current (the “2020 BALERE R BEAEBTDAHT
Amendments”) (BETR) ([ZZ2-2FETA])
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants BAGHEDE % WEZZHFREEE
(the “2022 Amendments”) (BFTK) ([ZEZZ%B3iTK))
Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangements EHOHERNEINR HEES ST
HKFRS 7 BEHBRSER
EYEACCHPY
The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are described RIBET RSB RFELEA 2 HE R
below: LT -
(@)  Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a @) BEMBMEEAF165E (B3]
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in R)FTHEHF—EABARSEE
a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee BB SGHRELANTEEARER
does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that FTEBZHRTE  LERE &
relates to the right of use it retains. Since the Group has AATHEREEREZFERERS
no sale and leaseback transactions with variable lease TN ER AN AERER"
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate IRTER & BB mE %R F 165
occurring from the date of initial application of HKFRS 16, 2 BB ANFEEIN IR FIEH
the amendments did not have any impact on the financial EMEZERENRZERTE
position or performance of the Group. BR5  MZEBIAHEAE

ZH BRI RIRL BAERZE -

BARKEZERBIRAAE o ZZE-NFFH @



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —Z-WE+=-H=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(b)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, including
what is meant by a right to defer settlement and that a
right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting
period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the
likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer
settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability
can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that only
if a conversion option in a convertible liability is itself
accounted for as an equity instrument would the terms of
a liability not impact its classification. The 2022
Amendments further clarify that, among covenants of a
liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those with
which an entity must comply on or before the reporting
date affect the classification of that liability as current or
non-current. Additional disclosures are required for
non-current liabilities that are subject to the entity
complying with future covenants within 12 months after
the reporting period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of its
liabilities as at 1 January 2023 and 2024 and concluded
that the classification of its liabilities as current or
non-current remained unchanged upon initial application
of the amendments. Accordingly, the amendments did not
have any impact on the financial position or performance
of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and
require additional disclosure of such arrangements. The
disclosure requirements in the amendments are intended
to assist users of financial statements in understanding
the effects of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s
liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk. As the
Group does not have supplier finance arrangements, the
amendments did not have any impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meMEERME (&)

31 December 2024 —Z - W&+ - H=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. SEFBEE @
2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG 23 CHEMEEREMNERM

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS BREEL

The Group has not applied the following new and revised REBIRNRZS Y HRE A+ FERA

HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in TEBEHMEBRERNEETE ST

these financial statements. The Group intends to apply these FEIREER| o REBFMNRZERLBE

new and revised HKFRSs, if applicable, when they become EXBTRRELENEQEER (0@

effective. A) -

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial ERUMBREED  HEFANZIREE

Statements® F18%
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public ERARMBREED  FAATHELHNEL A
Accountability: Disclosures? F19% #E

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the Classification and EAMBRERL 2RIASERTEZEIT

and HKFRS 7 Measurement of Financial FORRBRYE
Instruments? REERETH
(B3TA)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Contracts Referencing EENEREEN  SREBEAEEHE L

and HKFRS 7 Nature-dependent Electricity? FORREBHE B4
RERRETH
(fB3TK)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between BENRREED AKEELEBEL AR EL
and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint FIRRBEGH  EZEHEELSERTE
Venture* B FH28%,

(BFTA)
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability' BECQHENENSR HZALLHE
(fB3T)

Annual Improvements to Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, BEYEFLEN  BAUBREENZ R BA
HKFRS Accounting HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 72 B ER T EE MBREEMNETR  BEH
Standards — Volume 11 dE-F11E BRELRFS  BANE

BEEAF0RREECH
ERIETH 27T
l Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025 1 R-E_RAF— A — B Z2EHBENFE
J& HARS A4 2k
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026 2 RIE - ANF—A—HEZERBENSE
J& HA R AE
g Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 3 R-BE-_+HF—F— B Z2EHBNE
2027 JE /& B £ 3K

& No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for 4 MR TEAR A B - AR

adoption

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to EHEBA RN AEBRN TS SRS E

be applicable to the Group is described below. BlzEE—ERBMINT -

BARKEZERBIRAAE o ZZE-NFFH @



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —Z-WE+=-H=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. FHE@
2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG 23 EEMEBEERERNE BB
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS &8 E 2 Bl @)

(Continued)

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements.
While a number of sections have been brought forward from
HKAS 1 with limited changes, HKFRS 18 introduces new
requirements for presentation within the statement of profit or
loss, including specified totals and subtotals. Entities are
required to classify all income and expenses within the
statement of profit or loss into one of the five categories:
operating, investing, financing, income taxes and discontinued
operations and to present two new defined subtotals. It also
requires disclosures about management-defined performance
measures in a single note and introduces enhanced
requirements on the grouping (aggregation and disaggregation)
and the location of information in both the primary financial
statements and the notes. Some requirements previously
included in HKAS 1 are moved to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, which is renamed
as HKAS 8 Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements. As a
consequence of the issuance of HKFRS 18, limited, but widely
applicable, amendments are made to HKAS 7 Statement of
Cash Flows, HKAS 33 Earnings per Share and HKAS 34 Interim
Financial Reporting. In addition, there are minor consequential
amendments to other HKFRSs. HKFRS 18 and the consequential
amendments to other HKFRSs are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2027 with earlier application
permitted. Retrospective application is required. The Group is
currently analysing the new requirements and assessing the
impact of HKFRS 18 on the presentation and disclosure of the
Group's financial statements.

HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced
disclosure requirements while still applying the recognition,
measurement and presentation requirements in other HKFRSs.
To be eligible, at the end of the reporting period, an entity
must be a subsidiary as defined in HKFRS 10 Consolidated
Financial Statements, cannot have public accountability and
must have a parent (ultimate or intermediate) that prepares
consolidated financial statements available for public use which
comply with HKFRSs. Earlier application is permitted. As the
Company is a listed company, it is not eligible to elect to apply
HKFRS 19. Some of the Company’s subsidiaries are considering
the application of HKFRS 19 in their specified financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 clarify the date on which
a financial asset or financial liability is derecognised and
introduce an accounting policy option to derecognise a financial
liability that is settled through an electronic payment system
before the settlement date if specified criteria are met. The
amendments clarify how to assess the contractual cash flow
characteristics of financial assets with environmental, social and
governance and other similar contingent features. Moreover,
the amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
financial assets with non-recourse features and contractually
linked instruments. The amendments also include additional
disclosures for investments in equity instruments designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income and financial
instruments with contingent features. The amendments shall be
applied retrospectively with an adjustment to opening retained
profits (or other component of equity) at the initial application
date. Prior periods are not required to be restated and can only
be restated without the use of hindsight. Earlier application of
either all the amendments at the same time or only the
amendments related to the classification of financial assets is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Contracts Referencing
Nature-dependent Electricity clarify the application of the
"own-use” requirements for in-scope contracts and amend the
designation requirements for a hedged item in a cash flow
hedging relationship for in-scope contracts. The amendments
also include additional disclosures that enable users of financial
statements to understand the effects these contracts have on
an entity’s financial performance and future cash flows. The
amendments relating to the own-use exception shall be applied
retrospectively. Prior periods are not required to be restated
and can only be restated without the use of hindsight. The
amendments relating to the hedge accounting shall be applied
prospectively to new hedging relationships designated on or
after the date of initial application. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 shall be
applied at the same time. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —Z-WE+=-H=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. EFEBE@
2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG 23 EEMEBEERERNE BB
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS R & 2R @)

(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in
HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution
of assets constitutes a business. For a transaction involving
assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting
from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss
only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that
associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be applied
prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of
amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the
HKICPA. However, the amendments are available for adoption
now.

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess
whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency and
how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement
date when exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require
disclosures of information that enable users of financial
statements to understand the impact of a currency not being
exchangeable. Earlier application is permitted. When applying
the amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative
information. Any cumulative effect of initially applying the
amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to the
opening balance of retained profits or to the cumulative
amount of translation differences accumulated in a separate
component of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial
application. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards —
Volume 11 set out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7 (and the
accompanying Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7), HKFRS 9,
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7. Details of the amendments that are
expected to be applicable to the Group are as follows:

J HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The
amendments have updated certain wording in paragraph
B38 of HKFRS 7 and paragraphs IG1, IG14 and IG20B of
the Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7 for the purpose
of simplification or achieving consistency with other
paragraphs in the standard and/or with the concepts and
terminology used in other standards. In addition, the
amendments clarify that the Guidance on implementing
HKFRS 7 does not necessarily illustrate all the
requirements in the referenced paragraphs of HKFRS 7 nor
does it create additional requirements. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

o HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments clarify
that when a lessee has determined that a lease liability
has been extinguished in accordance with HKFRS 9, the
lessee is required to apply paragraph 3.3.3 of HKFRS 9
and recognise any resulting gain or loss in profit or loss. In
addition, the amendments have updated certain wording
in paragraph 5.1.3 of HKFRS 9 and Appendix A of HKFRS
9 to remove potential confusion. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —ZE —UF+=-H=+—H

2.

2.3

2.4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(Continued)

o HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The
amendments clarify that the relationship described in
paragraph B74 of HKFRS 10 is just one example of various
relationships that might exist between the investor and
other parties acting as de facto agents of the investor,
which removes the inconsistency with the requirement in
paragraph B73 of HKFRS 10. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

o HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments
replace the term “cost method” with “at cost” in
paragraph 37 of HKAS 7 following the prior deletion of
the definition of “cost method”. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business combinations and goodwiill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of
non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the
acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition
date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group's previously held equity interests in the acquiree over
the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the
sum of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair
value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as
at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that
are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —Z-WE+=-H=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. B BEXRw

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 EES 5T BX &)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss at fair value at the end
of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer
the liability takes place either in the principal market for the
asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the
most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible
by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured
using the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants
act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly
or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the

lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the
end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets and investment
properties), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An
asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or
cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair value less costs
of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —Z-WE+=-H=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. B BEXRw

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 EEE i HE @)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of
the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters
building) is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it
can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or,
otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in
those expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset
other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of
that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of any
depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss in
the period in which it arises.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meMEERME (&)

31 December 2024 —_E—_ &+ _-A=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. BFBEXR@wm

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 EEEiHHE @)

Related parties 2l el
A party is considered to be related to the Group if: ETRHNBRT BEAFBHEAENE
=] B RA B 7T
(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s (@) BEAAF AT AT T AT
family and that person BFRUNREKE - A
(i) has control or joint control over the Group; () HAEEEEGIEXERE
il 7

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (i) HAEBEBEAFEN %

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of (i) AAEBEFEZFRRNEES
the Group or of a parent of the Group; EIREKE

or B4
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following (b) MWZEEWMRIATEM—BGY

conditions applies: BI#E 1% A B 5

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the same () ZEREAEEER —£H
group; [BA=W/NE]

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the iy ZEBRBAS EEMNBZEAR
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow AlZEZE AR (AR —=
subsidiary of the other entity); BHELARE - [WB AR KA

A B R AL ARG
—WNEIDEE

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the (i) ZEBEAEEHRRR —F=
same third party; FHEERA

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the (ivy " ERBERF=Z7THEEZAR
other entity is an associate of the third entity; Al S—ERBAZE=AHN

==
T
S
)
ol

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the ) ZEEAMAEEESNE
benefit of employees of either the Group or an Al BN & B RE B 5 A B B2 HY
entity related to the Group; 1B 8 i &% 3 AR IR 18 8 FET
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —ZE —UF+=-H=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. B BEXRw

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 EES 5T BX &)

Related parties (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies: (Continued)

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. When an
item of property, plant and equipment is classified as held for
sale or when it is part of a disposal group classified as held for
sale, it is not depreciated and is accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 5. The cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a
replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual
rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 5%
Leasehold improvements 20% to 25%
Plant and machinery 10%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 15% to 20%
Motor vehicles 20%
Moulds 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —Z-WE+=-H=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. B BEXRw

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 EES 5T BX &)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including right-of-use assets) held to earn rental income and/or
for capital appreciation. Such properties are measured initially
at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value,
which reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting
period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the statement of profit or
loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied
property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts
for such property in accordance with the policy stated under
“Property, plant and equipment and depreciation” for owned
property and/or accounts for such property in accordance with
the policy stated under “Right-of-use assets” for property held
as a right-of-use asset up to the date of change in use, and any
difference at that date between the carrying amount and the
fair value of the property accounted for as movement in asset
revaluation reserve in accordance with HKAS 16 Property, Plant
and Equipment if there is a gain, or charged to the statement
of profit or loss if there is a loss. On disposal of the transferred
asset, the relevant portion of the asset revaluation reserve
realised in respect of previous valuation is transferred to
accumulated losses as a movement in reserves.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either
finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period
and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a
finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Patents

Purchased patents are stated at cost less any impairment losses
and are amortised on the straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives of 10 years.

Software

Purchased software is stated at cost less any impairment losses
and is amortised on the straight-line basis over the estimated
useful life of 1 to 5 years.

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss
as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete
and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will
generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources
to complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the
expenditure during the development. Product development
expenditure which does not meet these criteria is expensed
when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised using the straight-line
basis over the commercial lives of the underlying products not
exceeding 5 years, commencing from the date when the
products are put into commercial production.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —Z-WE+=-H=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is,
or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

(@) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the
amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land 49 to 50 years
Offices and warehouses 2 to 7 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.

When a right-of-use asset meets the definition of
investment property, it is included in investment
properties. The corresponding right-of-use asset is initially
measured at cost, and subsequently measured at fair
value, in accordance with the Group’s policy for
“investment properties”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. BFBEXR@wm

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 EES 5T BX &)

Leases (Continued) HE @
Group as a lessee (Continued) KEBERBEAMN (#)
(b) Lease liabilities b) MHEEE

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The
lease payments also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Group and payments of penalties for termination of a
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate the lease. The variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in
the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —ZE —UF+=-H=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. EFHEm@
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 EE G5 B X 30
Leases (Continued) HE @
Group as a lessee (Continued) KEFERAHEA (#)
(c) Short-term leases (c) HREHHE
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition AEEHRAERAEERFE A
exemption to its short-term leases of office and E(ANHEEH /MK B HE12E
warehouses (that is those leases that have a lease term of AU ANETEEEEEEERN
12 months or less from the commencement date and do HE)ERAEHHEE®mARR -
not contain a purchase option).
Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as an CHEENHENRIEZESRER
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. HERHABRAMAX
Group as a lessor KEFHERLHHEA

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception
(or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as
either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are
classified as operating leases. When a contract contains lease
and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for
on a straight-line basis over the lease term and is included in
revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating
nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same
basis as rental income.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are
accounted for as finance leases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost and fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL").

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a
financial asset not at FVTPL, transaction costs. Trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient are
measured at the transaction price determined under HKFRS 15
in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVTOCI"), it needs to give rise to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the
principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows
that are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured at amortised cost are held within a business model
with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified and
measured at FVTOCI are held within a business model with the
objective of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and
selling. Financial assets which are not held within the
aforementioned business models are classified and measured at
fair value through profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —ZE —UF+=-H=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. B BEXRw

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 EE2HBE @)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace are recognised on the trade
date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL are carried in the statement of
financial position at fair value with net changes in fair value
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at FVTOCI. Dividends on the equity investments are also
recognised as other income in the statement of profit or loss
when the right of payment has been established.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

] the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

J the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a
third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount
of consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —Z-WE+=-H=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. B BEXRw

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 EES 5T BX &)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at FVTPL. ECLs are
based on the difference between the contractual cash flows
due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation
of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows
will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other
credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that
result from default events that are possible within the next 12
months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information. The Group
considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written
off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 1 -

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 2 -

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to

lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —ZE —UF+=-H=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans
and borrowings and payables.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables
and lease liabilities.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other
payables, and (borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and lease
liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated
at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in the statement of
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms
of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an
exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the
difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if
there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and, in
the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises
direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and
disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —Z-WE+=-H=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. B BEXRw

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly
liquid deposits with a maturity of generally within three months
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash,
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and held for
the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
and short-term deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of
the Group's cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of the
reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

The Group provides for warranties in relation to the sale of
certain lighting products for general repairs of defects occurring
during the warranty period. Provisions for these assurance-type
warranties granted by the Group are initially recognised based
on sales volume and past experience of the level of repairs and
returns, discounted to their present values as appropriate. The
warranty-related cost is revised annually.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and an associate, when
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —Z-WE+=-H=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. B BEXRw

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 EES 5T BX &)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the
end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and
only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity
or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets
are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is released to the statement of
profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset
by equal annual instalments or deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and released to profit or loss by way of a
reduced depreciation charge.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —Z-WE+=-H=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. EFHEm@
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 EE G5 B X 30
Revenue recognition PN
Revenue from contracts with customers EF&SAHA
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when BEAHWATIRE @R A E S
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at REZETEFPRHER MEINSE

an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which the
Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or
services to the customer. The variable consideration is estimated
at contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable
that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved.

Sale of lighting products

Revenue from the sale of lighting products is recognised at the
point in time when control of the asset is transferred to the
customer, generally on delivery of the lighting products.

Some contracts for sale of lighting products provide customers
with rights of return, giving rise to variable consideration.

Rights of return

For contracts which provide a customer with a right to return
the goods within a specified period, the expected value method
is used to estimate the goods that will not be returned because
this method best predicts the amount of variable consideration
to which the Group will be entitled. The requirements in HKFRS
15 on constraining estimates of variable consideration are
applied in order to determine the amount of variable
consideration that can be included in the transaction price. For
goods that are expected to be returned, instead of revenue, a
refund liability is recognised. An inventory (and the
corresponding adjustment to cost of sales) is also recognised
for the right to recover products from a customer.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms.

@ Neo-Neon Holdings Limited e Annual Report 2024

ERRAEEBHRIBZEFR ML
RIGERESHRE -

HeanRERETESH Babat
AEEEZRENMIRE T EF MBS
ERHEBHNRKESHEH ATERERS
WRABE TG L& H A
EEAE2RENHERETEEEERS
R DHERRFUEEE I
BEHB AU EREBRBILLE -

1 &R E

6 AR B 2 dn B MR A O I 4R
BETEP (—RRXMNKRBEM) B

REFPREENETHEARENE
MEEAMmS  BAHREEEBRMG
A RENER  HZSERER
AAREE ARG ZKERRE -
AEECERBEEMBHRELERFES
BARBMRG AT EREGLFTORE A
EEAFARZEROATEREDSE -
BEHSEeREEMNEmERERRENR
BEMFERERB/EA - BF (RHHEE
AL RREREE) T kE RS E
an B HE A T LARE R ©

A WA K
T2 S WA BT HA P 3R B R L £

7
o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Other income

Interest revenue is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or
a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before
the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods
or services to the customer).

Refund liabilities

A refund liability is recognised for the obligation to refund
some or all of the consideration received (or receivable) from a
customer and is measured at the amount the Group ultimately
expects it will have to return to the customer. The Group
updates its estimates of refund liabilities (and the corresponding
change in the transaction price) at the end of each reporting
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —Z-WE+=-H=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. B BEXRw

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 EES 5T BX &)

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services in exchange for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”). The cost of equity-settled transactions with
employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the
date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by
an external valuer using a binomial model.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in
equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service
conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for
equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group's best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period represents
the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken
into account when determining the grant date fair value of
awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is
assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance
conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any
other conditions attached to an award, but without an
associated service requirement, are considered to be
non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in
the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing
of an award unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date
of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This
includes any award where non-vesting conditions within the
control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is
granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —Z-WE+=-H=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. B BEXRw

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 EES 5T BX &)

Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the statement of
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute 16% of their payroll
costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.

The Group offers qualified employees in the USA the
opportunity to participate in a defined contribution retirement
plan qualifying under the provisions of section 401(k) of the
Internal Revenue Code (the “401(k) plan”). The 401(k) plan is
managed by an independent trustee. The 401(k) plan is an
optional benefit, the only obligation of the 401(k) plan with
respect to the retirement benefit plan is to comply with the
guidelines under the plan. The Group offers a match
contribution up to 4% of the employees’ eligible compensation,
subject to a cap of US$6,000 per year for certain employees.
Employer matching contributions vest upon receipt or are
subject to a specific vesting schedule.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Events after the reporting period

If the Group receives information after the reporting period, but
prior to the date of authorisation for issue, about conditions
that existed at the end of the reporting period, it will assess
whether the information affects the amounts that it recognises
in its financial statements. The Group will adjust the amounts
recognised in its financial statements to reflect any adjusting
events after the reporting period and update the disclosures
that relate to those conditions in light of the new information.
For non-adjusting events after the reporting period, the Group
will not change the amounts recognised in its financial
statements, but will disclose the nature of the non-adjusting
events and an estimate of their financial effects, or a statement
that such an estimate cannot be made, if applicable.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in
which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —Z-WE+=-H=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. B BEXRw

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 EES 5T BX &)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB. Each entity in
the Group determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are measured
using that functional currency. The functional currency of the
Company is Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"). Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a
non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with
the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of
the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair
value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date
on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in
advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each
payment or receipt of the advance consideration.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

The functional currencies of the Company and certain overseas
subsidiaries are currencies other than the RMB. As at the end of
the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities
are translated into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the
end of the reporting period and their statements of profit or
loss are translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange
rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve, except to the extent that the differences are
attributable to non-controlling interests. On disposal of a
foreign operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve.
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the
closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of the Company and overseas subsidiaries are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of
the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of the Company
and overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —Z-WE+=-H=+—H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on
an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use
and fair value less cost of disposal of the cash-generating units
to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use
and fair value less cost of disposal requires the Group to make
an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2024 was
RMB91,413,000 (2023: RMB90,069,000). Further details are
given in note 16 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on loan
receivable

The measurement of expected credit losses under HKFRS 9
requires judgement, in particular, the estimation of the amount
and timing of future cash flows and collateral values when
determining expected credit losses and the assessment of a
significant increase in credit risk. These estimates are driven by
a number of factors, such as risks of default, loss given default
and collateral recovery, changes in which can result in different
levels of allowances.

The Group's expected credit loss calculations on loan receivable
are based on assumptions about risks of default and loss given
default. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculations, based on legality of the collaterals, comparable
companies in the market, existing market conditions and
expected cash inflows at the end of each reporting period. It
has been the Group’s policy to regularly review its models in
the context of actual loss experience and adjust when
necessary. Further details of the Group’s loan receivable and
the key assumptions and inputs used for impairment
calculations are given in note 20 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBBRRKE (E)
31 December 2024 —Z-WE+=-H=+—H

4.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their products and services and has two
reportable operating segments as follows:

o the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") lighting segment
consists of research and development, manufacture of
lighting products in the PRC and Vietnam and distribution
of lighting products in the PRC and overseas; and

o the United States of America (“USA") lighting segment
consists of the manufacture and trading of lighting
products in the USA.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit,
which is a measure of adjusted profit before tax. The adjusted
profit before tax is measured consistently with the Group’s
profit before tax except that interest income, non-lease-related
finance costs, government grants, as well as unallocated
corporate income and gains and expenses are excluded from
this measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, loan to the ultimate
holding company, tax recoverable, restricted cash, cash and
cash equivalents and other unallocated head office and
corporate assets as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude tax payable, deferred tax liabilities
and other unallocated head office and corporate liabilities as
these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference
to the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the
then prevailing market prices.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meMEERME (&)

31 December 2024 —Z - W&+ - H=+—H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. RETBER @
(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2024 BZ-_Z_NME+=-B=+—HILHEF
E
PRC USA
lighting lighting Total
/R &R BH EEifcy Hat

RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ARBTRE AR®TR AR®BTR

Segment revenue (note 5): 2 EBULA (BEES) -
Sales to external customers HINABEF 2 HER 67,477 678,663 746,140
Intersegment sales S EEEE 21,085 - 21,085
88,562 678,663 767,225

Reconciliation: E:o
Elimination of intersegment sales 88 5> EBIE BE B (21,085)
Total segment revenue S EU A B R 746,140
Segment results DEEE (6,657) 28,813 22,156
Reconciliation: AR
Interest income and unallocated FEWARK DB A K

income and gains Wz 34,247
Finance costs (other than interest on BI & A (FHE B EWNF| &

lease liabilities) BRAN) (147)
Government grants B # B 203
Unallocated expenses AOBE X H (8,387)
Profit before tax W= 156 A s A1 48,072
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FEMBHERRME (F)

31 December 2024 —ZE —UF+=-H=+—H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4,

(Continued)

KREFPHER @)

Year ended 31 December 2024 (Continued) BE-—_E-_MNME+=-_A=+—-HLHEF
E (&)
PRC USA
lighting lighting Total
FEBE  EERH Mt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETn AR®BTrT AR¥TR
Segment assets PHEE 364,606 359,899 724,505
Reconciliation: #HR -
Deferred tax assets RETRIBE E 27,919
Loan to the ultimate holding BT H&EERAF
company 400,406
Tax recoverable A 4y Bl B 18 2,140
Restricted cash 2R HIR 1,319
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY 607,214
Corporate and other NEREAM
unallocated assets ROWMEE 124,298
Total assets BEE 1,887,801
Segment liabilities DEEE 46,994 193,973 240,967
Reconciliation: #ER -
Tax payable e T 18 1,399
Deferred tax liabilities EEFRIEAE 26,227
Corporate and other unallocated RNA R EAM
liabilities AOEEE 2,811
Total liabilities BEBE 271,404
PRC USA
lighting lighting  Unallocated Total
H Bl R A ZEEH RO @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AR¥TR AR%Trn AR%Tn
Other segment information: Hitt o BEH
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment £ & & E (B EFEE),/HE
losses on financial assets, net BEFE 102 2,482 (4,859) (2,275)
Provision for inventories included in  FF AR EFERAZFEE
cost of inventories sold B 520 2,087 2,607
Depreciation and amortisation HEREH 10,591 14,264 4 24,859
Capital expenditure* BARRX* 5,063 4,629 = 9,692
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and * EBABRYBEYE BERSEMER

equipment and intangible assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meMEERME (&)

31 December 2024 —Z - W&+ - H=+—H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, RBEFTER )
(Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2023 HEe-—_T-—=f+_-_A=+—HIt&E
i3
PRC USA
lighting lighting Total
B R A Eei =t

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTIT ARBTT ARETRT

Segment revenue (note 5): 2 EBULA (BEES) -
Sales to external customers HIMNABEPZHER 82,239 703,871 786,110
Intersegment sales S EEEE 15,800 - 15,800
98,039 703,871 801,910

Reconciliation: E:o
Elimination of intersegment sales Hif 85 o> 2B B 55 & (15,800)
Total segment revenue S EU A B R 786,110
Segment results DEEE (4,564) 30,158 25,594
Reconciliation: AR
Interest income and unallocated FEWARK DB A K

income and gains Wz 27,993
Finance costs (other than interest on BI & A (FHE B EWNF| &

lease liabilities) BR M) (131)
Government grants B # B 56
Unallocated expenses AOBE X H (12,132)
Profit before tax B 156 Al 4 A1 41,380

BARKEZERBIRAAE o ZZE-NFFH @



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FEMBHERRME (F)

31 December 2024 —Z —[UF+ = F =

B

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4,

(Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2023 (Continued)

KREFPHER @)

BHE_Z_=F+-_A=+—8HL1L*F
(&)

PRC USA
lighting lighting Total
o B BR AR B2 AR HEr
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARETT AR®BTIT AREFTT
Segment assets DEEE 345,141 393,502 738,643
Reconciliation: #HR -
Deferred tax assets EEFIAE E 26,552
Loan to the ultimate holding BT H&EERAF
company 395,403
Tax recoverable A U [ 74 18 7,284
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY 498,097
Corporate and other NEREAM
unallocated assets ROBLEE 150,902
Total assets REE 1,816,881
Segment liabilities PEEE 25,532 200,291 225,823
Reconciliation: #HR -
Deferred tax liabilities BEEMIBAG 24,584
Corporate and other unallocated NA R EAM
liabilities AOEAE 3,824
Total liabilities BERE 254,231
PRC USA
lighting lighting  Unallocated Total
B R XE R RAHE @it
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFTT ARBTT ARETT AR®BTR
Other segment information: HEttAHER :
(Reversal of impairment)/ SREE (BERE)/ RES
impairment losses on BEE
financial assets, net (5,122) 1,379 5,004 1,261
Reversal of provision for FTABEFERAZER
inventories included in cost  EERE
of inventories sold (2,347) (2,785) - (5,132)
Depreciation and amortisation #7%& % i 11,702 13,717 920 26,339
Capital expenditure* EREZ 5,295 4,883 = 10,178
& Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and * BERABYBEYE  BE RSN ET

equipment and intangible assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Geographical information

(a) Revenue from external customers

FEMBEHERME (&)

31 December 2024 —Z - W&+ - H=+—H

4.

ReEFTHER @)

ith & & R
(a) KEIZREFZKA
2024 2023
—ECE —E-=%F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARETTT

North America b3 721,233 755,123
Europe B 12,315 6,985
The PRC A Y 671 1,549
Asia (excluding the PRC) M (T BEEFRE) 11,068 22,393
Other countries HEMBER 853 60
Total 4% 746,140 786,110

The revenue information above is based on the
locations of the customers.

(b) Non-current assets

LRBABEHERTFPARALE
M E e

(b) FRBEE

2024 2023
—E_NEF —E =%
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARETTT

North America SIS 135,301 141,746
The PRC llEi 111,631 111,124
Asia (excluding the PRC) M (NEIERE) 72,029 67,984
Total non-current assets IERBEERE 318,961 320,854

The non-current asset information above is based on the
locations of the assets and excludes financial instruments
and deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no single customer
contributed 10% or more of the Group's total revenue.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, revenue generated
from a customer by the USA lighting segment amounting to
approximately RMB84,064,000 accounted for over 10% of the
Group's revenue.

LR RBDEEEREREEM
EUuEmME BEFTEREMIA
FIRER TR E EE -

FHREIEFEFZEH

HEz_Z_NMF+_A=+—HLILHF
B HES—XFEBAEEAKA
FI10%3K A | o

HE_T_=Ff+-_A=+—HLHF
E - REEZEBAI TN —BEFH
W A4 5 AN R#84,064,0007T @ {HANE
B ABIBEI0% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —ZE —UF+=-H=+—H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND 5. WA HMEWA - KERE
LOSSES, NET BEFEE
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WADHT :
2024 2023
—B-EF —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR® T ARBTIT

Revenue from contracts with customers &/ & £ A 746,140 786,110
Revenue from contracts with customers E2ERESHWA
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (i) WAERBEH
Year ended 31 December 2024 BE-—E2-_MmME+=-—B=+—H
IEFE
PRC USA
Segments lighting lighting Total
Al rh B B8 A ZERH ot

RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB’'000
AR®TR AR®BTRT AR®TR

Types of goods or services EmkREER
Sale of lighting products fHERAEm 67,477 678,663 746,140
Geographic markets Hh 33 77 35
North America slees 44,373 676,860 721,233
Europe B 12,315 - 12,315
The PRC # 671 - 671
Asia (excluding the PRC) M (B EFRE) 9,977 1,091 11,068
Other countries H At B 141 712 853
Total revenue from contracts BRPEHW AL

with customers 67,477 678,663 746,140

Timing of revenue recognition W A 7 52 & &
Goods transferred and services REBREBEm
rendered at a point in time N2 4 AR 75 67,477 678,663 746,140
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FEMBEHERME (&)

31 December 2024 —Z - W&+ - H=+—H

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND 5. WA HMEWKA - RBERE
LOSSES, NET (continued) BEE@
Revenue from contracts with customers EEEHRA @)
(Continued)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) () WA ZHF B &)
Year ended 31 December 2023 Bz =#+-_A=+—H
IEFE
PRC USA
Segments lighting lighting Total
2 [ BB ER & [ R B #Et
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTT AR®ETT
Types of goods or services EmER
Sale of lighting products 55 RRBA & o 82,239 703,871 786,110
Geographic markets 35 5
North America SIS 51,461 703,662 755,123
Europe B 6,836 149 6,985
The PRC H 1,549 - 1,549
Asia (excluding the PRC) M (TEIEFRE) 22,393 - 22,393
Other countries HaBER - 60 60
Total revenue from contracts BEP&EHRABE
with customers 82,239 703,871 786,110
Timing of revenue recognition U A 752 B R
Goods transferred and services REEEEREm
rendered at a point in time KR AR 75 82,239 703,871 786,110
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —ZE —UF+=-H=+—H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND 5. WA BHEMKWA > REREB
LOSSES, NET (continued) BEE@
Revenue from contracts with customers EEEHWA @
(Continued)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) (1) WAEZRIBHH (&)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue TRINRRA RE AR ERE K
recognised in the current reporting period that were ALH GIARESHNAELERE)

included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the
reporting period:

2024 2023
—E_NEF —E-=%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T ARBTIT

Revenue recognised that was included RB|EHWAF ALY EEBEZ
in contract liabilities at the beginning MR A :
of the reporting period:

Sale of lighting products $H & BB E oo 818 2,434
(ii) Performance obligations (i7) BHEME
Information about the Group’s performance obligations is AEBBHSEERBFMRMOT

summarised below:

Sale of lighting products P AR B A 2

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of BB TR ERIPE S ER -
the lighting products and payment is generally due within — M RX M AEI3021808 A
30 to 180 days from delivery, except for new customers, RS —REEN N

where payment in advance is normally required.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FEMBEHERME (&)

31 December 2024 —Z - W&+ - H=+—H

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND 5.

LOSSES, NET (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations (Continued)
Sale of lighting products (Continued)

No transaction price was allocated to the performance
obligations that are unsatisfied as of the end of the
reporting period.

WA~ HMBA -~ EZRE
BEEEm

EEEHRA @)

(7)) BEXEE (&)
74 & HE B 2 om (%)

RBEEHR BEIEETEE
REHBEEHNRZHER -

2024 2023
—E-mE —EZ=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

W1t ARBT T ARETTT

Other income Hb g A
Bank interest income RITHR B WA 19,935 17,085
Other interest income E R Bl A 34 14,003 10,139
Dividend income from financial BARBEABREN
assets at FVTPL TREEZREHKA 3,515 3,177
Government grants* IR 4 B > 203 56
Gross rental income from investment &M EKLEHER
properties operating leases: e WAL :
Lease payments, including HENK  BEETE
fixed payments (VBN 9,953 8,920
Others Hh, 4,757 6,813
Total other income H bl A 4858 52,366 46,190
Gains and losses, net WaEKkEEFE
Fair value gains/(losses) on KEWELAREBE
investments properties, net Wz (E1E) %58 14 10,317 (1,493)
Gains/(losses) on disposal of HEWE  BE LK
items of property, plant and BH 2z W (Ei8)
equipment 400 (121)
Fair value (losses)/gains of BRARBEGAEBFD
financial assets at FVTPL, net ERMEEZANEE
(E518),WmF 5 (6,136) 2,721
Foreign exchange differences, net HINE 7= BB KA (676) 3,871
Total gains W 4858 3,905 4,978
Total other income, gains and losses, H I A K 18 35 48 58
net 56,271 51,168
o There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to * B 4m B 2% 25 45 B B 8 B R E AR IR sk K

these grants.

BER-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —ZE —UF+=-H=+—H

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. BR® AT R
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ N & E BB AR M &g (5EA)
(crediting): AT &IEBER :
2024 2023
—E-NE ST
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

Hrat ARBT ARETTT

Cost of inventories sold BEEFEMRA 419,993 444,785
Depreciation of property, plant ME - BEREZBITE

and equipment 13 7,849 9,627
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ¥ FAEEEFE 15 10,600 11,103
Research and development costs: R AN

Deferred expenditure amortised* B RS 17 4,342 3,696
Amortisation of other intangible Hfh 72 & B S

assets* 17 2,068 1,913
Additional provision** REINBE R+ 27 1,472 28,659
Lease payments not included in the 2R E & ERKRFTAD

measurement of lease liabilities ME 15(c) 119 471
Auditor’s remuneration % SRl B & 2,748 2,699
Employee benefit expense (including EE®FIHZ (BIEEE M

directors’ and chief executive’s FETHAE ZH M

remuneration (note 8)) (FF5x8))

Wages and salaries TENFH® 130,112 132,788

Pension scheme contributions*** IRIKEFTEIfEFR*** 6,497 5,944
Total #Et 136,609 138,732

Direct operating expenses (including R E BEEE IR E M ED

repairs and maintenance) arising BEELERX (B
from rental-earning investment HIEREE)
properties 294 340

(Reversal of provision)/provision of £ &&EZE (B mEH)

impairment losses on financial BEE R F R
assets, net:
Trade and bills receivables W E 5 B8R 1 % e U R 79 2,555 1,546
Other receivables H b fE U 3R 21 172 (5,287)
Loan to the ultimate holding BERTE&EERRAR
company 22 (5,002) 5,002
Total B (2,275) 1,261

Write-down/(reversal of write-down) 7175 R & 7] # IR % E
of inventories to net (R B ) *
realisable value® 2,607 (5,132)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Continued)

* *

** *

The amortisation of deferred development costs and other intangible
assets for the year is included in “Administrative expenses” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Except for additional provision for warranties of RMB1,472,000 (2023:
RMB587,000) included in “Cost of sales” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the additional provision for litigation are
included in “Administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.

There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group
as the employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.

Included in “Cost of sales” in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.

FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

FEMBEHERME (&)

31 December 2024 —Z - W&+ - H=+—H

6. PBRF AR @)
S FRIEEREA AR B & ERE
et AGREBERERITTEAXIR -
= BREFAGREBERKR[EERA] NEEI
REBBEARY,472,000t (ZE ==
£ AR #587,0007T) 4b - B8N o AL B
HAGF AR A BEATERALZ A -
ok WEEGNERABHAEBAEESH
AR R B AT 5K E -
& FTAREERERIHEMARIA -
7. BIBERA

RELEXBEOPBRADIHTOT

2024 2023
—E-mE —EZ=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBTT

Interest on bank loans RITERF B 147 131
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERNE 1,185 1,401
Total RET 1,332 1,532

BAERREZERERAT o« —T-MFEFHK @



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —ZE —UF+=-H=+—H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EBERFETHABZEHM
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, FR BEFERFTETHRAEZHE
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) B EmEA - BB D AER E383(1)
and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of (@ b OFROETA R AR (HEEE
the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Rz BER)BHIE —BHEEDOT -

Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2024 2023
—E_NE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR® T ARBT T

Fees e 995 1,080
Other emoluments: HAap i< -
Salaries, allowances and benefits e EMEREMREFT
in kind 935 1,220
Pension scheme contributions BRIKE T B 16 20
Subtotal NEE 951 1,240
Total fees and other emoluments we hHEHME S 4258 1,946 2,320
No share option was granted to directors during the years BE_Z_WFE-_FE-_=ZF+=A
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. —+—BLEFE BERESRELET

o] B8 4 -

(a) Independent non-executive directors (d) BIAFHITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors FASXNFBILIIERTEST 218
during the year were as follows: ST
2024 2023
—E-NE ZEZ=F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBT ARBTT

Mr. Fan Ren Da, Anthony BLELE 366 360
Mr. Liu Tian Min BRR&AE
(resigned on 16 January 2024) (R-ZZF=—pmF—H+ NHAEFEE) 16 360
Ms. Li Ming Qi FTHHm LT 366 360
Ms. Yang Juan BIEZ Tt
(appointed on 16 January 2024) (R=ZF=pHF—F+ NHEZ(E) 247 -
Total BEt 995 1,080
There were no other emoluments payable to the FRPEEENBILIFNITES 2
independent non-executive directors during the year Emle (ZE_=F:£8) -
(2023: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meMEERME (&)

31 December 2024 —Z - W&+ - H=+—H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EERTFEMTHABZHM
REMUNERATION (continued) (#&)
(b) Executive directors and chief executive (b) HITEERFTETHAE
Salaries,
allowances  Performance- Pension
and benefits related scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions  remuneration
e 2 REHH R IRGHE 40
e  RENEAN AN it nE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARE TR ARE TR AR® TR AR TR ARE TR

2024 —BCmE
Executive director and BIOERR
the chief executive: FETHAR:
Ms. Zhang Yuan Yuan REELL

(appointed on 20/8/2024) (R=Z=-pmF
NA-+BEZT) - - - - -
Mr. Gao Zhi (resigned on BELE

20/8/2024) (R=Z-m#F
NAZTHET) = = = = =
Executive director: BIEE:
Mr. Lian Chenwei ERBEE - 935 - 16 951
Non-executive directors; FHITES:
Mr. Kong Linggi LemEsE - - - - -
Ms. Liu Wenjing AxERt - - - = =
Total @& - 935 = 16 951
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —ZE —UF+=-H=+—H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EESRFIETHAEBZEFM
REMUNERATION (continued) (%)
(b) Executive directors and chief executive (b) SITEERTETHAE
(Continued) (&)
Salaries,
allowances  Performance- Pension

and benefits related scheme Total

Fees in kind honuses contributions  remuneration

E2a =i FcEoNiil RN M

#we  REDEHN Al R B

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT  AREBTR  AREBTRT  ARETR  ARET:R

2023 —TZ=F
Executive director and the RITEER
chief executive: FETHAR:
Mr. Gao Zhi REEE - = = = -
Executive director: RITESE:
Mr. Lian Chenwei ERERE (R
(appointed on 16/102023)  E==F1A
THREEZE) - 989 - 16 1,005
Mr. Liu Zhigang AB@mEE (K=
(resigned on 1/4/2023) TZ=FmA—-
A&H) - 231 - 4 235
Non-executive directors: FRTES:
Mr. Kong Linggi ALBEE(R=
(appointed on 16/10/2023) Z-=F+f
TABEZME) = = = - -
Ms. Liu Wenjing AXERT (R
(appointed on 16/102023)  E==F1A
THRAEZRA) = = & = .
Mr. Zhou Haiying FEREEE(RZ
(resigned on 16/10/2023) Z-=%+AH
TNAEHE) = = = = -
Mr. Liang Wugquan RREEE(RZ
(resigned on 16/10/2023) T-=%1H
TN AEHE) = = = - -
Total @t - 1,220 - 20 1,240
There was no arrangement under which a director or the FAMBEEERTETHRAENK
chief executive waived or agreed to waive any ERRENETMRSHMAOLTHE -

remuneration during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year
did not include any directors (2023: Nil). Details of the
remuneration for the year of the five (2023: five) highest paid
employees who are non-directors of the Company are as
follows:

FEMBEHERME (&)

31 December 2024 —Z - W&+ - H=+—H

IEREHES

TR AEBREESFEELTE
EENEE(ZZT_=F:8) - FR
B (ZFE_=F: AR) X HARF
EEMRSFEENFHET

2024 2023

—E-WE =&

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARET T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 - 2R R EWEF 11,085 10,465
Performance-related bonuses FRIRFMERIEAL 525 421
Pension scheme contributions RIREFTEIE R 464 605
Total et 12,074 11,491

The number of non-director highest paid employees whose SMELN THENESHIEESEE
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows: AT :
Number of employees
EE A
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=4F
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T £2,000,000/%8 7T 2 2
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7t £2,500,000/% 7T - 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7T £3,000,000/%8 7T 1 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 7 £3,500,0007%8 7T 1 -
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001% 7L £4,500,000/%8 7T 1 1
Total R 5 5

No share options were granted to the non-director and
non-chief executive highest paid employees in respect of their
services to the Group during the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023. Certain non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees were granted share options in prior
years, in respect of their services to the Group, under the share
option scheme of a subsidiary of the Company, further details
of which are set out in note 30 to the financial statements.

REE_TE_NFRER_ZTE_=F+=
A=+ BLtFE 5HFESEK
FFETHAEREBMERERB A
EEmMERERNERE - ETESH
FEENFETEBTHRAEBEERER
FEAMASERERFSMBEAR
A — BB A A A B AR T S IR R
Bt - #E — P BHR Y REM T
30 °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —ZE —UF+=-H=+—H

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2023: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong during the year. For the Group’s subsidiaries
established in the USA, income tax is calculated at the rate of
26.0% (2023: 25.5%). For the Group’s subsidiary established in
Vietnam, income tax is calculated at the rate of 20.0% (2023:
20.0%). Tax on profits assessable in the PRC has been
calculated at the applicable PRC corporate income tax (“CIT")
rate of 25.0% (2023: 25.0%). Taxes on profits assessable
elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in
the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

10. FRIEHAX

ERNEGHEFRNEETBEE GG
JERF B A MI165% (Z T - =4
16.5% ) 5T 12 o 2N & B 70 22 B A 37 &9 BT
BARIMFIERHIE26.0% (T - =4
255% ) MBI R E - REBRBEX
STHKHTB AR BERE20.0% (=&
T Z=F 120.0%) B ERFTE - NP E
EEERV NN IBREASER
EMEH ((EMEH]) B E25.0%
TEZF:250%) 8 c REA
FELEERRBENOHIBRZAEEL
ERMEREERBEAMNETE -

2024 2023
—B-EF —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR T AREF T
Current — Hong Kong BEH-FE
Charge for the year FAZH 301 83
(Overprovision)/underprovision BAEFE (GRREREG) BET
in prior years 2 (3,420) 4,778
Current — Elsewhere - H At
Charge for the year FALZH 12,941 12,956
Overprovision in prior years BEFEBEREE (94) (121)
Deferred tax IR IA 426 (3,991)
Total tax charge for the year FABEX LEE 10,154 13,705

@ Neo-Neon Holdings Limited e Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meMEERME (&)

31 December 2024 —Z - W&+ - H=+—H

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 10. FIB B @

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before
tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which the
majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled and/or operate to the
tax expense at the effective tax rate is as follows:

ERERZHMBRAMER LK
EHRAEREAEER R E R
Al g A B E B R IA R S BIRERM
R HEHBAEMAHHRANT -

2024 2023

—B-EF —EC=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BT ARBTT

Profit before tax B 356 A g 1 48,072 41,380
Tax at the statutory/applicable rates of & [E &AM R HATE,

different jurisdictions AT R R I8 12,297 11,224

Income not subject to tax HERB A (1,470) (4,383)

Expenses not deductible for tax N AT 0% A 2 1,688 2,865

Tax losses utilised from previous periods %338 HifE = F{ 1 &5 18 (1,201) (2,647)

RERTIBEE 2,354 1,989
B HRM 2 BNEAFR 1B

Tax losses not recognised
Adjustments in respect of current tax

of previous periods (3,514) 4,657

Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate X ANEBFEHE R EH

HIEZH 10,154 13,705

ERHBR (HBER) ETH
B i

RERHASER TR /-2

Tax audit conducted by the Inland Revenue
Department (the “IRD”) in Hong Kong

The IRD conducted a tax audit to the Group for the years of

assessment back from year of assessment 2005/06. During the
prior years, the IRD had issued protective profits tax assessments
in an aggregate amount of HK$157,730,000 (approximately
equivalent to RMB145,424,000) for the years of assessment
from 2005/06 to 2015/16. The Group has lodged objections
against these protective profits tax assessments and the IRD has
agreed to hold over the tax demanded for these years of
assessment on the condition that the Group purchased tax
reserve certificates in an aggregate amount of HK$30,500,000
(approximately equivalent to RMB28,120,000), which has been
recorded as tax reserve certificates under “Prepayments, other
receivables and other assets” to the financial statement in
2022.

A HFEENZSTAGEEETH
Bz -RBEFEE ﬁi"z%eﬁdﬁ:
Tfﬁ/ EERNE_T — ﬁ/
— AT EEFEELAMREEEFSET %
T - 4258 /5157,730,0005 7T (XS
R AR #145,424,0007T) ° N & B 5t
ZEREEFTREBERERYE  MBEB
PREZSZETHFEMB K Z
B GKEEASEHBEEERESE
30,500,000 & (WEHER AR
28,120,0007T) ' ZHBER - —_—
BB A R T AT A TTEAT 31~ H e UKk
EREMEE|BTHREDS -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —ZE —UF+=-H=+—H

10.

11.

12.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Tax audit conducted by the Inland Revenue
Department (the “IRD"”) in Hong Kong (Continued)

In June 2023, the Group had reached an agreement with the
IRD and received the revised final assessments for the years of
assessment from 2005/06 to 2015/16 to that demanded
additional tax charges of totalling HK$5,082,000 (approximately
equivalent to RMB4,612,000), together with other charges of
totalling HK$3,578,000 (approximately equivalent to
RMB3,247,000). These charges had been settled by offsetting
the tax reserve certificates purchased by the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2023.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors of the Company did not recommend the
declaration of any dividend for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares of 2,094,465,417 (2023: 2,094,465,417) outstanding
during the year.

The computation of diluted earnings per share does not assume
the exercise of a subsidiary of the Company’s outstanding share
options for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023
because the exercise price of those share options was higher
than the price of a subsidiary of the Company’s share during
the years.

@ Neo-Neon Holdings Limited e Annual Report 2024

10.

11.

12.

FrEBim X wm

BEEBEER (HBR]ETH
Bt 3% 7%

R-ZZTZ=%,XA Z'»‘E@Eﬁiﬁfk
BERHHE YWE-—_ZTZTH/ =T
NE-_ZT—H/— /\%ﬁrfﬁ};m%%

{/ FIRKRFEH EREINE MBI E
& #5,082 ooo,%yz (WHEENPAR
#¥4,612,00070) r EREMERA
3,578,000 L (WHERN AR
3,247,0007L) - ZEBREREEZ
=+ - A=+-—BILFEES
KA EBMATBENRHRASER -

[ g=\

EETERRBE_FT_NFR=-F
—=H+ A=t —BLEERNE
{E,[Hi/%\o

BRAAEEREREARS
BRAEF

ERERBFNGTEDREST QR E

RSB ABMMFERRZT RFARNET
TESNE AR B9 h#E 19 202,094,465,417
B (ZZF = =4 : 2,094,465,4170%) =t

ﬁo

HE_T-_NFRER-_T=-=-F+=A
=+—BLEFE BARAQFMBD
AEMATEBRENTEERNZS
EJ*WLK”ﬂMﬂE”ﬁHﬁTﬁE’WF A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meMEERME (&)

31 December 2024 —Z - W&+ - H=+—H

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 12. BAREBREREAEN
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE BREN @
PARENT (continued)
The Company had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares ARRRBEZE_WFR_-_FT_=
outstanding during the years ended 31 December 2024 and F+ A=+ —HUEFETERTE
2023. INEEEE L ER -
2024 2023
—E-MmE —ZT==
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®BT ARETT

Profit attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent, used in the

AAEEBRERREERT

By {62 A 0 B 12 B B R R

basic and diluted earnings per share BB AEGERT
calculation 37,182 26,821
2024 2023
—E-MF —EZ=F
Number of Number of
shares shares
il 4= g2 qE]

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the year
used in the basic and diluted earnings

per share calculation

AHEERER R EE RN

ERARFRZETEINEBRA
AN 39 2k
2,094,465,417 2,094,465,417
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMEERME (R)

31 December 2024 —ZE—_ &+ _-A=+—H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ¥ - BMEKRKE

Furniture,
Leasehold Plantand fixtures and Motor
Buildings  improvements machinery  equipment vehicles Moulds Total
BB
BE£E
B¥ HELE  BERER JES i3 BR @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR  ARETR AR%Tn  ARETn  ARBTR  ARETR
31 December 2024 ZE-RELCA
=t-H
At 1 January 2024: AZZ-ME-R-R:
Cost R 20,403 57,354 100,841 23,285 11,546 5,321 218,750
Accumulated depreciation ~ E3tH7E (19,801) (50,011) (95,766) (20,713) (7,902) (4,923) (199,116)
Net carrying amount KEFE 602 1343 5,075 2,572 3,644 398 19,634
At 1 January 2024, netof ~ WZZ-BE-F-H-
accumulated depreciation I B H7E 602 7383 5,075 25m 3,644 398 19,634
Additions HE - 1,004 1,337 713 1,201 620 4,875
Disposals e - - (307) 8 (31) (98) (129)
Depreciation provided EREiENE
during the year (302) (3:383) (1,717 (1,034) (1,159) (294) (7,849)
Exchange realignment A% - ) (31) 2 51 1 16
At31December 2024,  RZFZRE+ZR
net of accumulated =t+-B AkE:
depreciation ik 300 4,977 4,357 2,265 3,426 627 15,952
At 31 December 2024: RZEZMETZA
S ek
Cost Ak 20,39 58,127 100,221 2,11 11,500 5,795 218,150
Accumulated depreciation 2 HTE (20,096) (53,150) (95,864) (19,846) (8,074) (5,168) (202,198)
Net carrying amount BEEE 300 4,971 4,357 2,265 3,426 627 15,952
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

REMBHRRME (E)
31 December 2024 —Z - W&+ - H=+—H

13. ¥ - BERSERE@®

Furniture,
Leasehold Plantand ~fixtures and Motor
Buildings  improvements machinery equipment vehicles Moulds Total
fxfA
BEXE
BT HEXE  BRREZ kil ot EA at
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETT  ARETT AREfR  ARETR  ARETn  AR%ETRn
31 December 2023 ZECCETCR
Sr=F
At 1 January 2023: RZ%Z=%-f-R:
Cost AR 80,456 58927 108473 28878 11,550 5,338 293,622
Accumulated depreciation ~ EFF T E (70,768) (48,59) (101,257) (25,083) (9,225) (4,767) (259,699)
Net carrying amount BAFE 9,688 10,329 7,216 3,795 2,325 571 33,924
At1 January 2023, netof ~ R=F-=£-F-H"
accumulated depreciation %R EEHE 9,688 10,329 7.216 3,795 2325 571 33,924
Additions RE - 1,571 568 537 3,148 23 6,047
Disposals hit= - - (806) (596) (668) (72) (2,14
Revaluation upon tranfer to  ERZRENEE
investment properties Bff 36,161 = = = = = 36,161
Transfer to investment ERERENE
properties (44,600) - - - - - (44.600)
Depreciation provided ERiRAE
during the year (647) (4,456) (1,786) (1,208) (1,208) (322) (9,627)
Exchange realignment A% - (101) (117 44 47 ) (129)
At 31 December 2023, W-Z-=F
net of accumulated TS
depreciation NkZ2:HE 602 7343 5,075 251 3,644 398 19,634
At 31 December 2023: RZZ-ZF+ZA
Sgr=d]
Cost A 20,403 57,354 100,841 23,285 11,546 5,321 218,750
Accumulated depreciation 23T E (19,801) (50,011) (95,766) (20,713) (7.902) (4.923) (199,116)
Net carrying amount BB 602 7383 5,075 257 3,644 398 19,634
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —Z-WE+=-H=+—H

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

14. REWE

Commercial Industrial
properties properties Total
BEME IxEM=% FaE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBTT AR®ETR

Carrying amount at 1 January 2023 RZEZ=F—H—HAMNKA

=] 34,962 38,547 73,509
Transfer from right-of-use assets (note) ¥ # & {# A& & (M) - 30,760 30,760
Transfer from property, plant and BERBEME  HERZE
equipment (note) (PitsE) = 44,600 44,600
Net losses from fair value adjustment ~ RERERK AR EBEEFHE
recognised in profit or loss BIEFE (470) (1,023) (1,493)
Exchange realignment & 5% 379 (1,167) (788)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2023 R-Z-=%+_-F=+—H
and 1 January 2024 RZZEZME—H—HK
REE 34,871 11,717 146,588
Net gains from fair value adjustment ~ NEZFBERN AL BEAE
recognised in profit or loss We 5 3,440 6,877 10,317
Exchange realignment b i 613 (353) 260
Carrying amount at 31 December 2024 R-ZE-_F+-A=+—H
M AREE 38,924 118,241 157,165

Note: The use of certain properties had been changed upon the inception
of the operating leases entered into with tenants. As a result, during
the year ended 31 December 2023, the properties previously included
in property, plant and equipment and the relevant leasehold land
included in right-of-use assets with carrying values of RMB44,600,000
and RMB30,760,000, respectively, were transferred to investment
properties. The properties were revalued at the date of transfer based
on valuation performed by Roma Appraisals Limited, an independent
professionally qualified valuer.

The fair value gains on transfer of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets of RMB36,161,000 and RMB22,787,000, net of
the deferred tax effects of RMB9,040,000 and RMB5,697,000,
respectively, were recognised in other comprehensive income on the
date of transfer.

The Group’s investment properties consist of 19 (2023: 19)
commercial properties in the PRC and Dubai and 17 (2023: 17)
industrial properties in Vietnam and the PRC. The directors of
the Company determined that the Group’s investment
properties consist of different classes of assets based on the
nature, characteristics and risks of each property. The Group's
investment properties were revalued on 31 December 2024
based on valuations performed by Roma Appraisals Limited, an
independent professionally qualified valuer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meMEERME (&)

31 December 2024 —Z - W&+ - H=+—H

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 15. REYZE @)
ZEREMEDRELEHELHET
FE=7 EE—IHRBFBEARYB
HRMEIS

The investment properties are leased to third parties under
operating leases, further summary details of which are included
in note 15 to the financial statements.

Fair value hierarchy AREBEER
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement TRAZHAEBEREWENAALEE
hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties: STEER

Fair value measurement as at 31 December 2024 using

RoBE-MNE+-A=+-ANAABEERE

Quoted
prices in Significant Significant
active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
BT I% EXTEE EXTTEE
NEE BABE BWARE
(-4 (=4 (B=4) At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBT ARETR ARETR
Recurring fair value A NN L
measurement for:
Investment properties RENE - - 157,165 157,165
Fair value measurement as at 31 December 2023 using
RIBZ=F+-A=+—-BNRAEEFBHKA
Quoted
prices in Significant Significant
active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
EEMS EPNTIE- BEATAHE
HRE BAYE BAHRE
(F—4) (B=8) (B=#) @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT AREFT AREFT
Recurring fair value BEMARBEE
measurement for:
Investment properties REME - = 146,588 146,588
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —ZE —UF+=-H=+—H

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 (2023: Nil).

Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within

14. BEWE @)
AREBEEEH @

FRNE—
BET= 8-
2 A sEH (

AR —

— = —

S

QAN /N
E-MNELAEE
=FE) o

RABEERF=ZANBENAAEE

Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: = HER
Commercial Industrial
properties properties Total
EES/ES TEME @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARET T ARBETT
Carrying amount at 1 January 2023 R=-Z-_=F—H—H
HEREE 34,962 38,547 73,509
Transfer from right-of-use assets EBEOFAEEE = 30,760 30,760
Transfer from property, plant and EREAWE  BERRE
equipment - 44,600 44,600
Net losses from fair value adjustment RNIBHBERHN AL BEFHR
recognised in profit or loss BB FE (470) (1,023) (1,493)
Exchange realignment fE 5 A= 379 (1,167) (788)
Carrying amount at 31 December RZEZ=F+=-A=+—H
2023 and 1 January 2024 kZZT-_mFE—H—H
#EREE 34,871 111,717 146,588
Net gains from fair value REZERN AR EEAE
adjustment recognised in Wiz %88
profit or loss 3,440 6,877 10,317
Exchange realignment [E i 22 613 (353) 260
Carrying amount at 31 December RZZEZWNFE+=A=+—H
2024 B BRI B 38,924 118,241 157,165

@ Neo-Neon Holdings Limited e Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meMEERME (&)

31 December 2024 —Z - W&+ - H=+—H

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14. REYE @)

AREEEH @

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Set out below is a summary of the valuation techniques used

AT REEYFEMGEER NG ERM

and the key inputs to the valuation of investment properties: REE ASEE
Range
#E
Valuation techniques Significant unobservable inputs 2024 2023
HER T BARUERRANE i 1 3 3
Commercial properties Direct comparison approach Prevailing market price (per sq.m.) RMB26,811 to RMB22,821 to
RMB33,590 RMB33,375
BENF EREBE ERmE(BYK) AE#26811TE AR¥2811E
AR¥3350T  AR¥333757
Industrial properties Direct comparison approach Prevailing market price (per sg.m.) RMB458 to RMB420 to
RMB600 RMB600
In% BREEA EHmEETAR) AR¥458TE  ARBA0TE
AR#6007T AE#6007T
Depreciated replacement Construction cost (per sq.m.) RMB894 to RMB420 to
cost approach RMB1,900 RMB1,580
REEERARL BEKEK(BERK) AR¥8URE  ARB40TE
AK#1,9007T AR1,5807T

Direct comparison approach

Fair value of investment properties is generally derived using
the direct comparison method.

The valuation was arrived at by adopting the direct comparison
approach with reference to the recent transactions of similar
properties under the prevailing property market conditions. A
significant increase (decrease) in the prevailing market price in
isolation would result in a significant increase (decrease) in the
fair value of the investment properties.

Depreciated replacement cost approach

The depreciated replacement cost approach considers the cost
to reproduce or replace in new condition the property appraised
in accordance with current construction costs for similar
property in the locality, with allowance for accrued depreciation
as evidenced by observed condition or obsolescence, whether
arising from physical, functional or economic causes. A
significant increase (decrease) in cost of construction would
result in a significant increase (decrease) in the fair values of
completed investment properties.

EELBE

A R R A F (A A B R b
BORSHE -

ZEEL2ZRBEYETRTEUD
ENOMXSEMERLEORZHS -
BRI EEFAEZNORD) KB
BREWMEAAEBERBEMORD) °

FEEBERAE

FTEEERNEDRERERABEUYD
ERRMEBERAZRFEDEREN
BRATHEEREEXA AR
BESRMRAKELERL(THEYE
DhRE KRBT i T 5| AR ) T & B A0 B AT
PER - BREKAERAEE N OR L)
HEHRERTREMERARBEANR
g Omd) e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —ZE —UF+=-H=+—H

15. LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various properties used in its
operations. Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire
the leased land from the owners with lease periods of 49 to 50
years, and no ongoing payments will be made under the terms
of these land leases. Leases of offices and warehouses generally
have lease terms between 2 and 7 years. Generally, the Group
is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets
outside the Group. No lease contracts have extension options in
the current and prior years.

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets
and the movements during the year are as follows:

15. HE

REBEEREEA

¢'¥l5’f @EP@?HE’J&IE%%J%
HEEHN AEEE N —RENK
LAQ%’HET}\HX HE L TEHHF%@
ES0F - LR AELHHBAAKESRE
HIEENK - PBAEREENER—
RNMF227F- —KRMs A&EBFH
BRAKBZIIDIRNRBHEEEE
RAFEREFE YEBESHE
BEMEEE-

(a) FRAEEE
AEBFRAEEENEEAENRT
NEBHMT

Leasehold Offices and
land warehouses Total
WAE
HE i KEE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARBTT ARETE

As at 1 January 2023 R-E-_=%F—H—H 11,411 46,604 58,015
Addition NE - 3,202 3,202
Depreciation charges TERS (141) (10,962) (11,103)
Revaluation upon transfer to BREREMER
investment properties Er 22,787 = 22,787
Transfer to investment properties EREKEYE (30,760) = (30,760)
Exchange realignment P 5 A& (112) 722 610
As at 31 December 2023 and RZEZ=4F
1 January 2024 TZA=+—-Hk
—E-NFE—H—H 3,185 39,566 42,751
Depreciation charges TERS (128) (10,472) (10,600)
Exchange realignment P& 5 8 & (32) 520 488
As at 31 December 2024 RN F
+=—RA=+— 3,025 29,614 32,639
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15. LEASES (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meMEERME (&)

15. A& @)

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements

during the year are as follows:

(b) HERR
REEEOREERFNEBH N

31 December 2024 —Z - W&+ - H=+—H

2024 2023
ZEZNF —T_=%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARBTT
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BA/EREAE 43,028 49,745
New leases el EE = 3,202
Accretion of interest recognised FRERERTFIE
during the year 1,185 1,401
Payments B (11,715) (12,096)
Exchange realignment R 572 776
Carrying amount at 31 December R+=—A=+—808
FREE 33,070 43,028
Analysed into: DA
Current portion BN HEAZ6 9 11,173 10,450
Non-current portion JEBNERER o 21,897 32,578
33,070 43,028

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note

HERENIHBE DT RENT

37 to the financial statements. FE R E Y TE3T o
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in (c) REEXEABEANEEHE
relation to leases are as follows: HEWMT :
2024 2023
—EB-lmE —E =i
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET ARBTT
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEMNE 1,185 1,401
Depreciation charge of FREEERTERX
right-of-use assets 10,600 11,103
Expense relating to short-term leases  E252 #ifH E G RI K G 2
(included in administrative expense) (FFATTERA ) 119 471
Total amount recognised in RiB & AR B
profit or loss 11,904 12,975

(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 32(b)

to the financial statements.

BAEREZERBERAHE

(d) HENReREBBERENUH
R M TE32(b) ©

TENFFR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —ZE —UF+=-H=+—H

15. LEASES (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 14) consisting
of 19 commercial properties in the PRC and Dubai and 11
industrial properties in Vietnam and the PRC under operating
lease arrangements. The terms of the leases generally require
the tenants to pay security deposits. Rental income recognised
by the Group during the year was RMB9,953,000 (2023:
RMB8,920,000), details of which are included in note 5 to the
financial statements.

At 31 December 2024, the undiscounted leases payments
receivable by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable
operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

15. HE @)

AEEEREEA

AEBBRELLEHELTHEHEERE
ME (M:E14)  BREMRPEEBEFE
MI9OERmEDERMNEE LT ED
MEIEME -AF—RAREHE
BERENFE AEEBRFRAERA
el A B ARM9 953,000t (=&
—=%: AR#8,920,0007T) @ HFI5
BB SRR FES o

R-ZEBE-_NWE+—_A=+—0H0 K&
ERFEBFI LM A HELEA
ERARRABEEUMNARTREBENK
U

2024 2023
—E_NE —EBEC=F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®F ARBTIT

Within one year —F K 6,133 11,898
After one year but within two years —FREMRFA 882 8,716
After two years but within three years B & &1 = F " 456 5,891
After three years but within four years = & {& {844 [} 434 5,969
After four years but within five years MERERFER 348 6,113
After five years HF1% = 35,338
Total 45 8,253 73,925
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meMEERME (&)

31 December 2024 —Z - W&+ - H=+—H

16. GOODWILL 16. B &
RMB’'000
ARETT
At 1 January 2023: W=ZZT=Z=%—H—H8:
Cost (DN 220,470
Accumulated impairment 25HRE (131,903)
Net carrying amount BRHEFE 88,567
Cost at 1 January 2023, RZZEZ=F—A—HHKAE -
net of accumulated impairment Mk REHRE 88,567
Exchange realignment P 5, 58 2 1,502
Net carrying amount at 31 December 2023 R-ZE-_=F+_-A=+—B/EEFE 90,069
At 31 December 2023 and RZE_=ZF+-_A=+—HEK
1 January 2024 —E-_MFE—-—H—H
Cost %N 223,905
Accumulated impairment E5TRE (133,836)
Net carrying amount FREVEE 90,069
Cost at 1 January 2024, RZZE_WHF-—H—BHKAE -
net of accumulated impairment Mk 2EHRIE 90,069
Exchange realignment ME 5, 58 B 1,344
Net carrying amount at 31 December 2024 RZ-ZZT_WHF+_A=+—HHEREFE 91,413
At 31 December 2024: R-ZE-_MFE+_HA=+—8:
Cost B 7R 100,390
Accumulated impairment ZEHRE (8,977)
Net carrying amount REVEE 91,413
BERREZERBERAG o« —ZE_NEFH



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —ZE —UF+=-H=+—H

16. GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated
to the following cash-generating units for impairment testing:

o USA lighting cash-generating unit for Novelty Lights, LLC;
and

o USA lighting cash-generating unit for Tivoli, LLC (fully

impaired in 2021).

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the
cash-generating unit is as follows:

16. B E @)

[k PRER:
BBEBAGBANGEES RSN
TRSE A EAETRERS

e XBBHARSELEN (5
Novelty Lights, LLCTI S ) + &

o  EEHBBAIRGELENMN (FiTivoli,
LLCH ) (EZE=Z—F2EH
&) »

SREEUBSELABUNBEEER
(ERENE

2024 2023
—E_NEF —E-=%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T ARBT T

USA lighting cash-generating unit FERBPAREEESM
for Novelty Lights, LLC (¥ENovelty Lights, LLCTI &) 91,413 90,069

USA lighting cash-generating unit for Novelty
Lights, LLC

The recoverable amount of this USA lighting cash-generating
unit has been determined based on a value in use calculation
using cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering
a five-year period approved by senior management. The pre-tax
discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is 11.64%
(2023: 10.70%). The growth rate used to extrapolate the cash
flows beyond the five-year period is 2.1% (2023: 2.1%).

@ Neo-Neon Holdings Limited e Annual Report 2024

EEEE L EELEN (G
Novelty Lights, LLCTTI &)

ZEBRPARSELEEMMITRE
BAEBRBReELBENZFEREER
HET FTHREEFEDRESAE
BEMEATHPBRBEEL 2B
ERERANSH BHESREEB A
MR ABIEE B11.64% (2 ==
F£:1070%) FARHEEHRAFERRS
HENMBERERAE21% (ZTE_=F":
2.1%) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

16. GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

Assumptions were used in the cash flow projections of the USA
Lighting for 31 December 2024 and 2023. The following
describes each key assumption on which management has
based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing
of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the
value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average
gross margins achieved in the year immediately before the
budget year, increased for expected efficiency improvements,
and expected market development.

Discount rate — The discount rates used are before tax and
reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.

Growth rate — The growth rates are determined with reference
to the growth rate for the relevant units, adjusted for relevant
businesses and market development, and economic condition.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market
development of USA lighting, budgeted gross margins, discount
rates and growth rates are consistent with external information
sources.

FEMBEHERME (&)

31 December 2024 —_E—_ &+ _-A=+—H

16.

BARKEZERBIRAAE o ZZE-NFFH @

BE )

R E R

AE_F_NER_F_=F1+-A4
=+ HAXERARSELBEGNE
EREFRNRERTHRKR - ATHA
EEERETHEBRENS EEE
RenERARELNMBERRERE

BEENX-UBEEFEMN —FMAE
MFHENRSER KETHEESE
MEMEE - BREEMNEZERON
RYGE R AN T IS ERMIEN

BRE-FERANBRRARBEY
B4 16 90 I R 52 461 9 5 7 46 B0 10 5 R

g o
AA

MEE REEES ARG LS
EBEREEBRTBERUR
%@#ﬁ%%io

HXBERAMSHER ZBRBRRK
HEM X E!Eﬁ$&is§$mﬁtfﬁiﬁi
SNRE R ARR A — B e



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RERBEHERME (F)

31 December 2024 —ZE—_ &+ _-A=+—H

17. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

17. HbEREE

Deferred
Securities development
Patent licences Software costs Total
BE
| EHBR gH RN o
RMB’'000 RMB000 RMB’'000 RMB000 RMB'000
AR®TT AR®TR ARETR AR®TR ARETR
31 December 2024 —E_ME+=A
Sr=[
At 1 January 2024: RZEZME
—A—H:
Cost X AR 52,386 11,366 9,735 48,767 122,254
Accumulated amortisation ZitEH (49,660) (11,366) (7,930) (31,486) (100,442)
Net carrying amount REFE 2,726 - 1,805 17,281 21,812
Cost at 1 January 2024, netof ~R=T-NF—F—H
accumulated amortisation R - MR 25
47 2,726 - 1,805 17,281 21,812
Additions NE - - 2,377 2,440 4,817
Amortisation provided FRETREH
during the year (1,269) - (799) (4,342) (6,410)
Exchange realignment R 230 - 37 1,306 1,573
At 31 December 2024 WZZZME
+-R=1+—8 1,687 - 3,420 16,685 21,792
At 31 December 2024: RZEZME
+ZA=t+-R:
Cost PR 53,253 - 11,907 51,208 116,368
Accumulated amortisation 25T EH (51,566) = (8,487) (34,523) (94,576)
Net carrying amount FESE 1,687 - 3,420 16,685 21,792

Neo-Neon Holdings Limited e

Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meMEERME (&)

31 December 2024 —Z - W&+ - H=+—H

17. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 17. HEEREEE @
Deferred
Securities development
Patent licences Software costs Total
Bt
=7 FHER Bt AR )
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT  AREBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARET:R

31 December 2023 —8-=£+-R

=+-H
At 1 January 2023: RZEZ=F

—R—8:
Cost A 51,639 11,166 8,304 45,922 117,031
Accumulated amortisation 2 # (47,827) (11,166) (7,148) (28,641) (94,782)
Net carrying amount FHFE 3,812 - 1,156 17,281 22,249

Costat 1 January 2023, netof R-FT-_=F—HF—H

accumulated amortisation R - M 25
4] 3,812 = 1,156 17,281 22,249
Additions NE = = 1,288 2,843 4,131
Amortisation provided FRETREH
during the year (1,249) - (664) (3,696) (5,609)
Exchange realignment X AR 163 - 25 853 1,041
At 31 December 2023 R-E-=%+=F
== 2,726 - 1,805 17,281 21,812
At 31 December 2023: RZZZ=%
TZA=t+-R:
Cost PR AR 52,386 11,366 9,735 48,767 122,254
Accumulated amortisation RitEH (49,660) (11,366) (7,930) (31,486) (100,442)
Net carrying amount EmFE 2,726 = 1,805 17,281 21,812

BAERREZERERAT o« —T-MFEFHK @



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —ZE —UF+=-H=+—H

18. INVENTORIES 18. F&
2024 2023
—E_mF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR TR ARBEF T
Raw materials R ¥ 21,741 16,097
Work in progress EEH 1,938 1,643
Finished goods IR an 119,552 136,313
Total FEE 143,231 154,053

At 31 December 2024, the Group’s inventories with a carrying
amount of RMB116,812,000 (2023: RMB115,094,000) were
pledged as security for the Group’s certain banking facilities
granted to the Group.

RZEZMWF+=ZA=+—H0 &%
BEEEmmEAR116,812,000T (=
— =% : AR¥115,094,0007T) W 1F
BEETEWR EABRTAELEESE TR
TREERNIKER -

19. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 19. ERESRAREREE
2024 2023
—E-F —E=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T AREF T
Trade receivables FEUE 5 IR 111,570 112,435
Bills receivables fE UL ZE iF 98 408
Less: Impairment loss on trade receivables & : f& U & 5 B Z R (B 5518 (4,752) (3,695)
Less: Impairment loss on bills receivables 3 : B U Z &R E &5 18 (1) (2)
Total BEt 106,915 109,146

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit, except for new customers, where payment in advance is
normally required. The credit period is generally one month,
extending up to six months for major customers.

PRC and USA lighting segments

Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to
maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables and has a
credit control department to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of the
aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables
relate to a large number of diversified customers, there is no
significant concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade receivable
balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

19. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net
of loss allowance, is as follows:

REMBHRRME (E)
31 December 2024 —Z - W&+ - H=+—H

19. EWEB S EREEKRERE @)

REZZAHIASHRNRER RO E
WE SRR R ERRER (B EREME)
MRRE DTN T -

2024 2023
—E_NEF B =%
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBTIT

Within 1 month REREEPNA 46,070 54,606
1 to 2 months 12218 A 45,914 37,448
2 to 3 months 22 31E A 6,541 4,834
3 to 6 months 32618 A 2,330 7,006
Over 6 months 618 A LA £ 6,060 5,252
Total BEt 106,915 109,146

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
and bills receivables are as follows:

T M2 5 B R R 1 0 1B 1R
BESBIT :

2024 2023
—E_NEF B -=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARETTT

At beginning of the year R E A 3,697 5,890

Provision of impairment losses, net BEREBEFE 2,555 1,546

Amount written off as uncollectable HURL A 7 BT Y B B & B8 1,771) (4,081)

Exchange realignment ME W B 272 342

At end of the year RER 4,753 3,697
PRC and USA lighting segments FERXBERHAD I

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using
a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision
rates are based on days past due and historical repayment pattern.
The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the
time value of money and reasonable and supportable information
that is available at the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. Generally,
trade receivables are written off if past due for more than one year
and are not subject to enforcement activity.

RERE B RRABREEREETRE
D AR EBRMEEER - BEX
DERBMAMLBEEREAEE -
ZERTERBAAXMEER BN
REEEANHRESBEHRAAUFSNERB
EEE - RO RRREEAMR A
AMAEERAEER - —KRME K&
WEZERNARES - FRBAR
PR 98 I B TTIE B A T LA MEH -

BARKEZERBIRAAE o ZZE-NFFH



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FEMBHERRME (F)

31 December 2024 —ZE —UF+=-H=+—H

19. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group’s trade and bills receivables using a provision

matrix:

As at 31 December 2024

19.

EWEZRFAKREKREZEE @
MTHIEREEEEELMEBA
EEEWESEXREREEEER
BB R

R-ZE-_WOE+=-A=+—H

Past due
Current to
less than 1to3  3months  1yearto  2yearsto Over
1 month months  to 1year 2 years 3 years 3 years Total
HHZHR 123 3R
1188 A B 122% 233F 3FNL i
Expected credit loss rate BHREEEE 0.54% 3.60% 7.78% 26.67% 97.66% 100%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000)  BEZE(ARETT) 90,872 9,035 5325 3978 2 2434 111,668
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) ~ BHEEBE(ARETT) 495 305 414 1,061 pl! 2,434 4,753
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZTE-=FE+=-A=+—8H
Past due
k]
Current to
less than Tto3 3 months Tyearto  2yearsto Over
1 month months to 1 year 2 years 3 years 3years Total
LY 133 3fER
iR fiA 3IF 1525 5% 3FNE 3t
Expected credit loss rate BHEEBEXR 0.44% 2.97% 6.73% 28.81% 81.81% 100%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000)  BEEE (ARETFT) 95,59 7123 6,833 826 1 2354 12,843
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) ~ BHEEHE(ARETTL) 01 215 460 238 9 2,354 3,697

At 31 December 2024, the Group’s receivables with a carrying
amount of RMB43,297,000 (2023: RMB59,304,000) were
pledged as security for the Group’s certain banking facilities

granted to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meMEERME (&)

31 December 2024 —Z - W&+ - H=+—H

20. LOAN RECEIVABLE

20. EIRE R

2024 2023

ZEZmF —T=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR AREBTT

Loan receivable FE U & 3 147,339 162,340

Less: Impairment allowance B ORE R (35,596) (34,834)

Total BEt 111,743 127,506
The movement in the loss allowance for impairment of loan FEWERREEERESEESHNT -

receivable is as follows:

2024 2023

—B-F —F=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARB T ARETT

At beginning of the year REH] 34,834 34,336

Exchange realignment bE 5 38 B 762 498

At end of year RER 35,596 34,834

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, loan receivable represented
the money lent to a customer by Tongfang Finance Limited, an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company which is
principally engaged in money lending business. The loan
receivable bore interest rate at 8% p.a. (2023: 8% p.a) and was
overdue since 2020. The loan receivable amounting to
RMB147,339,000 (2023: RMB162,340,000) was secured by
certain properties, other investments, listed securities, private
equities of the borrower and personal guarantees. The balance
is classified as a financial asset at amortised cost. Management
performs continuous assessment on the recoverability of the
loan receivable.

Management has performed credit risk assessment by
performing background search on the borrower, financial
analysis on the companies for which the borrower has pledged
the equity shares and property search on pledged properties.

R-EBE-_WNER T _=ZF+_A

=+—H BEBREFREFERERE
E¥EBEHNAQRRHEEZENBARRBS
FHAERARMETF —R2EPZHRE-
FEWERIZEFR8% (Z T == :
8% )it WTH T _ZTFBm-
JEWE XA R#147,339,000T (==
— =4 : AR #162,340,0007T) A&
RANETYE HMEE EmE
F AL SRR A R A PR R I o
EHD B AREHEKRATENSME
E-EREEFETHERERN I
@ -

EEERBEATERANSTEN

R ONEEEE S 0NCTE: Ry S /13

HEERAMENYERAE ETTEE
B A A o

BARKEZERBIRAAE o ZZE-NFFH @



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —ZE —UF+=-H=+—H

20. LOAN RECEIVABLE (continued) 20. BWE X @)

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date by
considering the expected credit losses, which are estimated by
applying the probability of default approach with reference to
the risks of default of the borrower. For the loan receivable
which is secured by second charge on properties and/or share
charges, management also takes into account the mitigating
effect of the value of these collaterals in the ECL analysis. As at
31 December 2024, the probability of default applied of the
loan receivable was 100% (2023: 100%). As at 31 December
2024, the loan receivable was covered by collaterals with an
aggregate fair value of approximately RMB111.8 million after
deducting any outstanding first mortgage loan balances.
Therefore, no impairment was considered necessary during the
current year and the prior year.

An ageing analysis of the loan receivable as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the maturity date and net of loss
allowance, is as follows:

AEBERNSHREAHEEBLEE
BRETHRE T MBEHEEEIE
T2EERANELNRKREERELD
BMEETAGE UM EE —_EHR
k/SBHOERARBENEKERM
T EBEERNEHSEEESBSTFRIT
TEERBREZSEEMEENTE -
R-_ZE-_mE+_—_A=+—H EEK
BERERNELNBEA100% (=ZF
ZT=F:100%) RZEZWMF+=
A=+—H EREFBEIAAEELRL
FHOARBINSEETNERYE2E
BE-A #RAEAFERBAASF
EBAERE -

RZBERIHE S DR RS R E
ER (B R R E) WRE DT -

2024 2023
—E_NE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBEF T
On demand BREK 111,743 127,506

21. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

1. AR HBERFRERE

OTHER ASSETS HEE
2024 2023
—E_mEF —E=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR TR ARET T
Prepayments iCENES 7,176 6,918
Deposits b g 1,201 1,196
Other receivables H b fE U FRR 80,905 83,229
Value added tax recoverable A Uk [ 58 Fi 5,984 6,828
95,266 98,171
Less: Impairment allowance OB AR (74,476) (73,174)
20,790 24,997
Current portion BN ER 28 > (20,790) (24,997)

FEENEAEL 7

Non-current portion
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meMEERME (&)

31 December 2024 —_E—_ &+ _-A=+—H

21. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 21. AR - HbEWREREHE

OTHER ASSETS (continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of other
receivables and deposits are as follows:

ftb & = (@)

Hi UGB EEIRREZSHMT

2024 2023

ZEZNF =%

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT ARBTT

At beginning of the year REH] 73,174 77,739
(Reversal of impairment losses)/ CREEERER),

impairment losses, net B E R R R 172 (5,287)

Exchange realignment ME W B 1,130 722

At end of year RER 74,476 73,174

During the year ended 31 December 2024, RMB172,000 was
impaired (2023: RMB5,287,000 was credited as a reversal of
allowance) for expected credit losses on other receivables. The
provision rates are based on published credit rating. The
calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time
value of money and reasonable and supportable information
that is available at the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Deposits and other receivables mainly represented rental
deposits and promissory note receivable. Where applicable, an
impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date by
considering the probability of default of comparable companies
with published credit ratings. As at 31 December 2024, the
probability of default applied ranged from 0.01% to 100%
(2023: 0.10% to 100%) and the loss given default was
estimated to be ranged from 53.1% to 100% (2023: 59.1% to
100%). The loss rate is adjusted to reflect the current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions, as appropriate.

REZE-_ZT-_NF+-_A=+—HIL
FE HtEWRENEREEESE
BEAANREE172,000T (ZE =4 :
A R #5,287,0007T A BRIl A 5 47 #
Bl) - BEREREEMZEETRM
F oA BERMEARNELR &
BHREEAEMPNREBHRITENAE
BBEEIE & a0 &R AL E AR
MR EERATFEER o

REeRHEMEWRREZTEZEASES
MEBAREE RS REBHRA
EZREABEAMEEFANATE LR
NEMEHNBEMETRES T (B
) RZZE-_NF+=-—A=+—H"
FriE M A BEE N F0.01%Z=100%
—E - =ZF:0.10%=100% ) ’ M
MIBERGEFHNF53.1%2100% (= F
T =% :59.1%%100%) c FHEXP
- DA BRE AT AR R B TE R R AR A
EARR (AnEA) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —ZE —UF+=-H=+—H

22. LOAN TO THE ULTIMATE HOLDING

22. ERFRARERAE

COMPANY

2024 2023

—E-@EF —E=%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T AR T T

Loan to the ultimate holding company B F &KL A A 400,406 400,405
Less: Impairment allowance OB E R - (5,002)
Total 5 400,406 395,403

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of loan to
the ultimate holding company are as follows:

ERTFTREZERAFNRERSBRE

EHRIMT :

2024 2023

ZEZmF —T-=fF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥B T AR®F T

At beginning of the year REH] 5,002 -
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment NEE CRERR) REEIE

loss for the year (note 6) (MI7x6) (5,002) 5,002

At end of year RER - 5,002

The loan to the ultimate holding company represents (i) the
revolving loan to Tongfang Co., Limited with an amount of
RMB400,000,000, which is unsecured, interest-bearing at
3.65% per annum and repayable on demand; and (ii) interest
receivables of approximately RMB406,000 as at 31 December
2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

22. LOAN TO THE ULTIMATE HOLDING

23.

COMPANY (continued)

Reversal of impairment loss of RMB5,002,000 (2023:
impairment loss of RMB5,002,000) was recognised during the
year ended 31 December 2024. The probability of default
applied was minimal (2023:1.24%) and the loss given default
was estimated to be minimal (2023:70%) as at 31 December
2024. The provision rate is based on individual credit rating.
The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the
time value of money and reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the reporting date about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.

FEMBEHERME (&)

31 December 2024 —Z - W&+ - H=+—H

22. BERF

X NS }ﬁ

i &/NCTRE §)

R_ZE-_NF+=_A=1+—8 " R

%@ﬂ@%ﬁkﬁ%awzwwﬂ_
7_“;$-ﬁﬁﬁﬂikﬁmsmnom
L) cRZZEZME+=ZA=+—8 -

FTEANEBEABMEAMTIRE (=ZF
T=F 1 1.24%) BB XRGE AR
TREB(ZE-=F:70%) - BE=X
EREREEFAME - Xt 8 ki
RARAEMELER SEENREEER
RREBHISNEBRBEASEE &
m#%&*%%@#ﬂ%wmAE&
AR -

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 23. RAREETFTABZNSH
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS BE
2024 2023
—E_NEF ZE=F
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000
Jiokza ARET T ARETIT
Listed equity investments, BARBEFENEM
at fair value EmIEE (i) 9,763 13,944
Other unlisted investments, BEARnBETFTEMEMIELET
at fair value wE (if) 137,400 139,045
147,163 152,989
Non-current unlisted BARBEFTEMIERNEIE
investments, at fair value FHEE (134,900) (136,598)
Current portion BIVHA B 12,263 16,391
Notes: Bk

(i) The above equity investments were classified as financial assets at
FVTPL as they were held for trading.

(ii) The unlisted investments included unlisted equity and fund were
mandatorily classified as financial assets at FVTPL as their contractual
cash flows were not solely payments of principal and interest as at 31
December 2024 and 2023.

BARKEZERBIRAAE o ZZE-NFFH @

(i) LEARSKRERFEEEMOBRAEA
REEFABENERMEE -

iy RZEZOEFER-_ZE-_=F+=A4
=+—H FLETRERESHFBEBEN
%tm&ﬁlﬁmmﬁ%méiﬁéﬁ
SRS RFE - MEHDEREAR
BEEFAEBENEMEE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —ZE —UF+=-H=+—H

24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 2. BERBEEEYR

RESTRICTED CASH ZRHEIAS

2024 2023
—E_NEF —E=F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T

Cash and bank balances R e RIFITHES
Placed in banks 15 B8R 1T 327,118 138,882
Placed in a financial institution (note 34) TR & sk iE (BTaE34) 28,999 =
Subtotal NEt 356,117 138,882

Time deposits EHE R

Placed in banks TR IRTT 244,416 359,215
Placed in a financial institution (note 34) TR & i iE (BIaE34) 8,000 -
Total cash and bank balances Be MIRTTHEGRAER 608,533 498,097
Less: Restricted cash (note (a)) B ZEREIIR© (M FE@)) (1,319) -
Total Cash and cash equivalents HehIReEEWREE 607,214 498,097

(a)

As at 31 December 2024, the bank balance of
RMB1,319,000 (2023: Nil) is restricted from use due to
ongoing process of changing the authorised signature.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to
RMB49,823,000 (2023: RMB29,974,000). The RMB is not
freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement and Sale and Payment
of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted
to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits were
made for varying periods of between one day and three
months depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group, and earned interest at the respective short
term time deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited
with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meMEERME (&)

31 December 2024 —Z - W&+ - H=+—H

25. TRADE PAYABLES 25. ERE ZRE
2024 2023
—E-mE e = — =
RMB’'000 RMB’'000

ARBT T ARBTT

Trade payables BB 558 77,239 62,990
An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the BEEZAHRIA SR RE AR E
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: NEZHRBEBNREDTWOT

2024 2023
—E-NE S
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT ARETTT

Within 1 month & A AR 56,622 46,510

1 to 3 months 1231E A 9,193 6,538

3 to 6 months 3%618 A 9,854 7,609

6 months to 1 year JEENE:S 495 519

Over 1 year 194 1,075 1,814

Total et 77,239 62,990
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally BB 55 IE /T BB —&RNI0K
settled within terms of 90 days. NEEH -

BAERREZERERAT o« —T-MFEFHK @



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —ZE —UF+=-H=+—H

26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

26. HEN R EFTRIE

2024 2023
—EmF —E_=%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
g3 AR T ARBTT
Sundry payables and accruals HETE PR 3RIE R E AT IR (a) 89,938 83,785
Contract liabilities BHEE (b) 652 818
Refund liabilities R EE 8,833 5,586
Total #Et 99,423 90,189
Notes: Mz :
(@)  Sundry payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average term (@ MEERMNFETHE  FHHERA=E
of three months. A -
(b)  Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (b) AHEENFBWT:
31 December 31 December 1 January
2024 2023 2023
—E-WE —TZ=F —ET=Z=F
+=A=+—-8 +=ZA=+—8H —A—8
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBFT ARBFT
Short-term advances received from W E = 57 B 2t 5%
customers
Sale of goods TEER 652 818 2,434

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received from
customers to deliver lighting products. The decrease in contract
liabilities in 2024 and 2023 was mainly due to the decrease in
short-term advances received from customers in relation to
uncompleted contracts at the end of the years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meMEERME (&)

31 December 2024 —Z - W&+ - H=+—H

27. PROVISION 27. B1E&

Litigations Warranties Total
B RE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT ARETT
(note a) (note b)
(Fff 5%a) (Fff=Eb)
Carrying amount at 1 January RZZEZ=F—H—HBHK
2023 HE 1,545 4,247 5,792
Additional provision I8 B R 28,072 587 28,659
Amounts utilised during the year FREE A5 (817) (502) (1,319)
Exchange realignment & 5 A 235 73 308
Carrying amount at 31 December R=ZE-—=F+-A=+—
2023 and 1 January 2024 ARk=—ZF-_MNFE—-—H—HBH
BREE 29,035 4,405 33,440
Additional provision TG R = 1,472 1,472
Amounts utilised during the year FRE A& 5 = (1,355) (1,355)
Exchange realignment ME 5, 38 & 423 66 489
Carrying amount at R-ZZE-_WFE+=A
31 December 2024 =+—HBHWEREE 29,458 4,588 34,046
Notes: MEeE -
(a) The provision represented subsidiaries of the Group are facing (a) ZBEEAEBRETH B AR EmEE

(b)

potential litigations or arbitrations primarily relating to allegations of
patent infringement and an uncertain position of a program. As at
the date of approval of these financial statements, these matters are
still ongoing and the process is likely to take over a year. The
information usually required by HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets is not disclosed on the grounds that
it can be expected to prejudice seriously the outcome of the litigation.

The Group provides warranties ranging from three to five years to
customers for US lighting products for general repairs of defects
occurring during the warranty period. The amount of provision for
the warranties is estimated based on sales volumes and past
experience of the level of repairs and returns. The estimation basis is
reviewed on an ongoing basis and revised where appropriate.

(b)

BRERNREREITHE B EEFRASLA
BN RBEBER TREEMRR - RZF
MBRROMEDS  ZEFHDER
B AR RE —FUAL - BB ER
FITHRAEE XARRERAAEERT
RENBENYERE BEHRZFARE
HEeREXERSTEMMER -

AREREERBERATFRE=2
TFERE  HEREHALRHEEET
— R  BERRENBETIERH
EENRBERERE KRS E
Hibet - B EEDEHESSINE

BEFE(EET -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —ZE —UF+=-H=+—H

28. DEFERRED TAX 28. IR fE IR
Taiwan Depreciation Fair value
withholding Fair value allowance  adjustments
taxonun-  adjustments in excess of on
distributed ~ on intangible related investment Inventory
earnings assets  depreciation properties provision Others Total

BEANE EYAE BARE RENZ

gl NrEE ez MR
SERNH ok i1 ok FEER if i
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETT  ARETT ARETn  ARETR  ARETr  AR%TRn

At 1 January 2023 A\ZB-=F
-A-H (2,947) (246) (10,894) (6,959) 11,759 21,482 12,195

Deferred tax credited/(charged) FAzFA /(N E)

to the statement of profitor ~ BRKMELHE

loss during the year - - 780 195 (1,621) 4,637 3,991
Deferred tax charged tothe ~ EMANB A2 AN E

statement of comprehensive ~ REVETLH A

income during the year - - - (14,737) - - (14,737)
Exchange realignment EREE (44) (41) (178) 192 186 404 519

At31December 2023 andat  W-F-=%
1 January 2024 TZA=+-Bk
RZZ_mF
-A-H (2,991) (287) (10292) (21,309) 10,324 26,523 1,968
Deferred tax credited/(charged)
to the statement of profitor £zt A/ (1K E)

loss during the year BRENELRE - - 1,31 (1,557) 3 (71) (426)

Exchange realignment EREE (65) (64) (145) 4 157 m 150
R-R-RETZA

At 31 December 2024 Er=F (3,056) (351) (9,206) (22,822) 10,852 26,275 1,692
Deferred tax assets and liabilities have not been offset for the HE2VGEEHBRAEXMES  ARE
purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of EHBEENBELETRI GRS -
financial position as they relate to different tax authorities. The WA EmE K SIS E A
following is the analysis of the deferred taxation balances for HEERERIBESR ST -

financial reporting purposes:

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BT ARBTT

Deferred tax assets REFRTEE = 27,919 26,552
Deferred tax liabilities ELEFIBBAE (26,227) (24,584)
Total @5 1,692 1,968
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBERRME (H)

31 December 2024 —Z - W&+ - H=+—H

28. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 28. I IEH (@)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has tax losses arising in
Hong Kong of RMB353,310,000 (2023: RMB350,327,000) that
are available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable
profits of the companies in which the losses arose. The Group
also has tax losses arising in the PRC of RMB31,555,000 (2023:
RMB44,855,000) that will expire in one to five years for
offsetting against future taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
these losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been
loss-making for some time and it is not considered probable
that taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses
can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in
the PRC. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and
applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors.
For the Group, the applicable rate is 5%. As at 31 December
2024 and 2023, no unrecognised deferred tax for the
withholding taxes as there was no such earnings for its
subsidiaries to distribute in the foreseeable future.

As 31 December 2024, no deferred tax has been recognised for
withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings of RMB276,589,000 (2023: RMB245,184,000) that are
subject to withholding taxes of subsidiaries of the Group
established in the USA. In the opinion of directors of the
Company, the Group’s fund will be retained in the USA for the
expansion of the Group’s operation, so it is not probable that
its subsidiaries will distribute such earning in the foreseeable
future.

Pursuant to the Taiwan Corporate Income Tax Law, a 5%
withholding tax on undistributed earnings tax rate and 21% is
levied on dividends declared to a non-resident recipient from
the foreign investment enterprises established in Taiwan. The
requirement is effective from 1 January 2018.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

R_ZE_NMHF+_A=+—8 "
AEBRESELEHEBEBRBARKE
353,310,000t (ZZE - =F: AR
350,327,0007T) * ] £ PR HA# R 45 8 -
IS EE BB Z AR Z R KRERT
mA e AEERPREATFREEBA
R #31,555,000t (ZZE=—=F : AR
#44,855,0007T)  EER—ZERFE
o B B R R FE R B R T o

WA BBHEEEEREERIEE
E RESEEBEERNFEBENN
BARES MR ERS & A K
SHBEEBEBM AT K -

BECEMGBRE  HINREEER
FHRBRZIMINECENBHRE -
BUKI0%NFEHF - ZBEEE _EZ
NEF—A—BREW TEAN=-Z
T+EF+ A=+ HZEBENAEF -
firi R B A AN BRI 4% B B W) AR RE [ 2
FEBBKL BT EARENTE
MBE -BAEBEME BAREAE
5% RZZE_MNERZZT-_=F+=
A=+—H8 BEAMBARTEZEZR
ERTTE R AR RET D IR EF - I
ERIEH AR RIELENIE ©

R-ZE-_WF+—_A=+—H  WER
AEEBREBRKZOME R A ENTE
MFLH R IE H &5 A R ®276,589,000
T (ZTE =4 : AR #245,184,000
To) FTEEMTBEIRERELERIE - &
NREERAE AKEBZESBRT
RER NIERAEE 2EE Atk
HB ARG N AAI R A TER R K
DIkB BT -

BEREBLEMSNE BRI ER
FI U5 % 8 T8 08 & 5t 171 3E /& R U ER
BEREEBRIHINEDERRE K
21%MEMH -ZREE = —N\&F
—HA—HBEK-

7R A ) A H B SRR A B B3 4 B S A
BHER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FEMBHERRME (F)

31 December 2024 —ZE —UF+=-H=+—H

29. SHARE CAPITAL 29. IR
2024 2023
—E-OF —T-=HF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TAT
Authorised: ETE
5,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 5,000,000,0000% & f% El &
HK$0.10 each 0.108 TH LBk 500,000 500,000
2024 2023
—E-MmE —TZ=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARETT
Issued and fully paid: EETRAR
2,094,465,417 2,094,465,4178%
(2023: 2,094,465,417) (ZZF =4 :2,094,465,417F%)
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 FEEC. 105 T
(2023: HK$0.10) each ZEZ=F:0.10%87T) K
& B A 185,672 185,672
A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as RARIBAES G REEMMT -
follows:
Number of Share
shares in issue capital
2RTRG
A [
RMB’000
ARBTT
At 1 January 2023, 31 December R-ZZE-_=%—H—H8 -
2023, 1 January 2024 and —E-_=F+-_A=+—8"
31 December 2024 —EMNE-A—BR
—E_NE+-A=+—H 2,094,465,417 185,672

IR - ARRRAFEL M8 EE L BTEMK
HZE_=F:§|) -

Note: The Company did not purchase or issue any shares in the current year
(2023: Nil).

@ Neo-Neon Holdings Limited e Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meMEERME (&)

31 December 2024 —Z - W&+ - H=+—H

30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 30. B RESTE

Share option scheme of the Company

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was
adopted pursuant to a shareholders’ written resolution passed
on 20 November 2006 for the primary purpose of providing
incentives to and recognising significant contributions from
directors and eligible employees. The Scheme became effective
on 15 December 2006 and the options issued pursuant to the
Scheme will expire no later than ten years from the date of
grant of the option. Under the Scheme, the board of directors
of the Company may grant options to eligible employees,
including directors of the Company and its subsidiaries, to
subscribe for shares in the Company. Additionally, the Company
may, from time to time, grant share options to outside third
parties for settlement in respect of goods or services to the
Company and for the purpose of rewarding their contribution
to the long-term success of the Group by providing the
opportunity to obtain ownership interest in the Group.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of
the shares of the Company in issue at the relevant time of
grant, without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders.
The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under this Scheme shall not in aggregate exceed 20%
of the shares in issue from time to time. No option may be
granted under this Scheme and any other share option scheme
of the Company if such limit is exceeded. The number of shares
issued and to be issued in respect of which options granted and
may be granted to any individual in any one year is not
permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue
at any point in time, without prior approval from the
Company’'s shareholders. Options granted to substantial
shareholders or independent non-executive directors in excess
of 0.1% of the Company’s share in issue or with an aggregate
value in excess of HK$5,000,000 must be approved in advance
by the Company’s shareholders.

RDFBRER S

ARARKBRER S ([ZA8)) hiR
BR_ZZEEAF+—AZT+HBBAN
BRREMAZRESHERN TZEW
ERERETEERAEREENE
E8E - ZAER T NF+_A
+HBABRER MABEZ 2
REREEN L ERE A RTE
Rt+FRAEM - BIEZTE A2 F
EEgRGERKES (BEARAR
HNBRARMWNES) R LERE  #E
EREARRBBMD o BLoh » KA A A
THEMIINANE=ZFRHBRE &
ZRHEREREEASEESHKS
NEBHRTARAMNEM IR - A
NS A EBRERKDEE ©

REEAR R B R R B LUK - BB ZE
AR ENEREROBETSER
EEBREHFEE ETRMAI10% © %
FTEE T2 EEARITEIL ®FT
FRBREMT FTEHTHORMEE £
B TEBAEBETREETRMOL
20% ° BBz LR - AT B IREZ
AT 8 R AN A B E fA] £ B IR A AT 81 IR
LB ARAE - REEARNRIESF LU E -
RERN—FA - BTEER TR E
FTHEMATIHOBEREME ZFTRAT
BOCROBE TEBBABREME
MORABEEHTROBE B1% -
HRYEBERREBIFHNITEEMHE
BARAEEITRMD0.1%KREBBE
5,000,000/% Jt HY i fe # - ZH £ 15 B X
NI ERAL AT A EE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —ZE —UF+=-H=+—H

30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 30. BRRRESTE @

Share option scheme of the Company (Continued)

Options may be exercised in accordance with the terms
stipulated in the Scheme. The exercise price is determined by
the directors of the Company, and will not be less than the
higher of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares on the
date of grant, (ii) the average closing price of the shares for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and
(iii) the par value of the Company’s share.

No share option was granted or exercised during the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
Company had no share options outstanding under the Scheme.

Share option scheme of a subsidiary of the
company

During the year ended 31 December 2015, American Lighting,
Inc. (“American Lighting”), an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, has adopted a share option scheme
for eligible employees of American Lighting, the Company and
Tivoli, LLC (“Tivoli”), the wholly-owned subsidiary of American
Lighting. On 30 June 2015, 2,869 share options were granted
to certain employees and directors of the Company, American
Lighting, and Tivoli. The closing price immediately before the
date on which the options were granted was US$330 per share.
Under the scheme of American Lighting, the board of directors
of the Company may grant options to eligible employees,
including directors of the Company and its subsidiaries, to
subscribe for shares in American Lighting.

On 27 April 2017, 1,401 share options were granted to certain
employees and directors of the Company. The closing price
immediately before the date on which the options were granted
was US$405 per share.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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31 December 2024 —Z - W&+ - H=+—H

30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 30. BRETE @
Share option scheme of a subsidiary of the ART —EKEB AT G ERE
company (Continued) =T & (@)
Options may be exercised in accordance with the terms B8 P& #E AT AR #& American Lighting#y 51 21
stipulated in the scheme of American Lighting. The exercise FIBEMIERTE - THEEBEARAATE
price is determined by the directors of the Company, and will EET ABTEERTIEREZR
not be less than the higher of (i) the closing price of American &% (i) American Lightingl& {3 R % &
Lighting’s shares on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing BHZWHE (VR EERLBE A
price of American Lighting 's shares for the five business days T {E & % H American Lightingf% 15 &9 F
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal HUg B » (i) American Lightingfi%
value of the American Lighting’s share. PZEE -
The following share options were outstanding under the share FRABRBARAT —RMB R ARMNER
option scheme of a subsidiary of the Company during the year: FEET 2 N RITR R BERERE N T -
2024 2023
—ESE-ME —E-=%F
Weighted Weighted
average Number average Number
exercise price of options  exercise price of options
uss$ Us$
per share per share
ok g
TEE BREHA 171E(8 EREHA
BRETR FRET

At 1 January and R—A—HAKk+=ZA=+—~H

31 December 369 2,435 369 2,435
No share option was granted or exercised under the share HE—_ZT_mWE+_A=+—BIt&F
option scheme of a subsidiary of the Company during the year EVWEREAAT —XHB AT E
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil). REtEIRESTEEMBERE(ZF

—=FE) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —ZE —UF+=-H=+—H

30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 30. BB AESTE @)
Share option scheme of a subsidiary of the AAT—BEHEBATRERKRRE
Company (Continued) =T & ()
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options REEERMATEERENTTEE
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as RITEHNMT :
follows:
2024 and 2023 —E_MER-E_=
Number of options Exercise price  Exercise period
BRERE TEE TEH
USS$ per share
BRERT
354 330 30-06-2016 to 30-06-2025
—E—RFAAZ+HHE-ZE-_RAFAA=1+H
355 330 30-06-2017 to 30-06-2025
S —+t+tFANA=ZFTHE-_ZE_RAFA=1+H
471 330 30-06-2018 to 30-06-2025
T E-NEXRAZtHEE-_RFESA=1+H
376 405  27- 04 2018 to 27-04-2027
—N\NFHAZ+tREZE-_+tFMA=-++tH
376 405  27- 04 2019 to 24-04-2027
—NFNAZ+tEtHEE-_ZE_+FMNA=-+WAH
503 405  27- 04 2020 to 27-04-2027

R CEFNMA A+ ERE_T_+FMOMA-_++HR

2,435
No share option expense recognised during the year ended 31 BHE_ZT_NWF+_A=+—HILF
December 2024 (2023: Nil). B EERBREAS (T _=F:

&) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31. RESERVES

The nature of the Group's reserves are described as below:

(a)

The application of the share premium account of the
Company is governed by the Company Law (Revised) of
the Cayman Islands. Under the constitutional documents
and Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands, the
share premium is distributable as a dividend on the
condition that the Company is able to pay its debts when
they fall due in the ordinary course of business
immediately after the proposed dividend is paid.

Capital redemption reserve comprises the amount by
which the issued share capital of the Company is
diminished through the cancellation of shares.

Special reserve comprises the differences between the
nominal amount of the shares issued by the Company and
the Group’s former holding company, Neo-Neon Holdings
(BVI) Limited (“NNH"), and the aggregate amount of
share capital and share premium of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to a corporate reorganisation in 1996
and a group reorganisation in preparation for the listing
of the Company’s shares in 2006.

Share compensation reserve comprises the difference of
fair value of certain NNH’'s shares (the “Shares”)
transferred to the Group’s certain senior management by
the Company’s shareholders and the consideration paid
by the senior management in obtaining the Shares in
2004.

Share option reserve represents the fair value of share
options granted to directors and employees of the Group
in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for
share-based payment in note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies set
out in note 2.4 to the consolidated financial statements.

GERMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —Z - W&+ - H=+—H

31. f%1E

ANEBEHEEG T XA

(a)

BARKEZERBIRAAE o ZZE-NFFH @
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BHERARDE(KIEF) &% - IRIR
MBERXMHERASEERRDA
(BERT)  RIDHEEAERKRE
DK IRERARF AR EER
FREXNERRBEEXBKBREF
AR ERER ©

EABEORERRARREET
P AN 425 38 E 35 B 00 T 4% R RO &
B

5 Bl 8 78 AN A | R AN &= B /9 Al
122 [i% X @]Neo-Neon Holdings (BVI)
Limited (NNH ) 24T & 15 A E
B EBEE-NANASFEHETHE
BEARBRARAROMRZZE
NEFEETZ2EFBTIEMET 25
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MO aEBEE MEZHEHNE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —ZE —UF+=-H=+—H

31. RESERVES (Continued) 31.

(g) Asset revaluation reserve arises from change in use from
owner-occupied properties to investment properties
carried at fair value.

(h)  Other reserve comprises: (i) the difference between the
consideration paid for acquiring additional interests in
subsidiaries of the Company and the amount of interests
acquired; and (ii) the difference between the cash received
on exercise of share options plus the amount included in
equity from the recognition of the compensation cost and
the non-controlling interest measured at the
proportionate interest in subsidiaries’ equity as measured
in the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 112 and
113 of this annual report.

32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 32.

OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Changes in liabilities arising in financing

ERRC D)

(9 BEEMfHFHHABMENE
ﬁﬁkiiﬁﬁﬁﬁ@/\ﬁﬁﬁﬂxé
MERESE -

(hy HttEwmE: OWBRAR RN
B Ean e TRERS
RSB ZRNEZE 0 &)
TEBRERIINES MM ERA
ERMEERMt A E’Jiﬁﬁ
AR IR HI B A B s 2 #E et
It E (MRARAEEZE E'JW‘
WRAETE) IR ED W
EZHEWERE -

KEIF$¢ﬁ&ﬂ&¢Fm%ﬁ&
....... SBHCHEAEAFREIIZENZIEMNLE
AEREEREY -

RERTRERME

() MEEFBHELENREED

activities

Lease
liabilities
HEER
RMB’'000
ARETF T
As at 1 January 2023 RZEZ=F—HF—H 49,745
Changes from financing cash flows MERERELE (10,695)
New lease eI HE 3,202
Interest expenses B X 1,401
Interest paid ENFIE (1,401)
Foreign exchange movements SN £ 776

As at 31 December 2023 and RZZBZ=F+ZHA=+—HK
1 January 2024 —E-_MmMFE—-—H—H 43,028
Changes from financing cash flows MEREREEY (10,530)
Interest expenses AERX 1,185
Interest paid EAFE (1,185)
Foreign exchange movements 4N EEE 572
As at 31 December 2024 R-ZE-WmFE+Z-A=+—H 33,070
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement
of cash flows is as follows:

FEMBEHERME (&)

31 December 2024 —Z - W&+ - H=+—H

32. MEBRERERMHZT @

(b) HERERHAE
ARG RERNEERS AN

LEEMT
2024 2023
—E_NF —E-=4%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARETTT

Within operating activities LB EEN 1,185 1,401
Within financing activities mEEEA 10,530 10,695
Total B 11,715 12,096

33. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group did not have
material capital commitments.

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) The Group had the following transactions
with related parties during the year:

33. EAKIE
R—ZZBE-_mMER-_ZE-_=%+=H4
=t+—H XEBTEFREKRER
HIE o

3. BEE AR B

() FAR AEEEBBLE

TUTRS :
2024 2023
—E-mE =R ==
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

g3 AR®TR ARBTT

Interest income from a fellow X8 —RREAZWB AT

subsidiary MEHA
Interest income from the REREERATZ

ultimate holding company FEHA

117 =

22 14,003 10,139
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —Z-WE+=-H=+—H

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

On 25 November 2021, the Company and China Nuclear
Finance Company Limited (“Finance Company”) entered
into a deposit service agreement (the “Deposit Service
Agreement 1”), pursuant to which the Finance Company
shall provide deposit services to the Group during the
term of the Deposit Service Agreement 1 commencing
from 17 January 2022 to 31 December 2024 with the
maximum daily deposit balance of RMB500,000,000 of
the deposits placed with the Finance Company by the
Group. The Deposit Service Agreement 1 was approved by
the independent shareholders at the extraordinary general
meeting held on 17 January 2022. The Finance Company
is a related party of the Company.

On 9 December 2024, the Company and the Finance
Company entered into the deposit service agreement (the
“Deposit Service Agreement 2”), pursuant to which the
Finance Company shall provide the deposit service to the
qualified group members during the term of the Deposit
Service Agreement 2 commencing from the 1 January
2025 to 31 December 2027 with the maximum daily
deposit balance of RMB37,000,000 of the deposits placed
with the Finance Company by the Group.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has placed a total of
RMB36,999,000 (2023: Nil) with the Finance Company at
interest rates ranged from 1.12% to 1.49% per annum
pursuant to the terms of the Deposit Service Agreement 1.
The related interest income recognised in profit or loss
during the year was not significant to the Group.

The above related party transaction also constitutes a
continuing connected transaction as defined in Chapter
14A of the Listing rules.

On 3 January 2023, the Company and Guangdong
Tongfang Science Park Company Limited* (/&3 & 75 BHx

E AR 2 Al) (as lenders) and Tongfang Co., Ltd.* (& 5 i%
B BR A7) (“Tongfang”) entered into a loan agreement

(the “Loan Agreement”), pursuant to which the lender(s)
will provide revolving loans of not exceeding
RMB400,000,000 to Tongfang during the term of the
Loan Agreement commencing from 13 March 2023 to 12
March 2026 further details of which are set out in note
22 to the financial statements.

The above related party transaction also constitutes a
continuing connected transaction as defined in Chapter
14A of the Listing rules.

Compensation of key management
personnel of the Group

The Company’s directors represented the Group’s key
management personnel and their emoluments are
included in note 8 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meMEERME (&)

31 December 2024 —Z - W&+ - H=+—H

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 35. RERSENERMTIA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RBERR SESR T ENER@EE
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: mr
2024 —EZMF
Financial assets SEEE
Financial
Financial assets at
assets amortised
at FVTPL cost Total
BN REE R 8 B AR
FFABERN STEKN
SREE cRMEE #at
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBT ARBT R

Trade and bills receivables EUWE 5 R K&
JE W R iR - 106,915 106,915
Loan receivable JE W & =K - 111,743 111,743
Financial assets included in other &+ A E 4th JiE Ug 718 &z H
receivables and other assets tmEENSREE - 7,630 7,630
Financial assets at FVTPL RARBETAERD
TRUBE 147,163 - 147,163
Loan to the ultimate holding ERTHREZERADF
company - 400,406 400,406
Restricted cash ZRGIR - 1,319 1,319
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY - 607,214 607,214
Total 48 % 147,163 1,235,227 1,382,390
Financial liabilities SREE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
R R A
STEM
SEEE
RMB’000
ARE TR
Trade payables FERTE 5 5/I8 77,239
Financial liabilities included in FSTAEMENREGRENCRAE
other payables and accruals 89,938
Lease liabilities HEAE 33,070
Total FERE 200,247

BARKEZERBIRAAE o ZZE-NFFH @



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —ZE —UF+=-H=+—H

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 35. RER S ENERMTI A @
(Continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RWERR SR TENERE
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: W (8)

(Continued)

2023 —E =
Financial assets SRMEE
Financial
Financial assets
assets amortised
at FVTPL at cost Total
BEAREE birg: F i DN
FFAERD FrER
TREE SRIEE Bt
RMB’000 RMB"000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETRT ARETR

Trade and bills receivables EUE 5 R K&
JE W R - 109,146 109,146
Loan receivable JE W B 3R = 127,506 127,506
Financial assets included in other &+ A E th fE U k78 7 H
receivables and other assets HEEMNESREE = 11,251 11,251
Financial assets at FVTPL BERAARBETABZED
TRIBE 152,989 - 152,989
Loan to the ultimate holding BERTHREERRAR
company - 395,403 395,403
Cash and cash equivalents HeREEEY = 498,097 498,097
Total 4a =8 152,989 1,141,403 1,294,392
Financial liabilities TRIAE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
1% 8 G5 PR AR
FFEM
TRAE
RMB'000
ARETT
Trade payables FERTE 5 508 62,990
Financial liabilities included in FTAEMENREGRENSRAE
other payables and accruals 83,785
Lease liabilities HEEE 43,028
Total e 189,803
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meMEERME (&)

31 December 2024 —_E—_ &+ _-A=+—H

36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 36. TR TEMNAREBEERAR

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

BEREK

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial AEBeRTEA(GREEEAREBEES
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that EHEEERINNERERALEBEN
reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows: T
Carrying amounts Fair values
REE AREE
2024 2023 2024 2023
—EoNE —T-o=F ZE_NME —ZT—-=
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTR AR®TT AR¥BTR ARETET
Financial assets TREE
Financial assets at FVTPL RO BEA
BENeRmEE 147,163 152,989 147,163 152,989

Management has assessed that the fair values of restricted
cash, cash and cash equivalents, loan to the ultimate holding
company, trade and bills receivables, loan receivable, trade
payables, financial assets included in prepayments, other
receivables and other assets and financial liabilities included in
trade payables, other payables and accruals approximate to
their carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities
of these instruments.

The Group’s management is responsible for determining the
policies and procedures for the fair value measurement of
financial instruments. Management reports directly to the
executive directors and the audit committee. At each reporting
date, the finance department of each segment analyses the
movements in the values of financial instruments and
determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The
valuation is reviewed and approved by the management. The
valuation process and results are discussed with the audit
committee twice a year for interim and annual financial
reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a
forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and
assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

EEEEFHXRFRS RE KB
TEFEY ERTHRRERAF K
WESERMERER BRER -
ENEZHIE FFARMK  HME
WHEREMEENEREE 5TA
FEfE 5 308 - HAth & {5 3R MBSt
RENEREBENAABEEERE
ENRE TEHRZFTAREHRA
25

AEENEEEARMEERIAR
RAEBEAENBRELREF - -BEEEER
BERAATEZRERZEGER -
EHREEH ZoHBMBHEMAINME
BTEAEENEHER YETEMHE
ANTIEGARE - HEREEE
BERYHE -HERFLAEROAER
ZESEFETMANR KIETH
N E TR

SHMAERBENHD A EENARR
577 (I FA BRI EE BN E AR
SERTANTX S S BAR - it
AR BEHRANT AR ER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBBRRKE (E)
31 December 2024 —Z-WE+=-H=+—H

36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted
market prices. The fair values of unlisted investments, which
were classified as financial assets at FVTPL, have been estimated
using a market-based valuation technique based on
assumptions that are not supported by observable market prices
or rates. The valuation requires the directors to determine
comparable public companies (peers) based on industry, size,
leverage and strategy, and to calculate an appropriate price
multiple, such as enterprise value to earnings before interest,
taxes, depreciation and amortisation (“EBITDA") multiple, for
each comparable company identified. The multiple is calculated
by dividing the enterprise value of the comparable company by
an earnings measure. The trading multiple is then discounted
for considerations such as illiquidity and size differences
between the comparable companies based on company-specific
facts and circumstances. The discounted multiple is applied to
the corresponding earnings measure of the unlisted equity
investments to measure the fair value. The directors of the
Company believe that the estimated fair values resulting from
the valuation technique, which are recorded in the consolidated
statement of financial position, and the related changes in fair
values, which are recorded in consolidated statement of profit
or loss, are reasonable, and that they were the most appropriate
values at the end of the reporting period.

For the rest of the financial assets at FVTPL, their fair values are
derived from the net asset value per share of the investments.
The directors of the Company believe that the estimated fair
values which are recorded in the consolidated statement of
financial position with net changes in fair value recognised in
the statement of profit or loss for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023 are reasonable, and that they were the most
appropriate values at the end of the reporting period.

The fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities
carried at amortised cost approximate to their carrying
amounts.
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36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Set out below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs
to the valuation of financial instruments together with a
guantitative sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2024 and

FEMBEHERME (&)

1 December 2024 —ZE - MFE+=-H=+—H

36. TR TENAREBEERLR

BEEEH @

UTER-_E_NFER_ZE_=ZF
+ZA=+t—H¥emIAHBECZE
ANABRG ABERZEREER

2023: RRE DT
Valuation Significant
technique unobservable input Input applied Sensitivity of fair value to the input
EXTAHE AREEHEA
B i WARE FFREAgE BECHEE
Unlisted investments Valuation multiple  EV/EBITDA multiple  2024: 15.7 5.0% (2023: 4.9%) increase/decrease in the
of peers (2023: 13.3) multiple would result in increase/decrease
in fair value by RMB8,732,000
(2023: RMB6,689,000)
FLETRE HERE FIEEV/EBITDAEH Z—ZTZW&:157 EEEN,/ B 5.0% (ZF==F : 49%)
(ZE=-=%:133) KRR EELM B ARES 732,000
T(ZEZ=F : AR¥6,689,0007T)
Fair value hierarchy AREEER
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement TRFIAREBE M TEN AR EE
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: =E
Assets measured at fair value: BRAAREBEFENEE
As at 31 December 2024 R-E-_MmME+=-_H=+—H
Fair value measurement using
AREEFEER
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
BEX BEX
TR AHE FABE
miEHRE BAE wASE
(B—4) (=) (B=8) #et
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T ARBT T ARBT T
Financial assets at FVTPL QAR EBEAERZH
TREE 9,763 - 137,400 147,163
RAAFRRIZERERAE o —ZT_WFFIH



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —ZE —UF+=-H=+—H

36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Assets measured at fair value: (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023

36. SR TENAABERAR
BEER
PREEEH @
BARLBETENEE
R-B-=#+=-A=+—H

Fair value measurement using

R A BEHEER
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
BX BX
Tpis AE= TAIER
BEE AR B ABE
(EF—%) (E=#%) (B=%) it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFIT ARBEFIT ARBTIT ARBTIT
Financial assets BAREETAERN
at FVTPL TREE 13,944 - 139,045 152,989

The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3

FAEF=ZRANIABEFELH W

during the year are as follows: T
2024 2023
ZEZNF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB TR ARBTTT
Financial assets at FVTPL — unlisted: BEAREBEFABENSHEE -
LT :
At 1 January EQ—H —H 139,045 134,436
Total gains/(losses) recognised in the REEm R AEMEA - K
statement of profit or loss included in Eﬂﬁﬁ*ﬁ BB R S /(E@ﬂﬁ)
other income, gains and losses, net 4= (1,645) 4,609
At 31 December Rt+t=-—A=+—H 137,400 139,045

@ Neo-Neon Holdings Limited e Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meMEERME (&)

31 December 2024 —Z - W&+ - H=+—H

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 37. 2B EEEEHENE

AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise loan
receivable, loan to the ultimate holding company, restricted
cash and cash and cash equivalents. The main purpose of these
financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s
operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as financial assets at FVTPL, trade and bills
receivables, other receivables, and trade payables and other
payables.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity
risk, equity price risk and market risk. The board of directors
reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks
and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s cash and bank balances
and debt obligations with a floating interest rate. Other
financial assets and liabilities of the Group do not have material
interest rate risk. Floating-rate interest income and expenses are
credited or charged to the statement of profit or loss as
incurred.

AEENFESHITARFERKEN
ERXRTHREZEBRAF  XRHFE A
kR LBELEEY ZFEMITA
MIZAZREERENRLAEER
EEB -AEEEZRAMEREE
MEBE WERAABEFABRENE
REE BUESZEFIREBERERE
H s UK IR DA R B B 5 50R ) H
i F& A SRR -

AEENSRIAMEENTIEZRR
BRXRER  SNERR  EERR R
BETRER BRERRETSRER -
EE2 A AWM NHE S U FERA
EERR BERARBALT

FEES

AEBAZOTSENEZEHRARER
EAREEIZZHNEABNRES LR
THRHEAREBEETEB AEEH
MEREERBBEERNMEER -
BEBMEAENNERIRNELR
FFARBRERME -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —ZE —UF+=-H=+—H

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (through the impact
on cash and cash equivalents) and Group’s equity.

37. @B EE B ZEBUR @)

TRMUBEFRGLMERRE TR
BRT  AREBRBARAERYR
SRBSSEMERNLE) HHEH
ARARLBBOREE -

Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in profit (decrease)
basis points before tax in equity*
HE RR B4 A1 0% fig REE A0,
#winCR2)  Ei O O ) *
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARB T ARET R
31 December 2024 —E-mFE+=-A=+—H
RMB AR 100 4,502 -
RMB AR (100) (4,502) -
us$ ETT 100 4,969 -
us$ ETT (100) (4,969) -
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in profit (decrease)
basis points before tax in equity*
AR B B B 7 A& #E 3% hn
#hn O A) & Om ) ORd)*
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTT
31 December 2023 —E=F+ZA=+—H
RMB AR 100 4,300 -
RMB AR (100) (4,300) =
us$ ETT 100 3,967 =
us$ ET (100) (3,967) —
* Excluding accumulated losses * TEEBEHERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meMEERME (&)

31 December 2024 —Z - W&+ - H=+—H

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 37. ¢ RiE M ETEBEHKE @

AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from sales or purchases by operating units in
currencies other than the units’ functional currencies.
Approximately 8% (2023: 10%) of the Group’s sales were
denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies
of the operating units making the sale, while approximately
88% (2023: 90%) of cost were denominated in the units’
functional currencies. It is the Group’s policy not to enter into
forward contracts until a firm commitment is in place.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in RMB
exchange rates against US$ and HK$, with all other variables
held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (due to changes
in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities).

S8 L B

REFBARZRGEEERR - Z5 R
mxamgﬁuuﬁmﬁgmu%m
;M EITEE - $EI%E$ﬁMH*
T =4F :10%) AL EETIHE
2B EE NN EEEE - MK AR
#)88% (ZE - =F : 90% ) A E LA
e EBFE AEENBEERE
PBITAER I RBE4 -

TRHAPREEIRENE H & &4
BAEMBRT  4N5%E B 5a
(HREBEERBGBERAAEEZS)
HARMEETRBITERESIER B
BEHNBRE -

Increase/
Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in in profit
exchange rate before tax
fE = RR B B R
i ORad) i CRA)

% RMB’000
AR¥ T

31 December 2024 —E-_mMF+=-A=+—8H
If RMB weakens against US$ MAREHEETRE 5 21,141
If RMB strengthens against US$ MAR¥EHETHE (5) (21,141)
If RMB weakens against HK$ MAREEBTRE 5 8,503
If RMB strengthens against HK$ i AR S B THE (5) (8,503)
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in in profit
exchange rate before tax
i =& B %4 B & 7
= CRA) & O )
% RMB’000
AR T T

31 December 2023 —E-=%#+=-A=+—8
If RMB weakens against US$ AR S ETRE 5 17,374
If RMB strengthens against US$ M AREHETHE (5) (17,374)
If RMB weakens against HK$ AR S B TRE 5 9,650
If RMB strengthens against HK$ M ARELBTHE (5) (9,650)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —ZE —UF+=-H=+—H

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to
trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are closely
monitored on an ongoing basis to minimise the Group’s
exposure to bad debts.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and
year-end staging classification as at 31 December. The amounts
presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

As at 31 December 2024

37. cRiEREEBZEEHBE @

FERR

AEBEERAREERBEZE =7
ETEBE AKREZHRRAERER
NEEHETEREZEFR  ARXE
EBRERF - UIN B FRIAERE
BXEE UREBRIAEEATZ
AR

REEBRRFERDEEDH

TERBASRENEERR (EEKE
BHMER BRIFFTEHEABARARK
BHEANESNEMBER) IIRR+=
A=t BMEELEXEREREEA
B AOAEFRDOEERDE - 258
FREMEENREARE -

R-ZE-_WFE+=-A=+-—H

12-month
ECLs
1A RH Lifetime ECLs
BEFSE 2HRNEERFR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
EEE FIRE E3RE ik @3
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR%®TR AR%Tr AR¥Tn AR%T:n
Trade and bills receivables* BB SRR ENEE 98 - - 111,570 111,668
Financial assets included in prepayments, 3 AFETF ~ it U FIE R
other receivables and other assets HtEENSRER
- Normal** = e 7,806 - - - 7,806
- Doubtful** —REEx - - 74,300 - 74,300
Cash and cash equivalents and ReRkReEENR
restricted cash RREIEE
— Not yet past due Sk 608,533 - - - 608,533
Loan to the ultimate holding company ~ X ¥ &AEKA A
- Not yet past due ~ KB 400,406 - - - 400,406
Loan receivable - Doubtful** JERE R - REE**
~ More than 3 months past due —@H=EANE - - 147,339 - 147,339
Total e% 1,016,843 - 221,639 111,570 1,350,052
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

REMBHRRME (E)
31 December 2024 —Z - W&+ - H=+—H

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 37. ¢ AR EE B EHEE @

AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging
(Continued)

As at 31 December 2023

FERRE @)
REEBERFRTERSHE (#)

R-B_=F+t-_H=+—~8

12-month
ECLs
1EARH Lifetime ECLs
REBE 2 HEHEERR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F1ER FEE F3ER of 97 @
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR
Trade and bills receivables* EWESESRERZ R 408 = - 112,435 112,843
Financial assets included in prepayments, st AT EtEKFER
other receivables and other assets EmBENCREE
- Normal** =IEE0 11,160 = - = 11,160
- Doubtful** —RE* = - 73,265 - 73,265
Cash and cash equivalents ReRELEEY
~ Not yet past due Sk 498,097 - - = 498,097
Loan to the ultimate holding company ~ EX FRAHBE AR
~ Not yet past due Sk 400,405 = - = 400,405
Loan receivable - Doubtful** JEWER—REE**
~ More than 3 months past due —BBR=EANE - - 162,340 - 162,340
Total Bz 910,070 - 235,605 112,435 1,258,110
* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified * MAEEEBAELLREENEKE SE

approach for impairment, information based on the provision matrix
is disclosed in note 19 to the financial statements.

b The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets is considered as “normal” when
they are not past due and there is no information indicating that the
financial assets have significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is
considered as “doubtful”.

Wi E - RIEBEERE G E R
IS RR MR 194 R -

> FTABEMR EtEKHAREMEE
MeREENERERERASHAY
BEANBTEREENEERRA ML
ERARKEZENBERAS[ES] - B
AlemEENEEERRARIRE] -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —ZE —UF+=-H=+—H

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of long
term bank loans and projected cash flows from operations.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the contractual

undiscounted payments, is as follows:

31 December 2024

37. cRiEREEBZEEHBE @

REBE S E R
AEEMERREBEARRRITH

AEBEREAREREETESNE
BUHEBEREZENFE -

REGHRBRAMT  AEERKE
HIRzERMBBENERGOT

—E-_NE+=ZHA=+—H

Within 1 year
or on demand 1 to 5 years Total

1FAH
RER 1ZE5%F et
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBT ARBT R ARBT R

Trade payables BB 558 77,239 = 77,239
Other payables and accruals H M E AT R FEET IR 98,771 - 98,771
Lease liabilities HERE 12,041 23,184 35,225
Total @’ 188,051 23,184 211,235

31 December 2023

—E-_=f+-A=+—H

Within 1 year
or on demand 1 to 5 years Total

1A
mENR 1855 #Et
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT ARETTT

Trade payables BB 5508 62,990 = 62,990
Other payables and accruals E b FE S & FE FT FRIE 89,371 = 89,371
Lease liabilities HEBE 11,626 34,702 46,328
Total FERE 163,987 34,702 198,689
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meMEERME (&)

31 December 2024 —Z - W&+ - H=+—H

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 37. ¢ RiE M ETEBEHKE @

AND POLICIES (continued)

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity
indices and the value of individual securities. The Group is
exposed to equity price risk arising from individual equity
investments included in financial assets at FVTPL (note 23) as at
31 December 2024. The Group’s listed investments are listed on
the Stock Exchanges and are valued at quoted market prices at
the end of the reporting period.

The market equity index for the following stock exchange, at
the close of business of the nearest trading day in the year to
the end of the reporting period, and its respective highest and
lowest points during the year were as follows:

31 December
2024
—E-NE

High/low

—E-mEF

IR 18 2 B

P (B [ B 45 B 7S 4 8K S K (8 Bl 78 55
BEEZEIMERNREAESFQIAE
BETHNER R_T_HF+A
=+— 8 AKE®ERKHE5 AR
ARBEFABRGENEREE  #R
KRE (M5E23) s B RERR - A&
B EMRERB R LM YRR
SHIRZAEMEE -

FAEREPRKOHRIHBELXE
[ 48 R B T 51 3 75 52 5 P 69 T 45 B4R
REEBNRFEFANRSHLKERAT

31 December High/low
2024 2023 2023
—E-=F T =

+tZA=Z+-B EBEE/BEX T-A=+-HB Sk /REH

Hong Kong - BE—
Hang Seng Index

BERY 20,060  23,100/14,961 17,047

22,689/16,201
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMBHRRME (F)

31 December 2024 —ZE —UF+=-H=+—H

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Equity price risk (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 10%
change in the fair values of the equity investments, with all
other variables held constant and before any impact on tax,
based on their carrying amounts at the end of the reporting
period, of the Group's profit before tax and equity.

37.

tREBEEREEEE @

PR 18 & Bz (@)

TRITHEGERELAEBEEEED
10% (ERHEMARMKREE) - MAT
EREMEBEERTIE BT RYH
BRI ER - NEBERB A S M &
HOPFRE -

Carrying Increase/
amount (decrease) Increase/
of equity in profit (decrease)
investments before tax in equity*
BHIRE R B A 2 R B RESE 0,
BREME EMnCGRD) OR ) *
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBT AR¥ T

31 December 2024 —E-OF+=A=+—H
Investments listed in: R T2 E 2 &
Hong Kong - Financial EE-—HRRAREBETA
assets at FVTPL BERfEemEE 9,763 976/(976) -~
Carrying Increase/
amount (decrease) Increase/
of equity in profit (decrease)
investments before tax in equity*
ERRE R B0 B & 3% hn,~
BREE  EnSCRD) CRL ) *
RMB"000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREFIT AREF T ARET T
31 December 2023 =1 F
Investments listed in: RTAE Em2&E
Hong Kong - Financial BEE-RARBEA
assets at FVTPL BaErEmEE 13,944  1,394/(1,394) =

*  Excluding accumulated losses
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustment
to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payments to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or
issue new shares. The Group is not subject to any externally
imposed capital requirements. No changes were made to the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is total
debt divided by total equity. Total debt represents lease
liabilities. The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting
periods were as follows:

FEMBEHERME (&)

31 December 2024 —Z - W&+ - H=+—H

37. ¢ RiEREEBEEHBE @

EXEHE

AEBEAERZTEBNRBERA
SEERELE ARFBREALE
UXHEER TERERRRAER
=EE-

AEBEBREEARNLER  TRELSER
NECREBREENRRSBIELH
B BRFBAAREALRE  A5ET
REABRMBRRIRMNZKE - RBRKRE
B RBITHBGD - NEB HBEST
EAIABNERBRE - BHE_ZT -
FRZE_=F+-_A=+—HIEHF
B EAEEMNBEEZE BEEKERFH
IR o

AEEEAEERBLE (DEKQE
BB E) B A - B ISME I
AEAR REHRNEER KX
mF :

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

—E-NE —E =4

+=—BA=+—-HB +=—A=+—8H

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARE TR ARET T

Total debt BISR%E 33,070 43,028
Total equity MR 1,616,397 1,562,650
Gearing ratio BEBEHE 2.0% 2.8%

BARKEZERBIRAAE o ZZE-NFFH @



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ReMEERME (R)

31 December 2024 —ZE—_ &+ _-A=+—H

38. STATEMENT OF THE FINANCIAL POSITION 38. A 7 B #E AR R &R

OF THE COMPANY

2024 2023
—E-WEF —E=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EMEBEE
Property, plant and equipment M- BERERE - 2
Investments in subsidiaries R B RARNIRE 1,293,978 1,266,521
Total non-current assets ERBEELE 1,293,978 1,266,523
CURRENT ASSETS MBEE
Prepayments, other receivables TERT SR - B B URIE &
and other assets Hn& = 134 4,951
Restricted cash R H13R & 1,319 =
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY 200,932 191,238
Total current assets MEEEEE 202,385 196,189
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEBE
Other payables and accruals E b FE S K BT FE 2,812 2,612
NET CURRENT ASSETS MBEEFE 199,573 193,577
NET ASSETS BEFE 1,493,551 1,460,100
EQUITY Ewm
Issued capital BEITRA 185,672 185,672
Reserves (note) e (B aE) 1,307,879 1,274,428
Total equity % HARE 1,493,551 1,460,100
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

38. STATEMENT OF THE FINANCIAL POSITION

39.

OF THE COMPANY (continued)

REMBHRRME (E)
31 December 2024 —Z - W&+ - H=+—H

38. A& T B AR R = (@)

Note: BT -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AAGREHRENT :
Capital Share Exchange
Share  redemption Special compensation  fluctuation Other  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total
RHEE EARERE KHURE ROBERE EXRDRE Rt ZiER @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARETR  ARETr  AR®Tr ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
At 1 January 2023 RZEZ=%-f-H 2,415,132 2,146 55,238 50,024 (343,623) (8,220) (883,908) 1,286,789
Total comprehensive income A2 EMALE
for the year - - - - 20431 - 336 20,767
Waiver of amounts due ~ #EEMEERTTE
from group companies - - - - - - (33,128) (33,129)
At31 December 2023and  RZFZ=F+=F=1-R
at 1 January 2024 k=E-mE-A-H 2,415,132 2,146 55,238 50,024 (323,192) (8,220) (916,700) 1,274,428
Total comprehensive income £R2ERALE
for the year - - - - 31,950 - 1,501 33,451
At 31 December 2024 RZZZRE
tZA=1-H 2,415,132 2,146 55,238 50,024 (291,242) (8,220) (915,199) 1,307,879

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 26 March 2025.

39. #LEMBHRR

PHBRERECHESERE-_AF=
A=+ 7N B #b A BT -

BAERREZERERAT o« —T-MFEFHK @



SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES
FENFE-BER

PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

31 December 2024

e =3
REWE

—E-NF+-_A=+—H

Location Use Tenure Attributable
interest of
the Group

b B Jaf S i A EME

A5 R 2
Units A93b, B20h, B37, B113b, D38, E1233, Commercial Medium term lease 100%
E125 and E127 on Basement 1,
Zhenijia Plaza, No.228 Tianhe Road,
Tianhe District, Guangzhou City,
Guangdong Province, The PRC
REERAE [HE 3 HHHEE
F& N T R [
RO & 2285 IF EE S
B1/2A93b * B20h  B37 * B113b *
D38 * E123a * E125%E127
Unit 2301-2311, The Regal Tower, Commerecial Long term lease 100%
Business Bay, Dubai EES REIHEE
10 factory buildings situated at Industrial Long term lease 100%
Gia Le Huyen, Dong Hung,
Tinh Thai Binh Province, Vietnam
i A Gia Le Huyen, Dong Hung, T% RHAHE
Tinh Thai Binh Province, Vietnam
ol
An industrial complex located at Industrial Long term lease 100%
Gonghe Town, Heshan City,
Guangdong Province, The PRC
URPBEERE T REHEE
Bl T AR
WIXGEERE
2 factory buildings situated at Industrial Long term lease 100%
No.2 Gongying 2nd
Heshan City, Guang dong Province, The PRC
7 PA R B 3R & B8 L T 2R AN R I RHAMHE
HBOR2IFHMEREET
1st to 4th Floor, No. 301 Xianghe Road, Industrial Long term lease 100%
Gonghe Town, Heshan City,
Guangdong Province, The PRC
B B 5 A S LU T AR AN SR AN R 3015k B9 I% RHHEE 100%
—ZNE
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
TFMBEHE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and AT AEERBERBMKERE 2 25
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, IAREE - BERIFZERESTE - L%
as extracted from the published audited financial statement and B TIEKEXMEREK WO IEEH IS
restated/reclassified as appropriate, is set out below.

5,/ EHHE (WER) o

Year ended 31 December
BET-A=t-BLEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
“E-ME —T-=F T 2% ZTZTF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARB®TT ARETT AR®TT AR®ETR

RESULTS B
CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEREER
REVENUE WA 746,140 786,110 927,506 863,857 843,495
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX FROM BERLERORT G

CONTINUING OPERATIONS H,/(&58) 48,072 41,380 100,663 (34,872) (45,586)
Income tax (expense)/credit g (X)), B (10,154) (13,705) (14,882) (15,579) 41,553
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FROM B ELEEBNENEF/

CONTINUING OPERATIONS (B8) 37,918 27,675 85,781 (50,451) (4,033)
DISCONTINUED OPERATION CRIEREER
Loss for the year from a ERIEEEEBRENE

discontinued operation b=l - - (35,899) (220,779) (23,405)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FREF(FE) 37,918 27,675 49,882 (271,230) (27,438)

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING EE BERIFERESR

INTERESTS
As at 31 December
W+=A=+-H

“E-_ME —FE-=F =-—FE--%F =—T--% =—T-TE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETRT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
TOTAL ASSETS BELE 1,887,801 1,816,881 1,728,845 1,653,266 2,239,265
TOTAL LIABILITIES AEASE (271,404)  (254,231) (246,713) (276,770) (577,988)
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS FERER (10,550) (9,677) (8,711) (6,198) (5,359)
Total @t 1,605,847 1,552,973 1,473,421 1,370,298 1,655,918
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DEFINITIONS

In this report, the following expressions shall have the following
meanings unless the context requires otherwise:

“2016 Share
Option Scheme”

"AGM”

“American Lighting”

“Articles of Association”
or "Articles”

"associate(s)"”

“Board”

“Business Day"” or

“business day”

“BVI”

“China” or “PRC"

“Companies
Ordinance”

the share option scheme on 13 May 2016
adopted by the Shareholders at the
Shareholders’ meeting

the annual general meeting of the Company
to be convened and held at Unit 3405, 34/F.,
118 Connaught Road West, Hong Kong on
20 June 2025, or where the context so
admits, any adjournment thereof

means American Lighting, Inc., a Delaware
corporation and an indirectly non-wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company

the articles of association of the Company
adopted by the special resolution of the
Shareholders on 23 June 2022 and as
amended, supplemented and otherwise
modified from time to time

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the
Listing Rules

the board of directors of the Company

a day on which banks in Hong Kong and
Cayman Islands are generally open for
business to the public and which is not a
Saturday, Sunday or public holiday in Hong
Kong or Cayman Islands

British Virgin Islands

the People’s Republic of China, excluding for
the purpose of this report, Hong Kong,
Macau and Taiwan

the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from
time to time

@ Neo-Neon Holdings Limited e Annual Report 2024
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“Companies (WUMP)
Ordinance”

“Company”

“connected person(s)”

“controlling
shareholders”

“Corporate

Governance Code”

“Director(s)”
“Group”

“HK$"” and “HK cents”

“Hong Kong”

“Independent Third
Party(ies)”

“Listing Rules”

“Model Code”

Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous
Provisions) Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the Laws
of Hong Kong), as amended, supplemented, or
otherwise modified from time to time

means Neo-Neon Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1868), a company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands with limited liability and the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, and part of shares of
which are listed on the Taiwan Stock
Exchange as depositary receipts

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the
Listing Rules

has the meaning ascribed thereto in the
Listing Rules

code on corporate governance practices
contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules

the director(s) of the Company
the Company and its subsidiaries

Hong Kong dollars and cents respectively, the
lawful currency of Hong Kong

The Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the PRC

individual(s) or company(ies) who is/are not
connected with (within the meaning of the
Listing Rules) any of the Company, Directors,
chief executive or substantial shareholders of
the Company, our subsidiaries or any of their
respective associates

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

the model code for securities transactions by
directors of listed issuers as set out in
Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules
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DEFINITIONS (CONTINUED)
Bx (&)

“RMB"

"SEQ"

“Share(s)”

“Share Award Scheme”

“Shareholder(s)”

“Stock Exchange”

“subsidiary(ies)”

“Subsidiary Share
Incentive Plan”

“substantial
shareholder(s)”

"Resuccess”

“Tongfang”

“Tongfang Group”

oA

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended and supplemented from time to
time

means share(s) of HK$0.1 each in the share
capital of the Company

means the share award scheme of the
Company adopted by the Board on 13 April
2018

the shareholder(s) of the Company

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

has the meaning ascribed to it in sections 15
of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622
of the Laws of Hong Kong)

means American Lighting’s share incentive plan
adopted by the Shareholders on 2 April 2015

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the
Listing Rules

Resuccess Investments Limited, a substantial
shareholder of the Company

B 7 B 5 & R A 7l(Tongfang Co., Ltd*), a
joint stock limited company incorporated in
the PRC, whose shares are listed and traded
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
600100)

Tongfang and its subsidiaries (for the
purpose of this report, excluding the Group)

per cent.
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